Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC
Form PRER14A
June 25, 2002

SCHEDULE 14A
INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT
SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14 (a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant [X]

Filed by a Party other than the
Registrant [_]

(1]

Definitive Proxy Statement

Check the appropriate box:

Payment of Filing Fee

(1]

[X1]

Preliminary Proxy Statement

Definitive Proxy Statement

Definitive Additional Materials

Soliciting Material Pursuant to
(S)240.14a-12

[_] Confidential, for Use of the
Commission Only (as permitted by
Rule 14a-6(e) (2))

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.
(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement if other than Registrant)

No fee required

(Check the appropriate box):

Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i) (1) and 0-11.

(1)

Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies: Common

Shares of Glyko Biomedical Ltd.

Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies: 34,352,823

Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed

pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11

(set forth the amount on which the

filing fee 1is calculated and state how it was determined):

34,352,823 -— No. of Glyko common shares

multiplied by,

U.S5.$2.76 -— Average of the high and low prices
reported on the Toronto Stock Exchange
for Glyko common shares (Cdn.$4.40) on

April 8,

2002, adjusted to a U.S.

dollar equivalent (exchange rate 0.6273)

U.S5.$94,813,791



Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction: $94,813,791
(5) Total fee paid: $18,963
[X] Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

[_] Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule
0-11(a) (2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid
previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number,
or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.

(1) Amount Previously Paid:
(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3) Filing Party:

(4) Date Filed:

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.
371 Bel Marin Keys Boulevard, Suite 210
Novato, California 94949

, 2002
Dear BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the annual meeting of the stockholders
of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. ("BioMarin") to be held on , 2002 at
10:00 a.m. (California time), at BioMarin's Galli Drive facility located at 46
Galli Drive, Novato, California 94949.

The purpose of the annual meeting is to consider and vote upon proposals to:
(i) elect six directors of BioMarin; (ii) approve a transaction between
BioMarin and Glyko Biomedical Ltd. ("Glyko") by way of a Plan of Arrangement
under the Canada Business Corporations Act; and (iii) transact such other
business as properly may be brought before the BioMarin annual meeting or any
adjournment or postponement thereof. If the transaction involving Glyko is
completed, each Glyko common share will be exchanged for 0.3309 of a share of
BioMarin common stock and Glyko will become an indirect, wholly-owned
subsidiary of BioMarin. Up to 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock will
be issued to Glyko shareholders in connection with the transaction. Upon
completion of the transaction, the Glyko shareholders will own approximately
[21.3%] of the outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock based on the number
of issued and outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock as of ,
2002. Following completion of the transaction, BioMarin intends to exchange the
11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko for shares of Series
A Preferred Stock of BioMarin and to cancel such 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin
common stock. After careful consideration, BioMarin's board of directors has
approved the transaction.

The attached document serves as a (1) BioMarin proxy statement and (2) Glyko
management proxy circular. It provides detailed information concerning
BioMarin, Glyko, the proposals to be considered and voted upon at the annual
meeting and the transaction. Please give all of the information contained in
the attached document your careful attention. In particular, you should
carefully consider the discussion in the section entitled "Risk Factors" of the
attached document.
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BioMarin's board of directors recommends that you vote FOR the election of
each of the nominees to the board of directors.

In addition, disinterested members of BioMarin's board of directors have
unanimously approved the transaction between BioMarin and Glyko. The board
recommends that you vote FOR the transaction. If the transaction is not
approved, it cannot be completed.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. Even if you do not attend the annual meeting, it is
important that your shares be voted. Please vote by promptly completing and
mailing the enclosed BioMarin proxy card so that your shares will be
represented at the annual meeting and voted as you wish.

Sincerely,

/s/ FREDRIC D. PRICE

Fredric D. Price
Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer
This document is dated , 2002 and is being first mailed to the
stockholders of BioMarin on or about , 2002.

GLYKO BIOMEDICAL LTD.
199 Bay Street
Toronto, Ontario M5L 1A9

, 2002
To the Shareholders of Glyko Biomedical Ltd.:

After careful consideration, the board of directors of Glyko Biomedical Ltd.
("Glyko") has approved a transaction between BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.
("BioMarin") and Glyko by way of a Plan of Arrangement under Section 192 of the
Canada Business Corporations Act. If the arrangement is completed, each Glyko
common share will be exchanged for 0.3309 of a share of BioMarin common stock
and Glyko will become an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of BioMarin. In
connection with the arrangement, it is proposed that Glyko be continued under
the British Columbia Company Act. BioMarin common stock is traded on Nasdag and
the Swiss SWX New Market under the trading symbol "BMRN." On ., 2002, the
closing price of the BioMarin common stock as reported on Nasdag was U.S. $.
per share. On the basis of such closing price, 0.3309 of a share of BioMarin
common stock has a value of U.S. $.. Up to 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common
stock will be issued to Glyko shareholders in connection with the transaction.
This is the same number of shares of BioMarin common stock as is currently
owned by Glyko. Following completion of the transaction, BioMarin intends to
exchange the 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko for
Series A Preferred Stock of BioMarin and to cancel such 11,367,617 shares of
BioMarin common stock.

The Joint Proxy Circular serves as a (1) BioMarin proxy statement and (2)
Glyko management proxy circular. It provides detailed information concerning
BioMarin, Glyko, the arrangement and the proposals related to the transaction.
Please give all of the information contained in the Joint Proxy Circular your
careful attention. In particular, you should carefully consider the discussion
in the section of the Joint Proxy Circular entitled "Risk Factors."

Shareholders of Glyko are cordially invited to attend a special meeting to
vote on the arrangement and the continuance of Glyko under the laws of British
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Columbia. The special meeting of Glyko shareholders will be held on ., 2002
at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) at the offices of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP,
199 Bay Street, Suite 2300, Commerce Court West, Toronto, Ontario M5L 1A9. Only
holders of Glyko common shares who hold such shares at the close of business on

, 2002 will be entitled to receive notice of and to attend in person, or
appoint a proxy nominee to attend, and vote at this special meeting.

The Glyko board of directors has unanimously approved the transaction. The
board recommends that you vote FOR the transaction. If the transaction is not
approved, it cannot be completed.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. Whether or not you plan to attend the Glyko special
meeting, please complete, sign, date and return the accompanying Glyko proxy in
the enclosed self-addressed stamped envelope. Returning the proxy does not
deprive you of your right to attend the meeting and to vote your shares in
person. Thank you for your consideration of this matter.

Sincerely,
/s/ JOERG GRUBER

Joerg Gruber
Chairman

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON , 2002
TO THE STOCKHOLDERS OF BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY given that the annual meeting of the stockholders of
BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. ("BioMarin") will be held at BioMarin's Galli
Drive facility located at 46 Galli Drive, Novato, California 94949, on

, 2002 at 10:00 a.m. (California time), for the following purposes:

1. To elect six directors of BioMarin;

2. To consider and vote upon a proposal to approve a transaction for
BioMarin to acquire all of the outstanding Glyko Biomedical Ltd.
("Glyko") common shares including, without limitation, the issuance of
up to 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with the
transaction; and

3. To transact such other business as properly may be brought before the
annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the Joint Proxy
Circular accompanying this notice.

BioMarin, BioMarin Acquisition (Nova Scotia) Company and Glyko will not be
able to complete the transaction involving Glyko if the BioMarin stockholders
do not approve the transaction including, without limitation, the issuance of
shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with the transaction.

BioMarin stockholders of record as of the close of business on ,
2002, will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the annual meeting. A
BioMarin stockholders' list will be available on , 2002, and may be
inspected during normal business hours prior to the annual meeting at the
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offices of BioMarin, 371 Bel Marin Keys Boulevard, Suite 210, Novato,
California 94949.

All BioMarin stockholders are cordially invited to attend the annual
meeting. To ensure your representation at the annual meeting, however, you are
urged to complete, date, sign and return the enclosed BioMarin proxy as
promptly as possible. A postage-prepaid envelope is enclosed for that purpose.
Any BioMarin stockholder attending the annual meeting may vote in person even
if that stockholder has returned a proxy.

By Order of the Board of Directors,
/s/ CHRISTOPHER M. STARR

Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D.
Secretary

, 2002

GLYKO BIOMEDICAL LTD.
NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON , 2002
TO THE HOLDERS OF COMMON SHARES OF GLYKO BIOMEDICAL LTD.:

A special meeting of the holders of common shares of Glyko Biomedical Ltd.
will be held at the offices of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, 199 Bay Street,
Suite 2300, Commerce Court West, Toronto, Ontario M5L 1A9, on , 2002 at
10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) for the following purposes:

1. to consider, pursuant to an interim order of the Superior Court of
Justice (Ontario) dated , 2002, and if deemed advisable, to
pass, with or without variation, a special resolution to approve an
arrangement under Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act
involving the indirect acquisition by BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. of
all the issued and outstanding common shares of Glyko;

2. 1if the special resolution approving the above-mentioned arrangement is
approved, to consider, and if deemed advisable, to pass, with or without
variation, a special resolution to approve the continuance of Glyko
under the laws of British Columbia; and

3. to transact such further or other business as may properly come before
the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Glyko will not proceed with the arrangement transaction unless the requisite
majority of shareholders passes both the arrangement resolution and the
continuance resolution. The arrangement is described in the accompanying Joint
Proxy Circular which serves as a circular in connection with Glyko management's
solicitation of proxies and as a proxy statement under applicable U.S.
securities laws for BioMarin in connection with the approval of the transaction
including the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock under the
arrangement. The full text of the Glyko arrangement resolution is set out as
Annex C to the attached document. The full text of the Glyko continuance
resolution is set out as Annex D to the attached document. Glyko's notice of
application for the interim order and for a final order approving the
arrangement and the full text of the interim order is set out as Annex E to the
attached document.
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Pursuant to the interim order, registered holders of common shares of Glyko
may dissent in respect of the Glyko arrangement resolution. Pursuant to Section
190 of the Canada Business Corporations Act, registered holders of common
shares of Glyko may dissent in respect of the Glyko continuance resolution. If
the arrangement or the continuance becomes effective, dissenting Glyko
registered shareholders who comply with the dissent procedures (which are
described in the circular under the heading "Dissenting Shareholder Rights")
will be entitled to be paid the fair value of their common shares of Glyko.
Failure to comply strictly with such dissent procedures may result in the loss
or unavailability of any right to dissent.

Glyko shareholders who do not expect to attend the meeting in person are
requested to complete, sign, date and return the enclosed form of Glyko proxy
in the enclosed envelope or by facsimile to Glyko Biomedical Ltd., c/o
Computershare Trust Company of Canada, Proxy Department, 100 University Avenue,
9/th/ Floor, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 2Y1, facsimile number (416) 981-9800.
The form of proxy must be received by Computershare Trust Company of Canada
prior to 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on , 2002 or, in the event that the
meeting is adjourned or postponed, prior to 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the
second business day prior to the day fixed for the adjourned or postponed
meeting.

DATED at London, England, the ___ day of , 2002.

By order of the Board
/s/ JOERG GRUBER

Joerg Gruber
Chairman

JOINT PROXY STATEMENT AND
MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR
WITH RESPECT TO AN ARRANGEMENT INVOLVING
BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.,
BIOMARIN ACQUISITION (NOVA SCOTIA) COMPANY
AND
GLYKO BIOMEDICAL LTD.

, 2002

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND GLYKO BIOMEDICAL LTD.

JOINT PROXY STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR

This Joint Proxy Statement and Management Proxy Circular ("Joint Proxy
Circular") is being furnished to holders of common stock, par value U.S.$0.001
per share, of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc., a corporation existing under the

laws of Delaware, in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the
BioMarin board of directors for use at the annual meeting of the stockholders
of BioMarin to be held at 10:00 a.m. (California time) on , 2002 at
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BioMarin's Galli Drive facility located at 46 Galli Drive, Novato, California
94949, or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

This Joint Proxy Circular is also being furnished to holders of common
shares of Glyko Biomedical Ltd., a corporation existing under the laws of
Canada, in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Glyko board of
directors for use at the Glyko special meeting to be held at 10:00 a.m.
(Toronto time) on , 2002, at the offices of Blake, Cassels & Graydon
LLP, 199 Bay Street, Suite 2300, Commerce Court West, Toronto, Ontario M5L 1A9,
Canada, or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

All information in this Joint Proxy Circular, including the annexes,
concerning BioMarin and BioMarin Acquisition (Nova Scotia) Company has been
supplied by BioMarin, and all information in this Joint Proxy Circular,
including the annexes, concerning Glyko has been supplied by Glyko. The
information concerning BioMarin after the completion of the transaction,
including pro forma financial information, has been jointly provided by
BioMarin and Glyko.

SEE THE SECTION OF THIS JOINT PROXY CIRCULAR ENTITLED "RISK FACTORS"
BEGINNING ON PAGE 22 FOR CONSIDERATIONS RELEVANT TO APPROVAL OF THE PROPOSALS.

No person is authorized to give any information or to make any
representation not contained in this Joint Proxy Circular and, if given or
made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as having
been authorized. This Joint Proxy Circular does not constitute an offer to
sell, or a solicitation of an offer to purchase, any securities, or the
solicitation of a proxy, by any person in any jurisdiction in which such an
offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such
offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any person to whom it is
unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation of an offer or proxy
solicitation. Neither the delivery of this Joint Proxy Circular nor any
distribution of the securities referred to in this Joint Proxy Circular shall,
under any circumstances, create an implication that there has been no change in
the information set forth herein since the date of this Joint Proxy Circular.

Neither the Ontario Securities Commission nor the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission nor any provincial, state or other securities commission
has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or

accuracy of the Joint Proxy Circular. Any representation to the contrary is a
criminal offense.
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SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the information contained in this Joint Proxy
Circular. This summary may not contain all of the information that is important
to you. You should carefully read this entire document and the other documents

referred to herein for a more complete understanding of the arrangement,

the

continuance and related transactions involving BioMarin, BioMarin Acquisition
(Nova Scotia) Company and Glyko. In particular, you should read the annexes
attached to this Joint Proxy Circular, including the Acquisition Agreement,
Amending Agreement and the Plan of Arrangement, which are attached to this

Joint Proxy Circular as Annexes A, A-1 and B, respectively.

In addition, the stockholders of BioMarin should carefully read the

information concerning the proposal relating to the election of directors of

the
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BioMarin, as described under the section titled "The Annual Meeting of BioMarin
Stockholders" in this Joint Proxy Circular.

Unless otherwise noted, all dollar amounts in this Joint Proxy Circular are
expressed in United States dollars.

THE MEETINGS AND THE APPROVAL PROCESS—--GENERALLY
Date, Time and Place

BioMarin. The annual meeting of the stockholders of BioMarin will be held
on , 2002, at its Galli Drive facility located at 46 Galli Drive,
Novato, California 94949, at 10:00 a.m. (California time).

See "The Annual Meeting of BioMarin Stockholders--Date, Time and Place."

Glyko. The special meeting of the shareholders of Glyko will be held on
, 2002, at the offices of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, 199 Bay Street,
Suite 2300, Commerce Court West, Toronto, Ontario M5L 1A9 at 10:00 a.m.
(Toronto time) .

See "The Special Meeting of Glyko Shareholders--Date, Time and Place."
Purposes of the Meetings

BioMarin. The purpose of the BioMarin annual meeting is to consider and
vote upon (i) a proposal to elect six directors of BioMarin; (ii) a proposal to
approve the transaction with Glyko, including, without limitation, the issuance
of shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with the transaction; and
(iii) such other business as properly may be brought before the BioMarin annual
meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. BioMarin will not proceed
with the transaction unless the transaction, including, without limitation, the
issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with the transaction,
is approved by its stockholders.

See "The Annual Meeting of BioMarin Stockholders—--Purpose of the Annual
Meeting" and "The Annual Meeting of BioMarin Stockholders—-—-Additional
Information on Proposals for the Annual Meeting."

Glyko. The purpose of the Glyko meeting is (i) to consider, pursuant to an
interim order of the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario) dated , 2002,
and if deemed advisable, to pass, with or without variation, the Glyko
arrangement resolution attached as Annex C to this Joint Proxy Circular to
approve an arrangement under Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations
Act involving the acquisition by BioMarin of all the issued and outstanding
common shares of Glyko; (ii) if the special resolution approving the
above-mentioned arrangement is approved, to consider, and if deemed advisable,
to pass, with or without variation, the Glyko continuance resolution attached
as Annex D to this Joint Proxy Circular to approve the continuance of Glyko
under the laws

of British Columbia; and (iii) to transact such further or other business as
may properly come before the Glyko special meeting or any adjournment or
postponement thereof. Glyko will not proceed with the transaction unless both
the arrangement resolution and the continuance resolution are approved by
shareholders.

See "The Special Meeting of Glyko Shareholders--Purpose of the Special
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Meeting."
Who Can Vote at the Meetings

BioMarin. Only record holders of BioMarin common stock at the close of
business on , 2002 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the
BioMarin annual meeting. On that date, there were shares of BioMarin
common stock outstanding. The holders of BioMarin common stock vote together as
a single class. Each share will have one vote on each matter acted upon at the
BioMarin annual meeting.

See "The Annual Meeting of BioMarin Stockholders--General" and "The Annual
Meeting of BioMarin Stockholders——-Record Date for Annual Meeting."

Glyko. The Glyko shareholders whose names were entered on the register of
shareholders of Glyko at the close of business on , 2002 will be
entitled to receive notice of and to attend in person, or appoint a proxy
nominee to attend, and vote at the Glyko special meeting. Shareholders are
entitled to one vote for each Glyko common share held on that date.

See "The Special Meeting of Glyko Shareholders--General" and "The Special
Meeting of Glyko Shareholders--Record Date for Special Meeting."

What Vote is Required

BioMarin. The presence, in person or by proxy, at the BioMarin annual
meeting of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of BioMarin
common stock is necessary for a quorum. The affirmative vote by holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock, present in person
or by proxy at the annual meeting, is required to approve the matters properly
brought before the annual meeting, except for the election of the directors.
The directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares present
in person or by proxy and entitled to vote.

See "The Annual Meeting of BioMarin Stockholders--Vote Required."

Glyko. The presence, in person or by proxy, at the Glyko meeting of two or
more shareholders holding common shares representing at least 33% of the
outstanding Glyko common shares is necessary for a quorum. The Glyko
arrangement resolution and the Glyko continuance resolution must be approved by
not less than two-thirds of the votes cast by the holders of Glyko common
shares, voting in person or by proxy, at the Glyko special meeting.
Shareholders representing approximately 27.3% of the Glyko common shares have
agreed with BioMarin, subject to certain conditions, to vote their shares in
favor of the Glyko arrangement resolution and Glyko continuance resolution and
otherwise support the transaction.

See "The Special Meeting of Glyko Shareholders--Vote Required."
Revocability of Proxies

BioMarin. A stockholder who has given a proxy may revoke it at any time
before it is exercised at the BioMarin annual meeting, by (1) delivering to the
secretary of BioMarin (by any means, including facsimile) a written notice

stating that the proxy is revoked, (2) signing and so delivering a proxy
bearing a later date or

(3) attending the BioMarin annual meeting and voting in person (although
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attendance at the BioMarin annual meeting will not, by itself, revoke a proxy).

See "The Annual Meeting of BioMarin Stockholders—--Voting of Proxies at
Annual Meeting and Revocability of Proxies."

Glyko. The form of proxy accompanying this Joint Proxy Circular confers
discretionary authority upon the proxy nominee with respect to any amendments
or variations to the matters identified in the notice of special meeting of
shareholders of Glyko and any other matter which may properly come before the
Glyko special meeting or any adjournment thereof.

If a proxy given to Glyko management is signed and returned, the securities
represented by the proxy will be voted for or against the Glyko arrangement
resolution and the Glyko continuance resolution, in accordance with the
instructions marked on the proxy. If no instructions are marked, the securities
represented by such a proxy will be voted FOR the Glyko arrangement resolution
and FOR the Glyko continuance resolution and in accordance with Glyko
management's recommendation with respect to amendments or variations of the
matters set out in the Glyko notice of special meeting or any other matters
which may properly come before the Glyko special meeting.

See "The Special Meeting of Glyko Shareholders--Voting of Proxies at Special
Meeting and Revocation of Proxies."

THE TRANSACTION--GENERALLY
Parties to the Transaction

BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.
371 Bel Marin Keys Blvd., Suite 210
Novato, California 94949
(415) 884-6700

BioMarin, a Delaware corporation, is engaged in the business of developing
enzyme therapies to treat serious, life-threatening diseases and conditions.

See "Business of BioMarin--Overview."

BioMarin Acquisition (Nova Scotia) Company
371 Bel Marin Keys Blvd., Suite 210
Novato, California 94949
(415) 884-6700

BioMarin Acquisition (Nova Scotia) Company ("BioMarin Nova Scotia") was
incorporated under the laws of the Province of Nova Scotia on February 6, 2002,
as an unlimited liability company for the sole purpose of effecting the
transaction. BioMarin Nova Scotia has not conducted any business since its
formation and, after the transaction is completed, will continue to exist as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of BioMarin Acquisition (Del.) Inc., a Delaware
corporation, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of BioMarin.

Glyko Biomedical Ltd.
199 Bay Street
Toronto, Ontario M5L 1A9
(416) 863-2400

Glyko was incorporated under the laws of Canada on June 26, 1992. On
December 21, 1992, simultaneously with the initial public offering of Glyko's
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common shares and listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange, Glyko acquired 100% of
the outstanding shares of Glyko, Inc., a company incorporated under the laws of
Delaware. At the time of acquisition, Glyko, Inc. was involved with original
scientific research aimed at developing novel analytic and research
instrumentation for carbohydrate research and for human medical diagnosis.
Glyko was incorporated for the sole purpose of acquiring Glyko, Inc.

On October 25, 1996, Glyko formed BioMarin to develop its pharmaceutical
products. Beginning in October 1997, BioMarin commenced raising capital from
third parties and engaging in other transactions which resulted in BioMarin
issuing common stock to entities other than Glyko. As a result, Glyko's
percentage ownership interest in BioMarin decreased over time. On October 7,
1998, Glyko sold Glyko, Inc., which produces certain carbohydrate analytical
products, to BioMarin. As a result of the sale of Glyko, Inc., Glyko has no
operating activities or operational employees. Glyko's only significant asset,
other than cash and cash equivalents, is its investment in BioMarin. Glyko owns
approximately [21.3%] of the outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock based
on the number of issued and outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock as of

, 2002.

See "Business of Glyko--Overview."
Joint Reasons for the Transaction

The boards of directors of BioMarin and Glyko approved the Acquisition
Agreement, and the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement,
because they determined that the stockholders of their respective companies
will benefit from the transaction. Among other benefits, the boards of
directors believe that:

the stockholders of BioMarin, including former Glyko shareholders, will
benefit from BioMarin's simplified share ownership structure;

the stockholders of BioMarin, including the former Glyko shareholders,
will benefit from the increased number of holders of shares of BioMarin
common stock, as the ligquidity of the BioMarin common stock should be
enhanced; and

the shareholders of Glyko will benefit from having direct ownership
interests in BioMarin and from the increased liquidity associated with
holding shares of BioMarin common stock.

See "The Transaction--Joint Reasons for the Transaction."
Recommendation of BioMarin's Board of Directors for the Transaction

The disinterested members of BioMarin's board of directors, which constitute
a majority of the BioMarin board of directors, believe that the terms of the
transaction are fair to the stockholders of BioMarin and in the best interests
of BioMarin and have unanimously approved the transaction including, without
limitation, the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with
the transaction, and recommend that the stockholders of BioMarin vote FOR the
transaction including, without limitation, the issuance of shares of BioMarin
common stock in connection with the transaction.

See "The Transaction--Joint Reasons for the Transaction" and "The
Transaction—-—-Recommendation of BioMarin's Board of Directors."

19



Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

Opinion of BioMarin's Financial Advisor

The BioMarin board of directors received a written opinion dated February 6,
2002 from UBS Warburg LLC, BioMarin's financial advisor, as to the fairness,
from a financial point of view, to BioMarin of the exchange ratio set forth in
the Acquisition Agreement. The full text of UBS Warburg's written opinion,
dated February 6, 2002, is attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex F.
BioMarin stockholders are encouraged to carefully read this opinion in its
entirety for a description of the assumptions made, procedures followed,
matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken. UBS Warburg's
opinion is addressed to the BioMarin board of directors and does not constitute
a recommendation to any stockholder with respect to any matter relating to the
proposed transaction.

See "The Transaction--Opinion of BioMarin's Financial Advisor."
Recommendation of Glyko's Board of Directors

The Glyko board of directors believes that the terms of the arrangement are
fair to the shareholders of Glyko and in the best interests of Glyko.
Accordingly, the Glyko board of directors has unanimously approved the
Acquisition Agreement and recommends that the shareholders of Glyko vote FOR
the Glyko arrangement resolution and FOR the Glyko continuance resolution.

See "The Transaction--Joint Reasons for the Transaction" and "The
Transaction-—-Recommendation of Glyko's Board of Directors."

Opinion of Glyko's Financial Advisor

In deciding to approve the Acquisition Agreement and the transactions
contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement, Glyko's board of directors
considered an opinion from its financial advisor, TD Securities Inc. On
February 6, 2002, TD Securities delivered its opinion to the board of directors
of Glyko that, as of that date, the consideration to be received by Glyko
shareholders under the Acquisition Agreement is fair, from a financial point of
view.

The full text of the TD Securities opinion, which sets forth the assumptions
made, matters considered and limits on review undertaken, is attached to this
Joint Proxy Circular as Annex G. Glyko shareholders are encouraged to carefully
read the opinion in its entirety. The opinion of TD Securities is addressed to
the board of directors of Glyko and relates only to the fairness, from a
financial point of view, of the consideration to be received by the holders of
Glyko common shares. The opinion does not address any other aspects of the
proposed arrangement or the continuance and does not constitute an opinion or
recommendation to any shareholder of Glyko as to how such shareholder should
vote with respect to the Glyko arrangement resolution or the Glyko continuance
resolution.

See "The Transaction--Opinion of Glyko's Financial Advisor."
Interests of Certain Persons in the Transaction

In considering how to vote your securities with respect to the transaction,
you should be aware that certain members of the BioMarin board of directors and
certain members of management and the board of directors of Glyko have certain
interests in the transaction that may present them with actual or potential
conflicts of interest in connection with the transaction. The BioMarin board of
directors and the Glyko board of directors were aware of these interests and
considered them along with the other matters summarized above. These interests
include:
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the receipt by directors of Glyko, two directors and two executive
officers of BioMarin (in their capacities as shareholders of Glyko), of
shares of BioMarin common stock in exchange for Glyko

5

common shares in the transaction. These directors and officers will
receive the same per share consideration as other Glyko shareholders in
the transaction;

the receipt by directors and officers of Glyko (the only holders of
options for Glyko common shares) of options to purchase BioMarin common
stock in exchange for options to purchase Glyko common shares; and

a promise by BioMarin to provide directors' and officers' liability
insurance for a specified period to Glyko's board of directors and
management .

Furthermore, the Acquisition Agreement provides executive officers and
directors of Glyko with continuing indemnification rights upon terms and
conditions consistent with those in effect on the date of the Acquisition
Agreement.

See "The Transaction--Interests of Certain Persons in the Transaction."

Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers and Certain Related Persons
of BioMarin

As of the close of business on , 2002, the directors and executive
officers of BioMarin (and their respective affiliates, not including Glyko)
collectively beneficially owned approximately [5.4%] of the shares of BioMarin
common stock entitled to vote at the BioMarin annual meeting. These directors
include Messrs. Erich Sager and Gwynn Williams, who collectively own or control
approximately [8.3%] of the Glyko common shares. Furthermore, Glyko owns
approximately [21.3%] of the issued and outstanding shares of BioMarin common
stock based on the number of issued and outstanding shares of BioMarin common
stock as of , 2002. Accordingly, the directors and executive officers of
BioMarin (and their respective affiliates) together with Glyko collectively
beneficially own approximately [26.7%] of the shares of BioMarin common stock
entitled to vote at the BioMarin annual meeting, which represents a substantial
percentage of the vote required to approve the transaction because the
affirmative vote by holders of a majority of the outstanding BioMarin common
stock, present in person or by proxy at the annual meeting of BioMarin's
stockholders, is required to approve the transaction including, without
limitation, the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with
the transaction.

See "The Transaction--Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers
and Certain Related Persons of BioMarin."

Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers of Glyko

As of the close of business on , 2002, directors and executive
officers of Glyko (and their respective associates) collectively owned or
exercised direction or control over approximately [9%] of the Glyko common
shares entitled to vote at the Glyko special meeting, exclusive of options to
acquire Glyko common shares also held by these directors and executive
officers. Other than Messrs. Erich Sager, Gwynn Williams, Christopher Starr and
Emil Kakkis, BioMarin and its affiliates do not currently own any Glyko common
shares. The vote required for approval of the Glyko arrangement resolution and
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the Glyko continuance resolution at the Glyko special meeting is not less than
two-thirds of the votes cast at the special meeting by holders of Glyko common
shares present in person or by proxy at the special meeting. Shareholders
representing approximately 27.3% of the Glyko common shares (including all of
the directors of Glyko who are shareholders) have agreed with BioMarin, subject
to certain conditions, to vote their shares in favor of the Glyko arrangement
resolution and the Glyko continuance resolution.

See "The Transaction--Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers of
Glyko."

Structure and Effects of the Transaction

The Acquisition Agreement among BioMarin, BioMarin Nova Scotia and Glyko
dated as of February 6, 2002, as amended by the Amending Agreement dated as of
May 16, 2002 (attached as Annex A-1) and the Plan of Arrangement are attached
to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex A and Annex B, respectively. Please read
the Acquisition Agreement, the Amending Agreement, the Plan of Arrangement and
the other transaction agreements as they are the principal legal documents that
govern the transaction.

The Acquisition Agreement and Plan of Arrangement provide for the
combination of BioMarin and Glyko in a transaction under which each holder of
Glyko common shares will receive for each Glyko common share held, 0.3309 of a
share of BioMarin common stock. In no event will the aggregate number of shares
of BioMarin common stock issued to Glyko shareholders exceed 11,367,617. Glyko
shareholders who properly exercise dissent rights will not be entitled to
receive shares of BioMarin common stock but will be entitled to receive payment
in cash from Glyko representing the fair value of their Glyko common shares. It
is a condition to closing of the transaction that holders of no more than one
percent in the aggregate of the issued and outstanding Glyko common shares
shall have exercised dissent rights in respect of the arrangement and the
continuance.

The mechanics of the transaction will involve BioMarin Nova Scotia acquiring
all of the outstanding common shares of Glyko (other than those of dissenting
Glyko shareholders who ultimately receive the fair value of their Glyko common
shares) in exchange for shares of BioMarin common stock.

Each Glyko option not exercised prior to the implementation time of the
arrangement will be exchanged for an option to purchase a number of shares of
BioMarin common stock equal to 0.3309 multiplied by the number of Glyko common
shares subject to such Glyko option, with the total number of shares of
BioMarin common stock subject to the replacement option rounded down to the
nearest whole number. The exercise price per share of the replacement options
to acquire BioMarin common stock shall be equal to the U.S. dollar equivalent
of the exercise price per Glyko common share of the Glyko option immediately
prior to the consummation of the arrangement divided by 0.3309, rounded up to
the nearest whole cent. Each replacement option will be granted in accordance
with BioMarin's 1997 Stock Plan.

In connection with the transaction, "implementation time" means 12:01 a.m.
(Pacific time) on the date that is the earlier of (i) the date that Glyko is
continued under the laws of British Columbia; (ii) the date upon which Glyko's
board of directors resolves to implement the arrangement, which in no event may
be prior to the effective date; or (iii) the date that is 10 days following the
effective date. The "effective date" is the date of the certificate of
arrangement to be issued pursuant to the Canada Business Corporations Act
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giving effect to the arrangement.

Immediately following the completion of the transaction and as a result
thereof, former holders of Glyko common shares will hold an aggregate of
approximately 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock which, based on the
number of issued and outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock as of ,
2002 and assuming completion of the preferred stock exchange described below,
will represent approximately [21.3%] of the outstanding shares of BioMarin
common stock.

See "The Transaction," "Transaction Mechanics" and "Pro Forma Capitalization
of BioMarin."

The Companies after the Transaction

Following completion of the transaction, BioMarin intends to exchange the
11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko for Series A
Preferred Stock of BioMarin, cancel such 11,367,617 shares of common stock and
have Glyko remain as a non-operating, indirect subsidiary of BioMarin.

See "The Transaction--Continuance" and "The Companies after the Transaction."

Completion and Effectiveness of the Transaction

The transaction will be completed as soon as practicable after the requisite
shareholder, regulatory and court approvals have been obtained and are final
and all other conditions to the transaction have been satisfied or waived.
BioMarin and Glyko currently plan to complete the transaction during the third
calendar quarter of 2002. The arrangement is subject to court approval and
other conditions, some of which are beyond the control of BioMarin and Glyko,
and therefore the exact timing of completion of the transaction cannot be
predicted with certainty. Either party may terminate the Acquisition Agreement
if the transaction is not completed by August 30, 2002.

See "The Transaction—--Court Approval of the Arrangement and Completion of
the Transaction."

The Acquisition Agreement--Certain Covenants, Conditions to Completion of the
Arrangement and Other Matters

No Solicitation

Glyko has agreed that, while the transaction is pending, it will not solicit
or engage in discussions or negotiations with any third parties with respect to
an Acquisition Proposal. An Acquisition Proposal means any offer, proposal or
inquiry (other than an offer or proposal by BioMarin) contemplating or
otherwise relating to any Acquisition Transaction. An Acquisition Transaction
includes, among other things, a transaction relating to any merger,
consolidation, amalgamation, business combination or sale of more than 20% of
the assets or outstanding securities of any class of voting securities of
Glyko, provided that Glyko may enter into such discussions and enter into an
agreement with a third party with respect to such a transaction if Glyko's
board of directors determines, subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions, that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its
fiduciary obligations under applicable law.

See "The Acquisition Agreement--Material Covenants."
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Conditions to Completion of the Arrangement

Completion of the arrangement is subject to the satisfaction of a number of
conditions, including:

the approval of the Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko
continuance resolution each by at least two-thirds of the votes cast by
the holders of Glyko common shares who are represented at the Glyko
special meeting and in accordance with any other conditions imposed by
the interim order attached as Annex E to this Joint Proxy Circular and
which are satisfactory to Glyko;

the approval of the arrangement, including the issuance of shares of
BioMarin common stock, by at least a majority of the votes cast by
holders of BioMarin common stock voting at the BioMarin annual meeting;

the issuance of a final order of the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario)
acceptable to BioMarin and Glyko;

the exemption from registration under the United States Securities Act of
1933 of the shares of BioMarin common stock to be issued upon the
consummation of the arrangement;

the absence of any legal proceeding in which a governmental body is
seeking to prevent the consummation of the arrangement;

the accuracy in all material respects of the representations and
warranties of BioMarin, BioMarin Nova Scotia and Glyko contained in the
Acquisition Agreement;

there not having occurred a material adverse change with respect to
either Glyko or BioMarin since February 6, 2002; and

holders of no more than one percent in the aggregate of the issued and
outstanding Glyko common shares having exercised and not withdrawn their
dissent rights.

Some of the conditions to completion of the arrangement may be waived by the
party entitled to assert the benefit of the condition. Neither BioMarin nor
Glyko intends to solicit shareholder approval of the transaction based on a
waived condition, unless its board of directors determines in good faith that
the waiver of such condition is sufficiently material as to warrant seeking
further shareholder approval.

See "The Acquisition Agreement--Conditions to Completion of the Arrangement"
and "The Transaction—-—-Qualification and Resale of Shares of BioMarin Common
Stock."

Termination of the Acquisition Agreement

Glyko and BioMarin may mutually agree to terminate the Acquisition Agreement
without completing the transaction. In addition, either Glyko or BioMarin may
terminate the Acquisition Agreement under any of the following circumstances:

if the arrangement has not been consummated by August 30, 2002;

if a governmental body shall have issued an order, decree or ruling
having the effect of prohibiting the arrangement;
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if the requisite approval of the holders of Glyko common shares is not
obtained;

if the requisite approval of the holders of BioMarin common stock is not
obtained; or

if the conditions to completion of the arrangement would not be satisfied
because of a material breach by the other party (which in the case of
BioMarin includes BioMarin Nova Scotia) of any of its representations,
warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in the Acquisition
Agreement or if any of the other party's material representations or
warranties becomes untrue (although in any such case the breaching party
would have 30 days to cure any such breach).

BioMarin may also terminate the Acquisition Agreement if Glyko breaches the
provisions of the Acquisition Agreement that prohibit Glyko from, among other
things, soliciting Acquisition Proposals from third parties.

See "The Acquisition Agreement--Termination of the Acquisition Agreement."
Payment of Termination Fee

Under certain circumstances, Glyko or BioMarin is required to pay the other
a termination fee of $1.0 million if the Acquisition Agreement is terminated.

See "The Acquisition Agreement--Payment of Termination Fee."
Other Agreements

As a condition to closing the transaction, Glyko and BioMarin will enter
into agreements with certain affiliates of Glyko, pursuant to which such
affiliates agree not to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of any shares of
BioMarin common stock unless: (i) such transaction is permitted under Rule 145
under the United States

Securities Act of 1933; (ii) such transaction is made pursuant to an effective
registration statement under the United States Securities Act of 1933, or (iii)
such transaction is made pursuant to an exemption from registration under the
United States Securities Act of 1933.

BioMarin has entered into agreements with certain shareholders of Glyko
(including all of the directors who are shareholders), representing, in the
aggregate, approximately 27.3% of the outstanding Glyko common shares, pursuant
to which each such shareholder has agreed, among other things: (i) to vote the
Glyko common shares held by such shareholder in favor of the arrangement and
the transactions contemplated thereby; and (ii) to vote the Glyko common shares
held by such shareholder against (1) any Acquisition Proposal (other than a
Superior Offer), (2) any reorganization, recapitalization, dissolution,
liquidation or winding up of Glyko, and (3) any amendment of the articles of
incorporation or bylaws of Glyko which would prevent, impede, interfere with or
delay the arrangement.

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, a Superior Offer is an
unsolicited, bona fide written offer made by a third party (other than BioMarin
or its affiliates) which, if consummated, would result in such third party
acquiring, directly or indirectly, securities representing more than 50% of the
voting power of the shares of Glyko or the resulting entity of such transaction
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or all or substantially all of the assets of Glyko, in each case on terms which
the board of directors of Glyko reasonably determines (following receipt of
advice from its financial advisors of nationally recognized reputation and
outside counsel) to be more favorable to Glyko's shareholders than the terms of
the arrangement.

See "The Transaction--Other Agreements."
Tax Considerations for Glyko Securityvholders

Glyko securityholders should read carefully the information under "Tax
Considerations for Glyko Securityholders," which qualifies the information set
forth below, and should consult their own tax advisors with respect to their
particular circumstances. No advance income tax rulings have been sought or
obtained with respect to any of the transactions described herein.

Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations

Canadian resident Glyko shareholders who hold Glyko common shares as capital
property and who receive shares of BioMarin common stock pursuant to the
arrangement will dispose of their Glyko common shares and will generally be
considered to have realized a capital gain (or capital loss) to the extent that
the proceeds of disposition of their Glyko common shares exceed (or are less
than) the aggregate of the adjusted cost base of such shares and any reasonable
costs of disposition. For this purpose, the proceeds of disposition will be
equal to the fair market value of the shares of BioMarin common stock received,
determined at the implementation time of the arrangement, plus the amount of
any cash received in lieu of a fractional share. Shares of BioMarin common
stock received by Glyko shareholders that are Canadian deferred income plans
will be "qualified investments" (provided they are listed on a prescribed stock
exchange) but will be "foreign property" for Canadian federal income tax
purposes. Glyko shareholders who are not at any time Canadian residents will
not generally be subject to Canadian federal income tax on the exchange of
Glyko common shares for shares of BioMarin common stock pursuant to the
arrangement.

See "Tax Considerations for Glyko Securityholders--Canadian Tax
Considerations for Glyko Shareholders."

United States Federal Income Tax Considerations

The arrangement 1is intended to qualify as a "reorganization" within the
meaning of Section 368 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. In
that event and subject to the "passive foreign investment

10

company" or PFIC rules, a Glyko shareholder who is a United States person and
who holds such Glyko common shares as capital assets generally should not
recognize any gain or loss upon the exchange of Glyko common shares for
BioMarin common stock. Subject to the PFIC rules, a Glyko shareholder who is a
United States person, who dissents from the arrangement and is ultimately
determined to receive fair value for its Glyko common stock will generally
recognize a capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the U.S.
dollar value of any payment (other than any amount treated as interest)
received from Glyko and such dissenting shareholder's aggregate adjusted tax
basis in the Glyko common shares in respect of which such shareholder
dissented. Any payment received by a dissenting shareholder that is treated as
interest will be taxed as ordinary income.
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The application of the PFIC rules could change these consequences. For its
fiscal year beginning January 1, 2002, Glyko likely will be a PFIC. In
addition, although the matter is not free from doubt, for its fiscal year
ending December 31, 2001, Glyko may have been a PFIC. Glyko makes no
representation whether it was or was not a PFIC for any other fiscal year.
Glyko common shares will be treated as stock of a PFIC held by a U.S. person
if, at any time during the holding period of such stock, Glyko is a PFIC. The
PFIC rules are complex and often disadvantageous to United States persons who
own shares of a PFIC.

See "Tax Considerations for Glyko Securityholders--United States Federal
Income Tax Considerations for Glyko Shareholders."

Accounting Treatment of the Transaction

BioMarin will record the transaction based upon the fair value of the common
stock issued by BioMarin as of the date of closing. Following the transaction,
BioMarin expects to exchange its shares of common stock owned by Glyko for
shares of BioMarin preferred stock and to cancel such shares of common stock.
Because Glyko's investment in BioMarin will be held within a consolidated group
and will not appear in the consolidated financial statements, no incremental
consolidated assets or stockholders' equity will arise as a result of the
transaction.

See "The Transaction--Accounting Treatment."
Contingent Capital Gains Tax Liability to BioMarin

Upon completion of the transaction, BioMarin will hold indirectly all of the
shares of BioMarin held by Glyko. Upon a taxable disposition of such shares,
Glyko (and indirectly BioMarin) would recognize a capital gain which would be
subject to tax under Canadian federal and provincial income tax laws. The
capital gain for Canadian tax purposes would be equal to the difference between
the fair market value of the BioMarin shares held by Glyko as of the date of
disposition and the aggregate of Glyko's adjusted cost base of such shares and
any reasonable costs of disposition. Under current Canadian federal and
provincial income tax laws and tax rates currently in effect for the 2002
calendar year, Glyko (and indirectly BioMarin) would be obligated to pay
Canadian federal and provincial income tax at a combined rate of approximately
19% of the capital gain.

BioMarin may be subject to United States federal income tax upon the
liquidation or deemed liquidation of the shares of BioMarin held by Glyko.
However the timing and amount of the gain subject to tax would vary based on
the specific facts surrounding the liquidation or deemed liquidation event. In
addition, the events which would trigger the recognition of gain by Glyko are
completely within the discretion and control of Glyko and indirectly BioMarin,
and neither Glyko nor BioMarin has any intention of implementing any of these
events.

See "The Transaction--Contingent Capital Gain Tax Liability to BioMarin."

11

Court and Regulatory Approvals Required to Complete the Transaction
Court Approval

An arrangement under the Canada Business Corporations Act requires court
approval. Prior to the mailing of this Joint Proxy Circular in connection with
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the Glyko special meeting, Glyko obtained an interim order from the Superior
Court of Justice (Ontario) providing for the calling and holding of the Glyko
special meeting and other procedural matters. Subject to the approval of the
Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko continuance resolution at the Glyko
special meeting and the approval of the transaction, including the issuance of
shares of BioMarin common stock at the BioMarin annual meeting, the hearing to
obtain a final order of the Court is scheduled to take place on or about

, 2002 at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) at the Toronto courthouse located
at 393 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

See "The Transaction—--Court Approval of the Arrangement and Completion of
the Transaction."

Regulatory Matters

The arrangement and the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition
Agreement are subject to the following regulatory approvals and filings: (i)
approval of the Registrar under the Company Act (British Columbia) to the
continuance of Glyko under the laws of British Columbia; (ii) approval of the
Director under the Canada Business Corporations Act to the continuance of Glyko
under the laws of British Columbia; and (iii) the filing of an application for
the listing of additional shares with Nasdaqg regarding the shares of BioMarin
common stock issuable in the transaction.

See "The Transaction--Regulatory Matters."
Restrictions on the Ability of Glyko Shareholders to Sell BioMarin Common Stock

All shares of BioMarin common stock received by Glyko shareholders in
connection with the transaction will be freely transferable under U.S.
securities laws unless a Glyko shareholder is an affiliate (within the meaning
of that term under the United States Securities Act of 1933) of Glyko prior to,
or an affiliate of BioMarin following, the completion of the transaction.
Shares of BioMarin common stock held by such affiliates may only be sold in
compliance with Rule 145 under the United States Securities Act of 1933.

See "The Transaction--Exemption from Registration Requirements of Securities
Laws and Limitations on Resale of BioMarin Common Stock."

Transaction Costs

In connection with the transaction, BioMarin and Glyko expect to incur
aggregate costs, including, without limitation, financial advisors' fees, legal
and accounting fees, soliciting fees and printing and mailing costs of
approximately $3.7 million and filing fees of approximately $19,000.
Stock Exchange Listings

A condition to the closing of the arrangement is the filing of an
application for the listing of additional shares with Nasdaqg regarding the
shares of BioMarin common stock to be issued pursuant to the transaction to
Glyko shareholders. The shares of BioMarin common stock to be issued pursuant
to the transaction will also be listed on the Swiss SWX New Market as promptly
as possible following completion of the transaction.

See "The Transaction--Stock Exchange Listings."

12

Dissenters' Appraisal Rights
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BioMarin

Under Delaware law, stockholders of BioMarin will not have dissenters'
appraisal rights in connection with the transaction.

Glyko

Registered Glyko shareholders who properly exercise their dissent rights
pursuant to the interim order issued by the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario)
and under the Canada Business Corporations Act will be entitled to be paid the
fair value of their Glyko common shares. The dissent procedures require that a
registered Glyko shareholder who wishes to dissent must provide Glyko a dissent
notice at or prior to the Glyko special meeting of shareholders. The obligation
of BioMarin to complete the arrangement is subject to the condition that
holders of no more than one percent of the issued and outstanding Glyko common
shares in the aggregate shall have exercised and not withdrawn dissent rights
in respect of the arrangement or the continuance.

See "Dissenting Shareholder Rights."

13

Summary Consolidated Financial Information

Set forth below is a summary of certain
to BioMarin and its subsidiaries as at the

of BioMarin

financial information with respect
dates and for the periods indicated.

The summary financial data of BioMarin has been derived from BioMarin's
consolidated financial statements included in Annex I to this Joint Proxy
Circular. BioMarin's financial information has been prepared using United
States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), which differs in
certain respects from Canadian GAAP. All dollar amounts are expressed in U.S.

dollars.

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands, except for
per share data)

Consolidated statements of operations data(l):

REVENUE S s 4 v vttt e ettt ttte e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeas $ 5,300 $ 9,714 s 11,699
Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development........oooiiieeeennnnn. 26,341 34,459 45,283
General and administrative.......... ... 4,757 6,507 6,718
In-process research and development............ - - 11,647
Facility ClOoSULE. . i ittt ittt et ee e e eeaeenns - 4,423 -
Total operating costs and expensesS......... 31,0098 45,389 63,648
Loss from operations. ... .ottt teenenennnn (25,798) (35,675) (51,949)
Interest INCOME. . v i it ittt ittt ettt ettt eneeanns 1,832 2,979 1,871
Interest EXPENSE . & i ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeanns (732) (7) (17)
Equity in loss of joint venture................... (1,673) (2,912) (7,333)
Net loss from continuing operations............... (26,371) (35,615) (57,428)

Three Month Peri
ended March 31,

(in thousands,

per share data,

$ 2,690 $

9,657
1,474
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Income (loss) from discontinued operations........ (1,701) (1,749) (2,2606) (617)
Loss from disposal of discontinued operations..... - - (7,912) -
NEl 108 S ettt ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeanaeaeeeeens $(28,072) $(37,364) $(67,606) $(9,700) S (2
Net loss per share, basis and diluted:
Loss from continuing operations................ S (0.88) $ (0.99) $ (1.40) $ (0.24) S
Income (loss) from discontinued operations..... S (0.06) $ (0.05) $ (0.06) $ (0.02) S
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations.... $ -— 8 -— 8 (0.19) $ - S
NEtl 1OSS ettt ittt ettt ee e eeneeeeeeeeeeeannnaens $ (0.94) s (1.04) $ (1.65) $ (0.26) S
Weighted average common shares outstanding........ 29,944 35,859 41,083 37,052 5
December 31,
———————————————— March 31,
2000 2001 2002

(in thousands)

Consolidated balance sheet data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments................ $40,201 $131,097
Total CUTrent ASSeL S . i i i ittt ittt ittt ettt ettt ee e eeeeeaeenns 44,541 136,783
BN o= B T = Y i = 76,933 171,811
Long-term liabilities. ... ii ittt ittt et eeeeee e 56 3,961
Total stockholders' equUity.. ...ttt ittt eeneenneeeens 69,994 159,548

(1) See notes to BioMarin's consolidated financial statements for a description
of the number of shares used in the computation of the net loss per common
share.

14

Summary Financial Information of Glyko

Set forth below is a summary of certain financial information with respect
to Glyko as of the dates and for the periods indicated. The summary financial
data of Glyko has been derived from Glyko's financial statements included in
Annex J to this Joint Proxy Circular. In order to comply with Canadian
securities regqulatory requirements, Glyko's financial information has been
prepared using Canadian GAAP, which differs in certain respects from United
States GAAP. All dollar amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars.

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands,
unaudited)

$114,798
123,426
157,306
3,503
144,368
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for pe
(in thousands, except for per share data) una
Statements of operations data(l):
REVEIMUE S s v vt v ettt ettt ettt eeeeeeeneeeneeeneenas $ - $ - $ - $ -
Expenses:
General and administrative................ ... 199 388 462 7
Total costs and EXPenNSeS. ... ... 199 388 462 7
Loss from operations........oiiiiiineeeeennnnns (199) (388) (462) (7
Equity in loss of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc... (10,173) (11, 934) (18,904) (3,009
Gain on reduction of share ownership of BioMarin
Pharmaceutical TInC. ..ttt ieteeeeeeeneeneenn 26,814 1,424 30,515 37
Interest INCOME. ... ittt ittt eeanenns 187 121 123 3
Net 1ncome (L1OSS) v v v vttt et teeeeeeeneeaeenns $ 16,629 $(10,777) $ 11,272 $(2,74
Earnings (loss) per share--basic................ S 0.54 S (0.32) S 0.33 S (0.0
Earnings (loss) per share--diluted.............. S 0.50 S (0.32) S 0.33 S (0.0
Weighted average number of shares--basic........ 31,066 33,915 34,353 34,35
Weighted average number of shares—--diluted...... 33,568 33,915 34,372 34,35
December 31,
——————————————— March 31,
2000 2001 2002

(in thousands) (in thousands,

unaudited)
Balance sheet data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 1,805 $ 2,444 $ 2,419
Investment in BioMarin. .. ..o i eieteeeeeeenennn 25,129 36,741 35,945
Total ASSEeE S . i i ittt ettt et et ettt e e 26,964 39,185 38,364
Total shareholders' equity........cooiiiiinnnn.. 26,649 38,724 37,633

See notes to Glyko's financial statements for a description of the number
of shares used in the computation of earnings per common share.
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Transaction Risk Factors

The transaction involves numerous risks and uncertainties. In evaluating the
arrangement, BioMarin stockholders and Glyko shareholders should carefully
consider the risk factors disclosed under the heading "Risk Factors," as well
as other information contained in this Joint Proxy Circular and the annexes
hereto. These risks and uncertainties include those associated with the
following:

fluctuation in the actual dollar value of the BioMarin common stock the
Glyko shareholders will receive in the transaction;
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fluctuations in the market price of BioMarin common stock and Glyko
common shares;

the impact on the trading price of BioMarin common stock of sales of
substantial amounts of BioMarin common stock following the closing of the
transaction;

required regulatory and court approvals for completing the transaction;
actual or potential conflicts of interest involving directors and
executive officers of Glyko and BioMarin directors in connection with the

transaction; and

a substantial contingent tax liability to BioMarin in connection with the
liquidation or deemed liquidation of the BioMarin shares held by Glyko.

See "Risk Factors—-—-Risks Relating to the Transaction Generally--For
Consideration by BioMarin Stockholders and Glyko Shareholders."

BioMarin Risk Factors

An investment in BioMarin common stock involves a high degree of risk.
BioMarin operates in a dynamic and rapidly changing industry that involves
numerous risks and uncertainties. In evaluating the arrangement, Glyko
shareholders should carefully consider the risk factors disclosed under the
heading "Risk Factors," as well as other information contained in this Joint
Proxy Circular and the annexes hereto. These risks and uncertainties include
those associated with the following:

BioMarin's continued incurrence of operating losses;

BioMarin's failure to obtain necessary capital;

BioMarin's failure to obtain regulatory approval to commercially
manufacture or sell its future drug products;

the cost, length and uncertainty of results of preclinical studies and
clinical trials necessary for BioMarin to obtain regulatory approval to

market its products;

the speed of the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) review
process for BioMarin's drug candidates;

BioMarin's failure to comply with manufacturing regulations;

BioMarin's failure to obtain orphan drug exclusivity for some of its drug
products;

the size of the target patient populations for some of BioMarin's drug
products;

the failure to obtain adequate levels of reimbursement for BioMarin's
drugs products by third-party payers;

the ability to protect BioMarin's proprietary technology;

BioMarin's ability to challenge, and its success in challenging, certain
U.S. patents;

16
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the continuation of BioMarin's joint venture with Genzyme;

the ability to manufacture BioMarin's drug products in sufficient
quantities and at acceptable cost to support commercial sales;

the ability to increase BioMarin's marketing or distribution capabilities
or enter into agreements with third parties to do so;

the failure to compete successfully;

the failure to achieve expected milestones;

the failure to manage growth or to recruit and retain personnel;
changes in the treatment of diseases;

potential product liability lawsuits;

the volatility of BioMarin's stock price;

actions by BioMarin's officers, directors and largest stockholder acting
together; and

anti-takeover provisions in BioMarin's charter documents.

See "Risk Factors—-—-Risks Relating to BioMarin--For Consideration by Glyko
Shareholders."
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COMPARATIVE HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA PER SHARE DATA

The following tables set forth certain historical per share data of BioMarin
and Glyko and consolidated per share data on an unaudited pro forma basis after
giving effect to the transaction. The following data should be read in
conjunction with the separate historical consolidated financial statements of
BioMarin attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex I and the historical
financial statements of Glyko attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex J.
With respect to Glyko, the United States GAAP figures have been derived from
Glyko's financial statements prepared in accordance with United States GAAP and
attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex K. The unaudited pro forma
consolidated per share data does not necessarily indicate the operating results
that would have been achieved had the transaction been completed as of the
beginning of the earliest period presented and should not be taken as
representative of future operations. The results may have been different if the
companies had always been consolidated. No dividends have ever been declared or
paid on BioMarin common stock or Glyko common shares.

Year Ended
December 31, 2001

(in U.Ss. d

Three Month
Period Ended
March 31, 200

(unaudited)
ollars)
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Net income (loss) from continuing operations per
common share--basic:
Canadian GAAP . . v ittt ettt et ettt e e n/a S 0.33 n/a S (
LS T N $(1.40) $(0.44) $(0.51) S (
Net income (loss) from continuing operations per
common share--diluted:
Canadian GAAP . . vttt ittt ettt e e et e e n/a S 0.33 n/a S (
LS T N $(1.40) $(0.44) $(0.51) S (

Pro Forma Consolidated

BioMarin Glyko Equivale

Year Ended Three Months Year Ended Three
December 31, Ended December 31, En
2001 March 31, 2002 2001 March
(unaudited) (unaudited)

(in U.S. dollars)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations per

common share--basic:

Canadian GARP . . i v vttt ettt teteeeeeeeneneenns n/a n/a n/a

LS T N $(1.19) $(0.28) $(0.39) S (
Net income (loss) from continuing operations per

common share--diluted:

Canadian GARP . .. vttt ettt teteeeeeeennaeenns n/a n/a n/a

US GRAAP . ittt ittt it ettt ittt e $(1.19) $(0.28) $(0.39) S (

At December 31, 2001

Actual Pro Forma Consoli
BioMarin Glyko BioMarin Glyko E
(unaudited) (unaudited)

(in U.S. dollars)
Book value per share:
Canadian GRAP . v v v vttt it ettt ettt e n/a $1.13 n/a
LS T 22N = Y S 3.04 $ 1.07 $ 3.01 $

At March 31, 2002

Actual Pro Forma Consoli
BioMarin Glyko BioMarin Glyko E
(unaudited) (unaudited)

(in U.S. dollars)
Book value per share
Canadian GRAP . v v v it ittt ettt ettt n/a $1.10 n/a
LS T 2N $ 2.71 $ 0.97 $ 2.69 $

18

COMPARATIVE MARKET PRICE AND TRADING VOLUME INFORMATION

BioMarin common stock is traded on Nasdag and the Swiss SWX New Market under
the symbol "BMRN." Glyko common shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange
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under the symbol "GBL." Since November 1993, Glyko's common shares have been
listed on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol "GLYK." The trading of
Glyko's common shares on the OTC Bulletin Board has been limited and sporadic.
Glyko's common shares have been listed and traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange
since December 1992.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low
sale prices per share and the average trading volume of BioMarin common stock
as reported on Nasdag.

Average
Trading
High U.S.$ Low U.S.$ Volume

2000:
Fiscal Quarters
First Quarter.......... 41.25 11.75 131,362
Second Quarter......... 30.38 16.00 65,687
Third Quarter.......... 21.86 15.75 54,268
Fourth Quarter......... 18.50 6.94 30,702
2001:
Fiscal Quarters
First Quarter.......... 13.25 6.56 67,387
Second Quarter......... 13.29 7.50 56,189
Third Quarter.......... 13.74 8.07 65,603
Fourth Quarter......... 14.40 8.65 495,055
2002:
JANUALY ¢ e v e et et eaeeeeeenns 14.06 11.20 384,400
February....oeeeeieeeeennn. 12.96 9.71 424,158
MarCh. . ve e ettt i ieee e 10.75 9.25 361,260
2 o s 0 10.50 5.56 426,427
MAY e e et e e e eeeeee e 6.85 5.35 213,450
June (through , 2002).

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low
sale prices per Glyko common share and average trading volume of Glyko common
shares as reported on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Average
Trading
High Cdn.$ Low Cdn.$ Volume

2000:
Fiscal Quarters
First Quarter........... 15.00 5.20 90, 625
Second Quarter.......... 10.00 6.50 10,687
Third Quarter........... 9.25 7.00 12,248
Fourth Quarter.......... 8.50 3.25 18,273
2001:
Fiscal Quarters
First Quarter........... 5.75 3.50 12,517

Second Quarter.......... 6.45 3.85 16,930
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Third Quarter........... 7.00 3.75 15,823
Fourth Quarter.......... 7.00 3.75 67,365
2002:

JANUALY e v e e et eaeeeeeneens 7.20 5.15 6,945
February....oee e, 6.40 5.05 11,140
March. .ve e e e et e i ieeennn. 5.90 4.51 11,715
2 o s 0 5.00 2.85 18,470
1 3.59 2.50 7,389
June (through , 2002).
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The following table shows the closing prices (i) per share of BioMarin
common stock as reported on Nasdag and (ii) per Glyko common share as reported
on the Toronto Stock Exchange, on February 6, 2002, the business day preceding
the public announcement that BioMarin and Glyko had entered into the
Acquisition Agreement and on , 2002. The table also includes the
equivalent price per Glyko common share on those dates. This equivalent per
share price reflects the value of the BioMarin common stock the Glyko
shareholders would have received for each Glyko common share if the transaction
had been completed on either of those dates, applying the exchange ratio of
0.3309 of a share of BioMarin common stock for each Glyko common share.

Glyko Glyko BioMarin Equivalent Price
Common Shares Common Shares Common Stock Per Share
(Cdn.$) (Us.$) (1) (U.S.9) (U.S.9)
February 6, 2002......... 6.35 3.96 12.52 4.14

, 2002,

(1) U.S. dollar price is based on the Bank of Canada Noon Rate on such day, as
stated in the section entitled "Exchange Rates."

The market price of BioMarin common stock 1is subject to fluctuation due to
numerous market forces, with the result that the market value of the BioMarin
common stock Glyko common shareholders will receive under the arrangement may
increase or decrease prior to the implementation time of the arrangement.
Shareholders are urged to obtain current market quotations for the Glyko common
shares and the BioMarin common stock. Historical market prices are not
necessarily indicative of future market prices.

BioMarin Dividend Policy

BioMarin has not paid or declared dividends on its shares and does not
anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

Glyko Dividend Policy

Glyko has not paid or declared dividends on its common shares and does not
anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

EXCHANGE RATES

The following table sets forth, for each period indicated, the high and low
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exchange rates for one Canadian dollar expressed in U.S. dollars, the average
of such exchange rates during such period, and the exchange rate at the end of
such period, based upon the Bank of Canada Noon Rate and generally reflecting
the exchange rates for transactions of $1 million or more:

Three Month

Period Ended Year Ended December 31,
March 31, ——————————————————
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
High................ 0.6342 0.6695 0.6973 0.6929 0.7105 0.7489
LOW. o e et ee et eeeeeenn 0.6199 0.6242 0.6413 0.6537 0.6343 0.6948
AVETage . v v v v venneens 0.6271 0.6500 0.6733 0.6731 0.6741 0.7223
Period End.......... 0.6275 0.6279 0.6460 0.6929 0.6534 0.6997

On February 6, 2002, the last trading day prior to the announcement of the
transaction, the exchange rate for one Canadian dollar expressed in U.S.
dollars based on the Bank of Canada Noon Rate was $0.6234. On , 2002,
the exchange rate for one Canadian dollar expressed in U.S. dollars based on
the Bank of Canada Noon Rate was $..
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
IN THIS DOCUMENT

This Joint Proxy Circular includes "forward-looking statements" within the
meaning of the United States Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than
statements of historical fact included in this Joint Proxy Circular are
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements have been
identified in this Joint Proxy Circular using words such as "anticipates,"
"believes," "could," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "may," "plans,"
"potential," "predicts," "should," or "will" or the negative of such terms or
other comparable terminology. These statements are based on the beliefs of
BioMarin and Glyko as well as assumptions BioMarin and Glyko made using
information currently available to them. Because these statements reflect
BioMarin and Glyko's current views concerning future events, these statements
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions.

Although BioMarin and Glyko believe that the expectations reflected in the
forward-looking statements are reasonable, they can give no assurance that the
expectations will prove to have been correct. Important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from these expectations are disclosed
in this Joint Proxy Circular. Moreover, neither BioMarin nor Glyko nor any
other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of such
statements. Neither BioMarin nor Glyko is under any duty to update any of the
forward-looking statements after the date of this Joint Proxy Circular to
conform such statements to actual results, unless required by law.

21

RISK FACTORS
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In addition to the other information contained in this Joint Proxy Circular,
the following risk factors should be carefully considered before deciding how
to vote your securities. They should be reviewed together with the other
information in this Joint Proxy Circular. Some of these risk factors relate
directly to the transaction, while others relate to BioMarin, Glyko or the
consolidated company's business independent of the transaction.

Risks Relating to the Transaction Generally —-- For Consideration by BioMarin
Stockholders and Glyko Shareholders

The market price of both BioMarin common stock and Glyko common shares may
fluctuate and the actual dollar value of the BioMarin common stock that Glyko
shareholders receive when the transaction is completed may be less than it is
on the date that Glyko shareholders vote on the transaction.

Upon the arrangement's completion, each Glyko common share will be exchanged
for 0.3309 of a share of BioMarin common stock. The exchange ratio for BioMarin
shares will not be adjusted for changes in the market price of either Glyko
common shares or shares of BioMarin common stock. In addition, neither Glyko
nor BioMarin may terminate the Acquisition Agreement solely because of changes
in the market price of BioMarin common stock or Glyko common shares.

During the period prior to the expected completion of the transaction, the
market price for BioMarin common stock and Glyko common shares could fluctuate
significantly in response to various factors and events although it appears
that on a historical basis the trading price of the Glyko common shares has
within in a broad range moved in correlation to the trading price of the
BioMarin common stock. These factors and events include the differences between
BioMarin's and Glyko's actual financial or operating results and those expected
by investors and analysts, changes in analysts' projections or recommendations,
changes in general economic or market conditions and broad market fluctuations.
Due to these uncertainties, the market value of BioMarin common stock that the
holders of Glyko common shares will receive upon consummation of the
transaction may be less than the market value of the Glyko common shares held
by such shareholders prior to the implementation time of the arrangement,
including the date Glyko shareholders vote on the transaction.

Sales of substantial amounts of BioMarin common stock in the public market
following the closing of the transaction may adversely effect the prevailing
price of BioMarin common stock.

Up to 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock to be issued to holders of
Glyko common shares in the transaction will be issued in reliance upon the
exemption available pursuant to Section 3(a) (10) of the United States
Securities Act of 1933 and exemptions provided under the securities laws of
each state of the United States. Except for certain limitations on resale by
affiliates of Glyko or BioMarin, such shares will be freely tradeable. Sales of
substantial amounts of BioMarin common stock in the public market following the
closing of the transaction may adversely effect the prevailing price of
BioMarin common stock.

BioMarin and Glyko may be unable to obtain the required regulatory and court
approvals for completing the transaction and if these approvals are not
obtained, the transaction cannot be completed.

The arrangement and the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition
Agreement are subject to the following regulatory approvals and filings: (i)
approval of the Registrar under the Company Act (British Columbia) to the
continuance of Glyko under the laws of British Columbia; (ii) approval of the
Director under the Canada Business Corporations Act to the continuance of Glyko
under the laws of British Columbia; and (iii) the filing of an application for
the listing of additional shares with Nasdaqg regarding the shares of BioMarin
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common stock issuable in the transaction.

Even if all regulatory approvals have been obtained, the laws of the U.S.
and certain other jurisdictions permit federal, state and foreign governmental
entities and any private person to challenge the transaction at any time before
or after its completion.

22

In addition to regulatory approvals, the proposed arrangement under the
Canada Business Corporations Act requires approval by the Superior Court of
Justice (Ontario). Prior to the mailing of this Joint Proxy Circular, Glyko
obtained an interim order providing for the calling and holding of the Glyko
special meeting and other procedural matters. Subject to the approval of the
Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko continuance resolution at the Glyko
special meeting and the approval of the transaction, including the issuance of
shares of BioMarin common stock, at the BioMarin annual meeting, the hearing to
obtain a final order of the court is expected to take place on or about
2002 at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) at the Toronto Courthouse at 393 University
Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

4

BioMarin's executive officers and directors and Glyko's executive officers
and directors have interests that may influence them to support and approve the
transaction.

Certain members of the BioMarin board of directors and certain members of
the management and board of directors of Glyko have certain interests in the
transaction that may present them with actual or potential conflicts of
interest in connection with the transaction. Those interests include:

the receipt by directors of Glyko, two directors and two executive
officers of BioMarin (in their capacities as shareholders of Glyko), of
shares of BioMarin common stock in exchange for Glyko common shares in
the transaction. These directors and officers will receive the same per
share consideration as other Glyko shareholders in the transaction;

the receipt by directors and officers of Glyko (the only holders of
options for Glyko common shares) of options to purchase BioMarin common
stock in exchange for options to purchase Glyko common shares; and

a promise by BioMarin to provide directors' and officers' liability
insurance for a specified period to Glyko's board of directors and
management .

Furthermore, the Acquisition Agreement provides executive officers and
directors of Glyko with continuing indemnification rights upon terms and
conditions consistent with those in effect on the date of the Acquisition
Agreement.

For the above reasons, the directors and officers of Glyko could be more
likely to vote to approve the Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko
continuance resolution than if they did not hold these interests. Glyko
shareholders should consider whether these interests may have influenced these
directors and officers to support or recommend the transaction. The Glyko board
of directors was aware of these interests when it approved the Acquisition
Agreement.

Similarly, certain members of the BioMarin board of directors who are also
shareholders of Glyko, could have been more likely to approve the transaction
in their capacity as directors of BioMarin given their interests in Glyko.
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Accordingly, such members of the BioMarin board of directors abstained from the
vote taken by the BioMarin board of directors with respect to the transaction
and the transaction was approved only by the disinterested members of the
BioMarin board.

If Glyko (and indirectly BioMarin) disposes of the BioMarin shares held by
Glyko, then the capital gain tax liability which Glyko (and indirectly
BioMarin) would be obligated to pay under Canadian federal and provincial
income tax laws or may be obligated to pay under United States federal tax
principles may have a material adverse effect on BioMarin.

After giving effect to the transactions described herein, upon a disposition
of the BioMarin shares held by Glyko, Glyko (and indirectly BioMarin) would
recognize a gain under Canadian federal and provincial income tax laws (if the
disposition is taxable) and may recognize a gain under United States federal
income tax laws. If the disposition is taxable, the potential gain for Canadian
tax purposes as of , 2002, based upon the per
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share closing price of BioMarin's common stock as of such date (as reported on
the Nasdaqg), is approximately $ million, as calculated by BioMarin. Under
current Canadian federal and provincial income tax laws and tax rates currently
in effect, Glyko (and indirectly BioMarin) would be obligated to pay Canadian
federal and provincial income tax at a combined rate of approximately 19% of
the capital gain (subject to the deduction of any available losses in
accordance with Canadian income tax laws). The timing and amount of the gain
subject to tax under United States federal income tax principles would vary
based on the specific facts surrounding the liquidation or deemed liquidation
event. If Glyko (and indirectly BioMarin) were to dispose of the BioMarin
shares held by Glyko, then the capital gains tax liability which Glyko (and
indirectly BioMarin) may be obligated to pay under Canadian federal and
provincial income tax laws (assuming the disposition is taxable for Canadian
purposes) or may be obligated to pay under United States federal tax principles
may have a material adverse effect on BioMarin. However, the events which would
trigger the recognition of gain by Glyko (and indirectly BioMarin) are
completely within the discretion and control of BioMarin, and BioMarin has no
intention of implementing or effecting any of these events. In addition, in the
future, if BioMarin remains a "foreign affiliate" of Glyko, and BioMarin
generates sufficient after-tax net earnings, the contingent capital gains tax
liability may be limited or eliminated under Canadian federal and provincial
income tax laws in certain circumstances based on an election provided in the
Income Tax Act (Canada).

Risks Relating to BioMarin —-- For Consideration by Glyko Shareholders

By voting in favor of the Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko
continuance resolution, Glyko shareholders will be choosing to invest directly
in BioMarin common stock. An investment in BioMarin common stock involves a
substantial amount of risk. To a certain extent, Glyko shareholders are
currently subject to many of these risks indirectly because Glyko's principal
asset is its ownership of shares of BioMarin common stock. However, Glyko
shareholders currently hold an interest in a separate publicly traded company
which appreciates or depreciates in value separate from the trading price of
BioMarin common stock. In addition, historically, the trading price of Glyko
common shares has moved only within a broad range in correlation with the
trading price of BioMarin common stock. Accordingly, Glyko shareholders should
carefully review the risks relating to BioMarin in deciding how to vote their
Glyko common shares.
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If BioMarin continues to incur operating losses for a period longer than
anticipated, it may be unable to continue its operations at planned levels and
may be forced to reduce or discontinue operations.

BioMarin is in an early stage of development and has operated at a net loss
since it was formed. Since BioMarin began operations in March 1997, BioMarin
has been engaged primarily in research and development. BioMarin has no sales
revenues from any of its product candidates. As of March 31, 2002, BioMarin had
an accumulated deficit of approximately $174.7 million. BioMarin expects to
continue to operate at a net loss for the foreseeable future. BioMarin's future
profitability depends on receiving regulatory approval of its product
candidates and its ability to successfully manufacture and market any approved
drugs, either by itself or Jjointly with others. The extent of BioMarin's future
losses and the timing of profitability are highly uncertain. If BioMarin fails
to become profitable or is unable to sustain profitability on a continuing
basis, then it may be unable to continue its operations.

If BioMarin fails to obtain the capital necessary to fund its operations, it
will be unable to complete its product development programs.

In the future, BioMarin may need to raise substantial additional capital to
fund operations. BioMarin may be unable to raise additional financing when
needed due to a variety of factors, including BioMarin's financial condition,
the status of its product programs, and the general condition of the financial
markets. If BioMarin fails to raise additional financing as it needs such
funds, BioMarin will have to delay or terminate some or all of its product
development programs.
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BioMarin expects to continue to spend substantial amounts of capital for its
operations for the foreseeable future. The amount of capital BioMarin will need
depends on many factors, including:

the progress, timing and scope of BioMarin's preclinical studies and
clinical trials;

the time and cost necessary to obtain regulatory approvals;
the time and cost necessary to develop commercial manufacturing
processes, including quality systems and to build or acquire

manufacturing capabilities;

the time and cost necessary to respond to technological and market
developments; and

any changes made or new developments in BioMarin's existing
collaborative, licensing and other commercial relationships or any new
collaborative, licensing and other commercial relationships that BioMarin
may establish.

Moreover, BioMarin's fixed expenses such as rent, license payments and other
contractual commitments are substantial and will increase in the future. These
fixed expenses will increase because BioMarin may enter into:

additional leases for new facilities and capital equipment;

additional licenses and collaborative agreements;

additional contracts for consulting, maintenance and administrative
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services; and
additional contracts for product manufacturing.

BioMarin believes that its cash, cash equivalents and short term investment
securities balances at March 31, 2002 will be sufficient to meet its operating
and capital requirements through 2003. These estimates are based on assumptions
and estimates, which may prove to be wrong. As a result, BioMarin may need or
choose to obtain additional financing during that time.

If BioMarin fails to obtain regulatory approval to commercially manufacture
or sell any of its future drug products, or if approval is delayed, BioMarin
will be unable to generate revenue from the sale of its products, its potential
for generating positive cash flow will be diminished and the capital necessary
to fund its operations will increase.

BioMarin must obtain regulatory approval before marketing or selling its
drug products in the U.S. and in foreign jurisdictions. In the United States,
BioMarin must obtain FDA approval for each drug that it intends to
commercialize. The FDA approval process is typically lengthy and expensive, and
approval is never certain. Products distributed abroad are also subject to
foreign government regulation. None of BioMarin's drug products has received
regulatory approval to be commercially marketed and sold. If BioMarin fails to
obtain regulatory approval, it will be unable to market and sell its drug
products. Because of the risks and uncertainties in biopharmaceutical
development, BioMarin's drug products could take a significantly longer time to
gain regulatory approval than it expects or may never gain approval. If
regulatory approvals are not obtained or are delayed, the credibility of
BioMarin's management and the value of the company will be adversely affected.
Additionally, BioMarin will be unable to generate revenue from the sale of its
products and its potential for generating positive cash flow will be diminished
and the capital necessary to fund its operations will be increased.

To obtain regulatory approval to market BioMarin's products, preclinical
studies and costly and lengthy clinical trials will be required, and the
results of the studies and trials are highly uncertain.

As part of the regulatory approval process, BioMarin must conduct, at its
own expense, preclinical studies in the laboratory on animals and clinical
trials on humans for each drug product. BioMarin expects the number of
preclinical studies and clinical trials that the regulatory authorities will
require will vary depending on the drug
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product, the disease or condition the drug is being developed to address and
regulations applicable to the particular drug. BioMarin may need to perform
multiple preclinical studies using various doses and formulations before it can
begin clinical trials, which could result in delays in its ability to market
any of its drug products. Furthermore, even if BioMarin obtains favorable
results in preclinical studies on animals, the results in humans may be
significantly different.

After BioMarin has conducted preclinical studies on animals, it must
demonstrate that its drug products are safe and efficacious for use on the
target human patients in order to receive regulatory approval for commercial
sale. Adverse or inconclusive clinical results would stop BioMarin from filing
for regulatory approval of its drug products. Additional factors that can cause
delay or termination of BioMarin's clinical trials include:
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slow or insufficient patient enrollment;

slow recruitment of, and completion of necessary institutional approvals
at clinical sites;

longer treatment time required to demonstrate efficacy;

lack of sufficient supplies of the product candidate;

adverse medical events or side effects in treated patients;

lack of effectiveness of the product candidate being tested; and
regulatory requests for additional clinical trials.

Typically, if a drug product is intended to treat a chronic disease, as is
the case with most of the product candidates BioMarin is developing, safety and
efficacy data must be gathered over an extended period of time, which can range
from six months to three years or more.

In May 2001, BioMarin completed a 24-month patient evaluation for the
initial clinical trial of its lead drug product, Aldurazyme, for the treatment
of MPS I. Two of the original ten patients enrolled in this trial died in 2000.
One of these patients received 103 weeks of Aldurazyme treatment and the other
received 137 weeks of treatment. One of the original forty-five patients who
completed the Phase 3 clinical trial died after 16 weeks of the Phase 3
extension study. One patient treated under a single-patient use protocol died
after 31 weeks of Aldurazyme treatment. Based on medical data collected from
clinical investigative sites, none of these cases directly implicated treatment
with Aldurazyme as the cause of death. If cases of patient complications or
death are ultimately attributed to Aldurazyme, BioMarin's chances of
commercializing this drug would be seriously compromised.

The fast track designation for BioMarin's product candidates may not
actually lead to a faster review process and a delay in the review process or
approval of its products will delay revenue from the sale of the products and
will increase the capital necessary to fund these programs.

Aldurazyme and Aryplase have obtained fast track designations, which
provides certain advantageous procedures and guidelines with respect to the
review by the FDA of the BLA for these products and which may result in
BioMarin's receipt of an initial response from the FDA earlier than would be
received if these products had not received a fast track designation. However,
these procedures and guidelines do not guarantee that the total review process
will be shorter than, or that approval will be obtained, if at all, earlier
than, would be the case if the products had not received fast track
designation. If the review process or approval for either product is delayed,
realizing revenue from the sale of these products will be delayed and the
capital necessary to fund these programs will be increased.

BioMarin will not be able to sell its drug products if it fails to comply
with manufacturing regulations.

Before BioMarin can begin commercial manufacture of its drug products, it
must obtain regulatory approval of its manufacturing facility and process. In

addition, manufacture of BioMarin's drug products must comply
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with the FDA's current Good Manufacturing Practices regulations, commonly known
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as cGMP. The cGMP regulations govern quality control and documentation policies
and procedures. BioMarin's manufacturing facilities are continuously subject to
inspection by the FDA, the State of California and foreign regulatory
authorities, before and after product approval. BioMarin's Galli Drive and Bel
Marin Keys Boulevard manufacturing facilities have been inspected and licensed
by the State of California for clinical pharmaceutical manufacture. Due to the
complexity of the processes used to manufacture its products, BioMarin may be
unable to pass federal or international regulatory inspections in a cost
effective manner. For the same reason, any potential third party manufacturer
of BioMarin's drug products may be unable to comply with cGMP regulations in a
cost effective manner.

BioMarin must pass federal, state and European regulatory inspections, and
it must manufacture process qualification batches to final specifications under
cGMP controls for each of its drug products before the marketing applications
can be approved. Although BioMarin has completed process qualification batches
for Aldurazyme, these batches may be rejected by the regulatory authorities,
and BioMarin may be unable to manufacture the process qualification batches for

BioMarin's other products or pass the inspections in a timely manner, if at all.

If BioMarin fails to obtain orphan drug exclusivity for some of its
products, BioMarin's competitors may sell products to treat the same conditions
and its revenues will be reduced.

As part of BioMarin's business strategy, it intends to develop some drugs
that may be eligible for FDA and European Community orphan drug designation.
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a product as an orphan drug if
it is a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, defined as a
patient population of less than 200,000 in the United States. The company that
first obtains FDA approval for a designated orphan drug for a given rare
disease receives marketing exclusivity for use of that drug for the stated
condition for a period of seven years. However, different drugs can be approved
for the same condition. Similar regulations are available in the European
Community with a ten year period of market exclusivity.

Because the extent and scope of patent protection for BioMarin's drug
products is limited, orphan drug designation is particularly important for its
products that are eligible for orphan drug designation. BioMarin plans to rely
on the exclusivity period under the orphan drug designation to maintain a
competitive position. If BioMarin does not obtain orphan drug exclusivity for
its drug products, which do not have patent protection, BioMarin's competitors
may then sell the same drug to treat the same condition.

Even though BioMarin has obtained orphan drug designation for certain of its
product candidates and even if it obtains orphan drug designation for other
products it develops, due to the uncertainties associated with developing
pharmaceutical products, BioMarin may not be the first to obtain marketing
approval for any orphan indication or, if BioMarin is the first, that
exclusivity would effectively protect the product from competition. Orphan drug
designation neither shortens the development time or regulatory review time of
a drug nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory review or approval
process.

Because the target patient populations for some of BioMarin's products are
small, it must achieve significant market share and obtain high per-patient
prices for its products to achieve profitability.

Two of BioMarin's lead drug candidates, Aldurazyme and Aryplase, target
diseases with small patient populations. As a result, BioMarin's per-patient
prices must be relatively high in order to recover its development costs and
achieve profitability. Aldurazyme targets patients with MPS I and Aryplase
targets patients with MPS VI. BioMarin estimates that there are approximately
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3,400 patients with MPS I and 1,100 patients with MPS VI in the developed
world. BioMarin believes that it will need to market worldwide to achieve
significant market share. In addition, BioMarin is developing other drug
candidates to treat conditions, such as other genetic diseases and serious burn
wounds, with small patient populations. Due to the expected costs of treatment
for
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Aldurazyme and Aryplase, BioMarin may be unable to obtain sufficient market
share for its drug products at a price high enough to achieve profitability.

If BioMarin fails to obtain an adequate level of reimbursement for its drug
products by third-party payers, the sales of its drugs would be adversely
affected or there may be no commercially viable market for its products.

The course of treatment for patients with MPS I using Aldurazyme and for
patients with MPS VI using Aryplase is expected to be expensive. BioMarin
expects patients to need treatment throughout their lifetimes. BioMarin expects
that most families of patients will not be capable of paying for this treatment
themselves. There will be no commercially viable market for Aldurazyme or
Aryplase without reimbursement from third-party payers. Additionally, even 1if
there is a commercially viable market, if the level of reimbursement is below
BioMarin's expectations, its revenues and gross margins will be adversely
affected.

Third-party payers, such as government or private health care insurers,
carefully review and increasingly challenge the prices charged for drugs.
Reimbursement rates from private companies vary depending on the third-party
payver, the insurance plan and other factors. Reimbursement systems in
international markets vary significantly by country and by region, and
reimbursement approvals must be obtained on a country-by-country basis.

BioMarin currently has no expertise obtaining reimbursement. BioMarin
expects to rely on the expertise of its joint venture partner Genzyme to obtain
reimbursement for the costs of Aldurazyme. In addition, BioMarin will need to
develop its own reimbursement expertise for future drug candidates unless it
enters into collaborations with other companies with the necessary expertise.
BioMarin will not know what the reimbursement rates will be until it is ready
to market the product and it actually negotiates the rates. If BioMarin is
unable to obtain sufficiently high reimbursement rates, its products may not be
commercially viable or BioMarin's future revenues and gross margins may be
adversely affected.

BioMarin expects that, in the future, reimbursement will be increasingly
restricted both in the United States and internationally. The escalating cost
of health care has led to increased pressure on the health care industry to
reduce costs. Governmental and private third-party payers have proposed health
care reforms and cost reductions. A number of federal and state proposals to
control the cost of health care, including the cost of drug treatments, have
been made in the United States. In some foreign markets, the government
controls the pricing which would affect the profitability of drugs. Current
government regulations and possible future legislation regarding health care
may adversely affect reimbursement for medical treatment by third-party payers,
which may render BioMarin's products not commercially viable or may adversely
affect BioMarin's future revenues and gross margins.

If BioMarin is unable to protect its proprietary technology, it may not be
able to compete as effectively.
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Where appropriate, BioMarin seeks patent protection for certain aspects of
its technology. Patent protection may not be available for some of the enzymes
BioMarin is developing. If BioMarin must spend significant time and money
protecting its patents, designing around patents held by others or licensing,
for large fees, patents or other proprietary rights held by others, BioMarin's
business and financial prospects may be harmed.

The patent positions of biotechnology products are complex and uncertain.
The scope and extent of patent protection for some of BioMarin's products are
particularly uncertain because key information on some of the enzymes it is
developing has existed in the public domain for many years. Other parties have
published the structure of the enzymes, the methods for purifying or producing
the enzymes or the methods of treatment. The composition and genetic sequences
of animal and/or human versions of many of BioMarin's enzymes have been
published and are believed to be in the public domain. The composition and
genetic sequences of other MPS
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enzymes that BioMarin intends to develop as products have also been published.
Publication of this information may prevent BioMarin from obtaining
composition-of-matter patents, which are generally believed to offer the
strongest patent protection. For enzymes with no prospect of broad
composition-of-matter patents, other forms of patent protection or orphan drug
status may provide BioMarin with a competitive advantage. As a result of these
uncertainties, investors should not rely on patents as a means of protecting
BioMarin's product candidates, including Aldurazyme.

BioMarin owns or licenses patents and patent applications to certain of its
product candidates. However, these patents and patent applications do not
ensure the protection of BioMarin's intellectual property for a number of other
reasons, including the following:

BioMarin does not know whether its patent applications will result in
issued patents. For example, BioMarin may not have developed a method for
treating a disease before others developed similar methods.

Competitors may interfere with BioMarin's patent process in a variety of
ways. Competitors may claim that they invented the claimed invention
prior to BioMarin. Competitors may also claim that BioMarin is infringing
on their patents and therefore cannot practice BioMarin's technology as
claimed under BioMarin's patent. Competitors may also contest BioMarin's
patents by showing the patent examiner that the invention was not
original, was not novel or was obvious. In litigation, a competitor could
claim that BioMarin's issued patents are not valid for a number of
reasons. If a court agrees, BioMarin would lose that patent. As a
company, BioMarin has no meaningful experience with competitors
interfering with BioMarin's patents or patent applications.

Enforcing patents is expensive and may absorb significant time of
BioMarin's management. Management would spend less time and resources on
developing products, which could increase BioMarin's research and
development expense and delay product programs.

Receipt of a patent may not provide much practical protection. If
BioMarin receives a patent with a narrow scope, then it will be easier
for competitors to design products that do not infringe on BioMarin's

patent.

In addition, competitors also seek patent protection for their technology.
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Due to the number of patents in BioMarin's field of technology, BioMarin cannot
be assured that it does not infringe on those patents or that it will not
infringe on patents granted in the future. If a patent holder believes
BioMarin's product infringes on their patent, the patent holder may sue
BioMarin even if BioMarin has received patent protection for BioMarin's
technology. If someone else claims BioMarin infringes on their technology,
BioMarin would face a number of issues, including the following:

Defending a lawsuit takes significant time and can be very expensive.

If the court decides that BioMarin's product infringes on the
competitor's patent, BioMarin may have to pay substantial damages for
past infringement.

The court may prohibit BioMarin from selling or licensing the product
unless the patent holder licenses the patent to BioMarin. The patent
holder is not required to grant BioMarin a license. If a license is
available, BioMarin may have to pay substantial royalties or grant
cross—licenses to BioMarin's patents.

Redesigning BioMarin's product so it does not infringe may not be
possible or could require substantial funds and time.

It is also unclear whether BioMarin's trade secrets will provide useful
protection. While BioMarin uses reasonable efforts to protect its trade
secrets, its employees or consultants may unintentionally or willfully disclose
BioMarin's information to competitors. Enforcing a claim that someone else
illegally obtained and is using BioMarin's trade secrets, like patent
litigation, 1is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is
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unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less
willing to protect trade secrets. BioMarin's competitors may independently
develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how.

BioMarin may also support and collaborate in research conducted by
government organizations or by universities. These government organizations and
universities may be unwilling to grant BioMarin any exclusive rights to
technology or products derived from these collaborations prior to entering into
the relationship. If BioMarin does not obtain required licenses or rights, it
could encounter delays in product development while BioMarin attempts to design
around other patents or even be prohibited from developing, manufacturing or
selling products requiring these licenses. There is also a risk that disputes
may arise as to the rights to technology or products developed in collaboration
with other parties.

The United States Patent and Trademark Office recently issued two patents
that relate to (alpha)-L-iduronidase. If BioMarin is not able to successfully
challenge these patents, it may be prevented from producing Aldurazyme unless
and until it obtains a license.

The United States Patent and Trademark Office recently issued two patents
that include composition of matter and method of use claims for recombinant
(alpha)-L-iduronidase. BioMarin's lead drug product, Aldurazyme, is based on
recombinant (alpha)-L-iduronidase. BioMarin believes that these patents are
invalid on a number of grounds. A corresponding patent application was filed in
the European Patent Office claiming composition of matter for recombinant
(alpha)-L-iduronidase, and it was rejected over prior art and withdrawn and
cannot be refiled. Nonetheless, under U.S. law, issued patents are entitled to
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a presumption of validity, and BioMarin's challenges to the U.S. patents may be
unsuccessful. Even if BioMarin is successful, challenging the U.S. patents may

be expensive, require BioMarin's management to devote significant time to this

effort and may delay commercialization of Aldurazyme in the United States.

The patent holder has granted an exclusive license for products relating to
these patents to one of BioMarin's competitors. If BioMarin is unable to
successfully challenge the patents, it may be unable to produce Aldurazyme in
the United States unless it can obtain a sublicense from the current licensee.
The current licensee is not required to grant BioMarin a license and even if a
license 1is available, BioMarin may have to pay substantial license fees, which
could materially reduce potential profits from the eventual sale of Aldurazyme.

If BioMarin's joint venture with Genzyme were terminated, BioMarin could be
barred from commercializing Aldurazyme or BioMarin's ability to commercialize
Aldurazyme would be delayed or diminished.

BioMarin is relying on Genzyme to apply the expertise it has developed
through the launch and sale of other enzyme-based products to the marketing of
BioMarin's initial drug product, Aldurazyme. BioMarin has no experience
selling, marketing or obtaining reimbursement for pharmaceutical products. In
addition, without Genzyme, BioMarin would be required to pursue foreign
regulatory approvals. BioMarin has no experience in seeking foreign regulatory
approvals.

Either BioMarin or Genzyme may terminate the joint venture for specified
reasons, including if the other party is in material breach of the agreement or
has experienced a change of control or has declared bankruptcy and also is in
breach of the agreement. Although BioMarin is not currently in breach of the
joint venture agreement and BioMarin believes that Genzyme is not currently in
breach of the joint venture agreement, there is a risk that either Genzyme or
BioMarin could breach the agreement in the future. Either party may also
terminate the agreement upon one-year prior written notice for any reason.
Furthermore, BioMarin may terminate the joint venture if Genzyme fails to
fulfill its contractual obligation to pay BioMarin $12.1 million in cash upon
the approval of the BLA for Aldurazyme.

If the joint venture is terminated for breach, the non-breaching party would
be granted, exclusively, all of the rights to Aldurazyme and any related
intellectual property and regulatory approvals and would be obligated to
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buy out the breaching party's interest in the joint venture. If BioMarin is the
breaching party, it would lose its rights to Aldurazyme and the related
intellectual property and regulatory approvals. If the joint venture is
terminated without cause, the non-terminating party would have the option,
exercisable for one year, to buy out the terminating party's interest in the
joint venture and obtain all rights to Aldurazyme exclusively. In the event of
termination of the buy out option without exercise by the non-terminating party
as described above, all right and title to Aldurazyme is to be sold to the
highest bidder, with the proceeds to be split equally between Genzyme and
BioMarin.

If the joint venture is terminated by either party because the other
declared bankruptcy and is also in breach of the agreement, the terminating
party would be obligated to buy out the other and would obtain all rights to
Aldurazyme exclusively. If the joint venture is terminated by a party because
the other party experienced a change of control, the terminating party shall
notify the other party, the offeree, of its intent to buy out the offeree's
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interest in the joint venture for a stated amount set by the terminating party
at its discretion. The offeree must then either accept this offer or agree to
buy the terminating party's interest in the joint venture on those same terms.

The party who buys out the other would then have exclusive rights to Aldurazyme.

If BioMarin were obligated, or given the option, to buy out Genzyme's
interest in the joint venture, and gain exclusive rights to Aldurazyme,
BioMarin may not have sufficient funds to do so and BioMarin may not be able to
obtain the financing to do so. If BioMarin fails to buy out Genzyme's interest,
BioMarin may be held in breach of the agreement and may lose any claim to the
rights to Aldurazyme and the related intellectual property and regulatory
approvals. BioMarin would then effectively be prohibited from developing and
commercializing the product.

Termination of the joint venture in which BioMarin retains the rights to
Aldurazyme could cause BioMarin significant delays in product launch in the
United States, difficulties in obtaining third-party reimbursement and delays
or failure to obtain foreign regulatory approval, any of which could hurt its
business and results of operations. Since Genzyme funds 50% of the joint
venture's operating expenses, the termination of the joint venture would double
BioMarin's financial burden and reduce the funds available to it for other
product programs.

If BioMarin is unable to manufacture its drug products in sufficient
quantities and at acceptable cost, BioMarin may be unable to meet demand for
its products and lose potential revenues or have reduced margins.

Although BioMarin has successfully manufactured Aldurazyme at commercial
scale within BioMarin's cost parameters, due to the complexity of manufacturing
its products BioMarin may not be able to manufacture any other drug product
successfully with a commercially viable process or at a scale large enough to
support their respective commercial markets or at acceptable margins.

BioMarin's manufacturing processes may not meet initial expectations and
BioMarin may encounter problems with any of the following measurements of
performance i1if it attempts to increase the scale or size or improve the

commercial viability of its manufacturing processes:

design, construction and qualification of manufacturing facilities that
meet regulatory requirements;

schedule;
reproducibility;
production yields;
purity;

costs;
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quality control and assurance systems;
shortages of qualified personnel; and
compliance with regulatory requirements.

Improvements in manufacturing processes typically are very difficult to
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achieve and are often very expensive and may require extended periods of time
to develop. If BioMarin contracts for manufacturing services with an unproven
process, BioMarin's contractor is subject to the same uncertainties, high
standards and regulatory controls.

The availability of suitable contract manufacturing at scheduled or optimum
times is not certain. The cost of contract manufacturing is greater than
internal manufacturing and therefore BioMarin's manufacturing processes must be
of higher productivity to yield equivalent margins.

The manufacture of Neutralase involves the fermentation of a bacterial
species. BioMarin has never used a bacterial production process for the
production of any commercial product. IBEX Technologies Inc., from which
BioMarin acquired Neutralase, had contracted with a third party for the
manufacture of the Neutralase used in prior clinical trials.

BioMarin has built-out approximately 51,800 square feet at its Novato
facilities for manufacturing capability for Aldurazyme and Aryplase including
related quality control laboratories, materials capabilities, and support
areas. BioMarin expects to add additional capabilities in stages over time,
which could create additional operational complexity and challenges. BioMarin
expects that the manufacturing process of all of its new drug products,
including Aryplase and Neutralase, will require significant time and resources
before BioMarin can begin to manufacture them (or have them manufactured by
third parties) in commercial quantity at acceptable cost.

In order to achieve BioMarin's product cost targets, it must develop
efficient manufacturing processes either by:

improving the product yield from BioMarin's current cell lines, colonies
of cells which have a common genetic makeup;

improving the manufacturing processes licensed from others; or

developing more efficient, lower cost recombinant cell lines and
production processes.

A recombinant cell line is a cell line with foreign DNA inserted that is
used to produce an enzyme or other protein that it would not have otherwise
produced. The development of a stable, high production cell line for any given
enzyme is difficult, expensive and unpredictable and may not result in adequate
yields. In addition, the development of protein purification processes is
difficult and may not produce the high purity required with acceptable yield
and costs or may not result in adequate shelf-lives of the final products. If
BioMarin is not able to develop efficient manufacturing processes, the
investment in manufacturing capacity sufficient to satisfy market demand will
be much greater and will place heavy financial demands upon BioMarin. If
BioMarin does not achieve its manufacturing cost targets, it will have lower
margins and reduced profitability in commercial production and larger losses in
manufacturing start-up phases.

If BioMarin is unable to expand marketing and distribution capabilities or
to enter into agreements with third parties to do so, BioMarin's ability to
generate revenues will be diminished.

If BioMarin cannot expand capabilities either by developing its sales and
marketing organization or by entering into agreements with others, BioMarin may
be unable to successfully sell its products. BioMarin believes that developing
an internal sales and distribution capability will be expensive and time
consuming.
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Alternatively, BioMarin may enter into agreements with third parties to market
its products. For example, under BioMarin's joint venture with Genzyme, Genzyme
is responsible for marketing and distributing Aldurazyme. However, these third
parties may not be capable of successfully selling any of BioMarin's drug
products.

With BioMarin's acquisition of Neutralase from IBEX Technologies Inc.,
BioMarin has an enzyme product that has a significantly larger potential
patient population than Aldurazyme and Aryplase and will be marketed and sold
to different target audiences with different therapeutic and financial
requirements and needs. As a result, BioMarin will be competing with other
pharmaceutical companies with experienced and well-funded sales and marketing
operations targeting these specific physician and institutional audiences.
BioMarin may not be able to develop its own sales and marketing force at all,
or of a size that would allow it to compete with these other companies. If
BioMarin elects to enter into third-party marketing and distribution agreements
in order to sell into these markets, BioMarin may not be able to enter into
these agreements on acceptable terms, if at all. If BioMarin cannot compete
effectively in these specific physician and institutional markets, it would
adversely affect sales of Neutralase.

If BioMarin fails to compete successfully with respect to product sales, it
may be unable to generate sufficient sales to recover its expenses related to
the development of a product program or to justify continued marketing of a
product.

BioMarin's competitors may develop, manufacture and market products that are
more effective or less expensive than BioMarin's. They may also obtain
regulatory approvals for their products faster than BioMarin can obtain them
(including those products with orphan drug designation) or commercialize their
products before BioMarin does. With respect to Aldurazyme and Aryplase, if
BioMarin's competitors successfully commercialize a product that treats MPS I
or MPS VI, respectively, before BioMarin does, BioMarin may effectively be
precluded from developing a product to treat that disease because the patient
populations of the diseases are so small. If one of BioMarin's competitors gets
orphan drug exclusivity, BioMarin could be precluded from marketing its version
for seven years in the U.S. and ten years in the European Union. However,
different drugs can be approved for the same condition. If BioMarin does not
compete successfully, it may be unable to generate sufficient sales to recover
its expenses related to the development of a product program or to justify
continued marketing of a product.

If BioMarin fails to compete successfully with respect to acquisitions,
joint venture and other collaboration opportunities, it may be limited in its
ability to develop new products and to continue to expand its product pipeline.

BioMarin's competitors compete with it to attract organizations for
acquisitions, joint ventures, licensing arrangements or other collaborations.
To date, several of BioMarin's product programs have been acquired through
acquisitions, such as the programs acquired from IBEX and Synapse, and several
of its product programs have been developed through licensing or collaborative
arrangements, such as Aldurazyme and Vibrilase. These collaborations include
licensing proprietary technology from, and other relationships with, academic
research institutions. If BioMarin's competitors successfully enter into
partnering arrangements or license agreements with academic research
institutions, BioMarin will then be precluded from pursuing those specific
opportunities. Since each of these opportunities is unique, BioMarin may not be
able to find a substitute. Several pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
have already established themselves in the field of enzyme therapeutics,
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including Genzyme, BioMarin's joint venture partner. These companies have
already begun many drug development programs, some of which may target diseases
that BioMarin is also targeting, and have already entered into partnering and
licensing arrangements with academic research institutions, reducing the pool
of available opportunities.

Universities and public and private research institutions are also
competitors with BioMarin. While these organizations primarily have educational
or basic research objectives, they may develop proprietary technology and
acquire patents that BioMarin may need for the development of its drug
products. BioMarin will attempt to
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license this proprietary technology, if available. These licenses may not be
available to BioMarin on acceptable terms, if at all. If BioMarin is unable to
compete successfully with respect to acquisitions, joint venture and other
collaboration opportunities, it may be limited in its ability to develop new
products and to continue to expand its product pipeline.

If BioMarin does not achieve its projected development goals in the time
frames it announces and expects, the commercialization of its products may be
delayed and the credibility of its management may be adversely affected and, as
a result, BioMarin's stock price may decline.

For planning purposes, BioMarin estimates the timing of the accomplishment
of various scientific, clinical, regulatory and other product development
goals, which it sometimes refers to as milestones. These milestones may include
the commencement or completion of scientific studies and clinical trials and
the submission of regulatory filings. From time to time, BioMarin publicly
announces the expected timing of some of these milestones. All of these
milestones are based on a variety of assumptions. The actual timing of these
milestones can vary dramatically compared to BioMarin's estimates, in many
cases for reasons beyond its control. If BioMarin does not meet these
milestones as publicly announced, the commercialization of its products may be
delayed and the credibility of its management may be adversely affected and, as
a result, BioMarin's stock price may decline.

If BioMarin fails to manage its growth or fails to recruit and retain
personnel, its product development programs may be delayed.

BioMarin's rapid growth has strained its managerial, operational, financial
and other resources. BioMarin expects this growth to continue. BioMarin has
entered into a joint venture with Genzyme. If BioMarin receives FDA and/or
foreign government approval to market Aldurazyme, the joint venture will be
required to devote additional resources to support the commercialization of
Aldurazyme.

To manage expansion effectively, BioMarin needs to continue to develop and
improve its research and development capabilities, manufacturing and quality
capacities, sales and marketing capabilities and financial and administrative
systems. BioMarin's staff, financial resources, systems, procedures or controls
may be inadequate to support its operations and its management may be unable to
manage successfully future market opportunities or its relationships with
customers and other third parties.

BioMarin's future growth and success depends on its ability to recruit,
retain, manage and motivate its employees. The loss of key scientific,
technical and managerial personnel may delay or otherwise harm BioMarin's
product development programs. Any harm to BioMarin's research and development
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programs would harm its business and prospects.

Because of the specialized scientific and managerial nature of BioMarin's
business, it relies heavily on its ability to attract and retain qualified
scientific, technical and managerial personnel. In particular, the loss of
Fredric D. Price, BioMarin's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, or Emil D.
Kakkis, M.D., Ph.D., BioMarin's Senior Vice President of Scientific Affairs or
Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D., BioMarin's Senior Vice President for Research and
Development, could be detrimental to BioMarin if it cannot recruit suitable
replacements in a timely manner. While Mr. Price, Dr. Kakkis and Dr. Starr are
parties to employment agreements with BioMarin, these agreements do not
guarantee that they will remain employed with BioMarin in the future. In
addition, these agreements do not restrict their ability to compete with
BioMarin after their employment is terminated. The competition for qualified
personnel in the biopharmaceutical field is intense. Due to this intense
competition, BioMarin may be unable to continue to attract and retain qualified
personnel necessary for the development of its business.
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Changes in methods of treatment of disease could reduce demand for
BioMarin's products.

Even if BioMarin's drug products are approved, doctors must use treatments
that require using those products. If doctors elect a different course of
treatment from that which includes BioMarin's drug products, this decision
would reduce demand for BioMarin's drug products.

Examples include the potential use in the future of effective gene therapy
for the treatment of genetic diseases. The use of gene therapy could
theoretically reduce or eliminate the use of enzyme replacement therapy in MPS
diseases. Sometimes, this change in treatment method can be caused by the
introduction of other companies' products or the development of new
technologies or surgical procedures which may not directly compete with ours,
but which have the effect of changing how doctors decide to treat a disease.
For example, Neutralase is being developed for heparin reversal in coronary
artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery. It 1is possible that alternative
non-surgical methods of treating heart disease could be developed. If so, then
the demand for Neutralase would likely decrease.

If product liability lawsuits are successfully brought against BioMarin, it
may incur substantial liabilities.

BioMarin is exposed to the potential product liability risks inherent in the
testing, manufacturing and marketing of human pharmaceuticals. The
BioMarin/Genzyme LLC maintains product liability insurance for BioMarin's
clinical trials of Aldurazyme with aggregate loss limits of $5.0 million.
BioMarin has obtained insurance against product liability lawsuits for the
clinical trials for Aryplase and Vibrilase with aggregate loss limits of $8.0
million. Pharmaceutical companies must balance the cost of insurance with the
level of coverage based on estimates of potential liability. Historically, the
potential liability associated with product liability lawsuits for
pharmaceutical products has been unpredictable. Although BioMarin believes that
its current insurance is a reasonable estimate of its potential liability and
represents a commercially reasonable balancing of the level of coverage as
compared to the cost of the insurance, BioMarin may be subject to claims in
connection with its current clinical trials for Aldurazyme, Aryplase and
Vibrilase for which the joint venture's or BioMarin's insurance coverages are
not adequate.
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If Aldurazyme, Aryplase or Vibrilase receives FDA approval, the product
liability insurance the joint venture or BioMarin will need to obtain in
connection with the commercial sales of Aldurazyme, Aryplase or Vibrilase may
be unavailable in meaningful amounts or at a reasonable cost. In addition,
while BioMarin takes, and continues to take, what it believes are appropriate
precautions, it may be unable to avoid significant liability if any product
liability lawsuit is brought against it. If BioMarin is the subject of a
successful product liability claim that exceeds the limits of any insurance
coverage BioMarin may obtain, it may incur substantial liabilities that would
adversely affect BioMarin's earnings and require the commitment of capital
resources that might otherwise be available for the development and
commercialization of BioMarin's product programs.

BioMarin's stock price may be volatile, and an investment in BioMarin's
stock could suffer a decline in value.

BioMarin's valuation and stock price since the beginning of trading after
its initial public offering has had no meaningful relationship to current or
historical earnings, asset values, book value or many other criteria based on
conventional measures of stock value. The market price of BioMarin's common
stock will fluctuate due to factors including:

progress of Aldurazyme, Neutralase, Aryplase and BioMarin's other lead
drug products through the regulatory process, especially regulatory

actions in the United States related to Aldurazyme;

results of clinical trials, announcements of technological innovations or
new products by BioMarin or BioMarin's competitors;
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government regulatory action affecting BioMarin's drug products or its
competitors' drug products in both the United States and foreign
countries;

developments or disputes concerning patent or proprietary rights;

general market conditions and fluctuations for the emerging growth and
biopharmaceutical market sectors;

economic conditions in the United States or abroad;
actual or anticipated fluctuations in BioMarin's operating results;

broad market fluctuations in the United States or in Europe, which may
cause the market price of BioMarin's common stock to fluctuate; and

changes in company assessments or financial estimates by securities
analysts.

In addition, the value of BioMarin's common stock may fluctuate because it
is listed on both Nasdag and the Swiss Exchange's SWX New Market. Listing on
both exchanges may increase stock price volatility due to:

trading in different time zones;

different ability to buy or sell BioMarin's stock;

different market conditions in different capital markets; and
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different trading volume.

In the past, following periods of large price declines in the public market
price of a company's securities, securities class action litigation has often
been initiated against that company. Litigation of this type could result in
substantial costs and diversion of management's attention and resources, which
would hurt BioMarin's business. Any adverse determination in litigation could
also subject BioMarin to significant liabilities.

If BioMarin's officers and directors elect to act together, they may be able
to control BioMarin's management and operations, acting in their best interests
and not necessarily those of other stockholders.

BioMarin's directors and officers (and their respective affiliates, not
including Glyko) control approximately [5.4%] of the outstanding shares of
BioMarin's common stock and Glyko owns approximately [21.3%] of the outstanding
shares of BioMarin's capital stock, based on the number of issued and
outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock as of , 2002. The President
and Chief Executive Officer of Glyko and a significant shareholder of Glyko
serve as two of BioMarin's directors. As a result, due to their concentration
of stock ownership, directors and officers, if they act together, may be able
to control BioMarin's management and operations, and may be able to prevail on
all matters requiring a stockholder vote including:

The election of all directors;

The amendment of charter documents or the approval of a merger, sale of
assets or other major corporate transactions; and

The defeat of any non-negotiated takeover attempt that might otherwise
benefit the public stockholders.

Assuming completion of the proposed transaction as described in this Joint
Proxy Circular, BioMarin's directors and officers would control approximately
[9%] of the outstanding shares of BioMarin's common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions in BioMarin's charter documents and under Delaware
law may make an acquisition of BioMarin, which may be beneficial to BioMarin's
stockholders, more difficult.

BioMarin is incorporated in Delaware. Certain anti-takeover provisions of
Delaware law and BioMarin's charter documents as currently in effect may make a
change in control of BioMarin more difficult, even if a
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change in control would be beneficial to the stockholders. BioMarin's
anti-takeover provisions include provisions in the certificate of incorporation
providing that stockholders' meetings may only be called by the board of
directors and a provision in the bylaws providing that the stockholders may not
take action by written consent. Additionally, BioMarin's board of directors has
the authority to issue 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to determine the
terms of those shares of stock without any further action by the stockholders.
The rights of holders of BioMarin's common stock are subject to the rights of
the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued. The issuance of
preferred stock could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire a
majority of BioMarin's outstanding voting stock. Delaware law also prohibits
corporations from engaging in a business combination with any holders of 15% or
more of their capital stock until the holder has held the stock for three years
unless, among other possibilities, the board of directors approves the
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transaction. BioMarin's board of directors may use these provisions to prevent
changes in the management and control of BioMarin. Also, under applicable
Delaware law, BioMarin's board of directors may adopt additional anti-takeover
measures in the future.

Risk Relating to Glyko —-—- For Consideration by BioMarin Stockholders

By voting in favor of the transaction, BioMarin stockholders are authorizing
the acquisition of Glyko. Glyko's principal asset is its ownership in BioMarin.
BioMarin stockholders should carefully review the risk relating to Glyko in
deciding whether or not to vote their shares of BioMarin common stock in favor
of the transaction.

Glyko has a history of losses largely due to its investment in BioMarin and
there is no significant guarantee of future profitability.

Glyko has a history of losses largely due to its investment in BioMarin, and
Glyko expects to continue to incur losses due to its share of BioMarin's net
loss resulting from the ongoing research and development of BioMarin's
pharmaceutical product candidates until the completion of the transaction.
Glyko's only significant asset is its [21.3%] ownership of BioMarin's
outstanding capital stock, based on the number of issued and outstanding shares
of BioMarin common stock as of , 2002. As a result of Glyko's sale
of Glyko, Inc. on October 7, 1998, it has no operating activities or
operational employees. In light of the fact that Glyko does not conduct an
operating business, Glyko does not expect to have income to offset its losses.

Risk Regarding Arthur Andersen LLP--For Consideration by BioMarin Stockholders
and Glyko Shareholders

The ability of BioMarin stockholders and Glyko shareholders to recover
against Arthur Andersen LLP, may be limited because neither BioMarin nor Glyko
have been able to obtain, after reasonable efforts, the reissued reports of
Arthur Andersen with respect to the financial statements included in this Joint
Proxy Circular.

The BioMarin consolidated financial statements, the IBEX Therapeutic Enzymes
Division financial statements, and the Glyko financial statements included in
Annexes I, J, K and L to this Joint Proxy Circular have been audited by Arthur
Andersen LLP. Neither BioMarin nor Glyko have been able to obtain, after
reasonable efforts, the reissued reports of Arthur Andersen with respect to the
financial statements included in this Joint Proxy Circular because, among other
reasons, the partner and the audit manager in charge of auditing BioMarin and
Glyko left Arthur Andersen and joined KPMG LLP effective May 9, 2002 and June
11, 2002, respectively. Therefore, in reliance on Rule 437a promulgated under
the Securities Act, BioMarin and Glyko have dispensed with the requirement to
file with this Joint Proxy Circular, the reissued reports of Arthur Andersen
with respect to these financial statements. As a result, the BioMarin
stockholders and the Glyko shareholders will not be able to recover against
Arthur Andersen under Section 11 of the Securities Act for any untrue statement
of a material fact contained in these financial statements or any omissions to
state a material fact required to be stated therein. In addition, the ability
of Arthur Andersen to satisfy any claims properly brought against it may be
limited as a practical matter due to recent developments involving Arthur
Andersen.
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THE ANNUAL MEETING OF BIOMARIN STOCKHOLDERS
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General

The accompanying BioMarin proxy is being furnished in connection with the
solicitation of proxies on behalf of the BioMarin board of directors for use at
the annual meeting of the stockholders of BioMarin. Only holders of record of

BioMarin common stock at the close of business on , 2002 will be
entitled to vote at the BioMarin annual meeting. At the close of business on
the BioMarin record date, there were shares of BioMarin common stock

outstanding and entitled to vote. The shares of BioMarin common stock vote
together as a single class, and each share entitles the holder to one vote on
all matters presented at the BioMarin annual meeting. A majority of the shares
of BioMarin common stock, present in person or by proxy, will constitute a
quorum for the transaction of business. BioMarin's Annual Report, including its
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 as filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, is enclosed with this Joint Proxy Circular.

Date, Time and Place

The annual meeting of stockholders of BioMarin will be held on ,
2002 at 10:00 a.m., California time, at 46 Galli Drive, Novato, California
94949.

Purpose of the Annual Meeting

At the annual meeting, or any adjournment or postponement thereof, BioMarin
stockholders will be asked to consider and vote upon the following proposals:

1. to elect six directors of BioMarin;

2. to approve the transaction with Glyko, including, without limitation,
the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with the
transaction; and

3. to transact such other business as properly may be brought before the
annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the annual meeting.

Additional information regarding the above proposals is included under the
section entitled "Additional Information on Proposals for the Annual Meeting"
described below. The Acquisition Agreement and the Plan of Arrangement are
attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex A and Annex B, respectively.
BioMarin stockholders are encouraged to read the additional information and the
Acquisition Agreement and related exhibits in their entirety and the other
information contained in this Joint Proxy Circular, including the annexes,
carefully before deciding how to vote with respect to the above proposals.

Record Date for the Annual Meeting

BioMarin's board of directors has fixed the close of business on ,
2002 as the record date for determination of BioMarin stockholders entitled to
notice of and to vote at the annual meeting.

Vote Required

Except in certain specific circumstances, the affirmative vote of a majority
of shares present in person or represented by proxy at a duly held annual
meeting at which a quorum is present is required under Delaware law for
approval of proposals presented to stockholders. An exception to this procedure
relates to the election of directors. The six nominees receiving the highest
number of votes "FOR" a director will be elected as directors. This number is
called a plurality.
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The transaction including, without limitation, the issuance of the shares of
BioMarin common stock in connection with the transaction, must be approved by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding BioMarin common stock,
present or represented by proxy at the BioMarin annual meeting. Such
stockholder approval is required under the rules of Nasdag. Under the rules of
Nasdaqg, shareholder approval is required because BioMarin will issue shares of
its common stock representing, in the aggregate, in excess of 20% of its
outstanding common stock prior to such issuance and one of BioMarin's
directors, Mr. Gywnn Williams, will receive approximately 8.3% of the shares of
BioMarin common stock to be issued in this transaction. If BioMarin were to
consummate the transaction without stockholder approval, BioMarin common stock
could be subject to delisting by Nasdag. It is a condition to the obligation of
BioMarin to close the transaction that the approval of its stockholders to the
transaction as described herein be obtained.

Quorum

BioMarin's bylaws provide that a majority of all issued and outstanding
voting shares of BioMarin as of the record date, represented in person or by
proxy, constitutes a quorum for the transaction of business at the annual
meeting. If a quorum is not present, in person or by proxy, then either the
chairman of the annual meeting or stockholders entitled to vote at the annual
meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, will have the power to
adjourn the annual meeting from time to time, without notice other than an
announcement at the annual meeting, until a quorum is present. At any adjourned
annual meeting at which a quorum is present, any business may be transacted
that might have been transacted as originally notified. If the adjournment is
for more than thirty days, or if after that adjournment a new record date is
fixed for the adjourned annual meeting, a notice of the adjourned annual
meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the
adjourned annual meeting.

Voting of Proxies at Annual Meeting and Revocability of Proxies

All shares represented by valid proxies received prior to the annual meeting
will be voted and, where a stockholder specifies by means of the proxy a choice
with respect to any matter to be acted upon, the shares will be voted in
accordance with the specification so made.

Votes cast by proxy or in person at the annual meeting will be tabulated by
the Inspector of Elections (the "Inspector") who will be an employee of
BioMarin's transfer agent. The Inspector will also determine whether or not a
quorum is present. The Inspector will treat shares that are voted "AGAINST" or
"ABSTAIN" as being present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining the
presence of a quorum but such shares will not be treated as votes in favor of
approving any matter submitted to the stockholders for a vote. When proxies are
properly dated, executed and returned, the shares represented by such proxies
will be voted at the annual meeting in accordance with the instructions of the
stockholder. If no specific instructions are given, the shares will be voted
(1) for the election of the nominees for directors set forth herein; (ii) for
the transaction including, without limitation, the issuance of the shares of
BioMarin common stock to be issued in connection with the transaction; and
(iii) at the discretion of the proxyholder, upon such other business as may
properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement
thereof. Proxyholders who have been granted discretionary authority will have
discretionary authority to vote only on those matters that BioMarin, at a
reasonable time before solicitation of proxies began, was not aware would be
presented for action at the meeting. As of the date of mailing this Joint Proxy
Circular, other than the matters related to Proposals 1 and 2, BioMarin was not
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aware of any other matters that would be presented for action at its annual
meeting.

If a broker indicates on the enclosed proxy or its substitute that such
broker does not have discretionary authority as to certain shares to vote on a
particular matter, those shares will not be considered as present with respect
to that matter. BioMarin believes that the tabulation procedures to be followed
by the Inspector are consistent with the general statutory requirements under
Delaware law concerning voting of shares and determination of a quorum.
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A stockholder who has given a proxy may revoke it at any time before it is
exercised at the BioMarin annual meeting, by (1) delivering to the secretary of
BioMarin (by any means, including facsimile) a written notice stating that the
proxy is revoked, (2) signing and so delivering a proxy bearing a later date or
(3) attending the BioMarin annual meeting and voting in person (although
attendance at the BioMarin annual meeting will not, by itself, revoke a proxy).

Solicitation of Proxies and Expenses

BioMarin is soliciting proxies for the BioMarin annual meeting from
BioMarin's stockholders and Glyko is soliciting proxies for the Glyko special
meeting from its shareholders. BioMarin will bear costs incurred by BioMarin
related to the solicitation of proxies of its stockholders, including expenses
in connection with preparing and mailing this Joint Proxy Circular to its
stockholders. In addition, upon request BioMarin will reimburse brokerage firms
and other persons representing beneficial owners of shares of BioMarin common
stock for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in forwarding solicitation
material to such beneficial owners. Proxies may also be solicited by certain of
BioMarin's directors, officers and regular employees, without additional
compensation, in person or by telephone, or facsimile, or e-mail or telegram.

BioMarin has retained Morrow & Co., Inc. to assist it in the solicitation of
proxies. BioMarin has agreed to pay customary fees to Morrow & Co. for its
services 1in soliciting proxies for BioMarin's annual meeting and has agreed to
reimburse Morrow & Co. for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for these services.

Dissenters' or Appraisal Rights

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, holders of BioMarin common stock
will not be entitled to demand appraisal of, or to receive payment for, their
shares of BioMarin common stock.

Submission of Stockholder Proposals for 2003 Annual Meeting

Stockholders, who intend to submit a proposal for inclusion in BioMarin's
proxy materials for the 2003 annual meeting of stockholders of BioMarin, must
submit the proposal to BioMarin no later than , 2002. Stockholders
who intend to present a proposal at the 2003 annual meeting of stockholders
without inclusion of such proposal in BioMarin's proxy materials for the 2003
annual meeting are required to provide notice of such proposal to BioMarin no
later than , 2003. BioMarin reserves the right to reject, rule out of
order, or take other appropriate action with respect to any proposal that does
not comply with these and other applicable requirements.

Auditors

Arthur Andersen LLP, certified public accountants, were the independent
auditors of BioMarin from BioMarin's inception on March 21, 1997 until June 11,
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2002. During that time, Arthur Andersen LLP audited BioMarin's financial
statements annually.

Effective as of June 11, 2002, BioMarin dismissed Arthur Andersen LLP as its
independent accountants. BioMarin's Audit Committee recommended the dismissal
of Arthur Andersen LLP and the entire board of directors of BioMarin
participated in and approved such dismissal. Effective as of the same date,
BioMarin engaged KPMG LLP as its new independent accountants. BioMarin's audit
committee recommended this action which was approved unanimously by its board
of directors.

The reports of Arthur Andersen LLP on BioMarin's financial statements for
the past two fiscal years contained no adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion
and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting
principle. In connection with BioMarin's audits for the two most recent fiscal
years and through June 11, 2002, there were no disagreements with Arthur
Andersen LLP on any matter of accounting
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principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or
procedure, which disagreements if not resolved to the satisfaction of Arthur
Andersen LLP would have caused them to make reference thereto in their report
on the financial statements for such years. During the two most recent fiscal
years and through June 11, 2002, there have been no reportable events (as
defined in Item 304 (a) (1) (v) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act).

During the two most recent fiscal years and through June 11, 2002, BioMarin
has not consulted with KPMG LLP regarding either:

the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction,
either completed or proposed; or the type of audit opinion that might be
rendered on BioMarin's financial statements, and either a written report
was provided to BioMarin or oral advice was provided that KPMG LLP
concluded was an important factor considered by BioMarin in reaching a
decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or

any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement, as that term is
defined in Item 304 (a) (1) (iv) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act
and the related instructions to Item 304 of Regulation S-K under the
Securities Act, or a reportable event, as that term is defined in Item
304 (a) (1) (v) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act.

Representatives of KPMG LLP plan to attend the BioMarin annual meeting and
will be available to answer questions and, although they do not expect to do
so, they will have the opportunity to make a statement if they so desire. It is
not expected that a representative of Arthur Andersen LLP will be present at
the annual meeting. However, KPMG LLP has advised BioMarin that its
representatives will be familiar with and able to answer questions regarding
BioMarin's financial statements for the most recently completed fiscal year.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, Arthur Andersen LLP billed BioMarin
the following amounts for the respective professional services:

2N S Ve B T Y $150,000
Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees.......... $ 0
2N O O ol o 1l Y Y $198,854
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The Audit Committee has considered the nature and amount of these fees and
believes that the provision of the services relating to Financial Information
Systems and All Other Fees is compatible with maintaining Arthur Andersen LLP's
independence.

Other Matters

BioMarin is not aware of any other matters to come before the annual meeting
of the stockholders of BioMarin other than as set forth in the Notice of Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. If any other matter properly comes before the meeting,
it is the intention of the persons named in the enclosed proxy form to vote the
shares represented thereby in accordance with their best judgment on such
matter.

Additional Information on Proposals for the Annual Meeting
Proposal One: Election of Directors

BioMarin has a board of directors currently consisting of six directors. Six
members of BioMarin's board of directors will be elected at the annual meeting.
The proxy holders may not vote the proxies for a greater number of persons than
the number of nominees named. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy holders
will vote the proxies received by them for the six nominees named below, all of
whom are presently directors of BioMarin. If any nominee is unable or declines
to serve as a director at the time of the annual meeting, the proxies will be
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voted for any nominees who shall be designated by the present board of
directors to fill the vacancy. It is not expected that any nominee will be
unable to or will decline to serve as a director. If BioMarin stockholders
nominate additional persons for election as directors, the proxy holder will
vote all proxies received by him to assure the election of as many of the board
of directors' nominees as possible with the proxy holder making any required
selection of specific nominees to be voted for. The term of office of each
person elected as a director shall continue until the next annual meeting of
BioMarin stockholders or until that person's successor has been elected. If a
quorum is present, the six nominees receiving the highest number of affirmative
votes of the votes cast shall be elected as directors.

Nominees For Director

Set forth below is certain information regarding the nominees to the board
of directors of BioMarin:

Name Age Position with BioMarin
Fredric D. Price.....cuuiiiiiiinnnennn. 56 Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
of the Board
Franz L. Cristiani(2) ....uuuuieieennn. 61 Director
Phyllis I. Gardner, M.D.(1)(2).......... 51 Director
Erich Sager (1) (2) « v vt i it 43 Director
Vijay B. Samant........iiiiiiiiieeeennnn 49 Director
Gwynn R. Williams(1l) (2) . e eieenen... 67 Director

Director Since

October 2000

June 2002
September 2001
November 1997

June 2002

October 1996
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(1) Member of BioMarin's Compensation Committee.
(2) Member of BioMarin's Audit Committee.

Each nominee to the BioMarin board of directors has consented to being named
in the Joint Proxy Circular and to serve as a director if elected. There is no
family relationship between any director and any executive officer of BioMarin.

Fredric D. Price was elected Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer of BioMarin on October 31, 2000. From September 1994 to September 2000,
he was President, Chief Executive Officer, and a member of the Board of
Directors of Applied Microbiology/AMBI, a biotechnology and nutrition company.
From July 1991 to September 1994, he was Vice President Finance &
Administration and Chief Financial Officer of Regeneron Pharmaceuticals. From
March 1986 to July 1991, he was a pharmaceuticals and biotechnology industry
strategy consultant. For the 13 previous years, he was employed by Pfizer
Pharmaceuticals where he was a Vice President with both staff and line
responsibilities. Mr. Price received a B.A. in 1967 from Dartmouth College and
an M.B.A. in 1969 from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania. He
is a member of the advisory board of equity4life, a health care investment
company based in Zurich, Switzerland, and a member of the board of directors of
LifeSpan BioSciences, Inc., a biotechnology company based in Seattle,
Washington.

Franz L. Cristiani was appointed to the BioMarin board of directors in June
2002 and serves as chairman of its audit committee. Mr. Cristiani provided
consulting services to BioMarin from January 2002 to May 2002. From 1964 to

1999, he was with Arthur Andersen LLP, as Partner since 1976, with
clients in high-technology, life-sciences, manufacturing, mining, forest
products, distribution, publishing and food products industries. At Arthur
Andersen, he specialized in public companies and had extensive hands-on
experience with public filings and financings. He holds a B.A. from San
Francisco State University and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Phyllis I. Gardner, M.D. has served as a director of BioMarin since
September 2001. She is an Associate Professor (with tenure) of Medicine and
Pharmacology, Stanford University School of Medicine, where she has been since
1984. Dr. Gardner served as Vice President of Research and Principal Scientist
of ALZA Corporation, a pharmaceutical company, from 1996 to 1998, having served
as Principal Scientist and Consultant, ALZA
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Technology Institute of ALZA Corporation from 1994 to 1996 (while on leave from
Stanford) . She is a co-founder of Genomics Collaborative, Inc., as well as a
co-founder and director of CambriaTech Investment Fund and Xeragen, Inc. She is
currently serving as the interim Chief Executive Officer of Xeragen. She also
serves on the board of directors of Aerogen Corporation and Health Hero Network
Corporation and on the scientific advisory boards of Vical, Inc., iMEDD, Inc.
and LifetecNet, Inc. Dr. Gardner received a B.S. from the University of
Illinois in 1972 and an M.D. from the Harvard Medical School in 1976.

Erich Sager has served as a director of BioMarin since November 1997. Since
September 1996, Mr. Sager has served as the Chairman of LaMont Asset Management
SA, a private investment management firm. From April 1994 to August 1996, Mr.
Sager served as Senior Vice President, Head of Private Banking for Dresdner
Bank (Switzerland) Ltd. From September 1991 to March 1994, Mr. Sager served as
Vice President, Private Banking-Head German Desk for Deutsche Bank
(Switzerland) Ltd. From 1981 to 1989, Mr. Sager held various positions at a
number of banks in Switzerland. Mr. Sager serves as a director of Restoragen,
Inc., Dentalview, Inc., Kimsa Holding, LaMont Asset Management, SA and Sermont
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Asset Management, SA. Mr. Sager received a Business Degree from the School of
Economics and Business Administration in Zurich, Switzerland.

Vijay B. Samant was appointed to the BioMarin board of directors in June
2002. He has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Vical
Incorporated, a biopharmaceutical company, since November 2000. From

1998 to 2000, he was the Chief Operating Officer of the Vaccine
Division at Merck & Co., Inc. From 1990 to 1998, he served in the
Manufacturing Division of Merck as Vice President of Vaccine Operations, Vice
President of Business Affairs, and Executive Director of Materials Management.
Mr. Samant earned his M.B.A. from the Sloan School of Management at the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1983. He received a master's degree in
chemical engineering from Columbia University in 1977 and a bachelor's degree
in chemical engineering from the University of Bombay, University Department of
Chemical Technology, India, in 1975.

Gwynn R. Williams has served as a director of BioMarin since its
incorporation. Mr. Williams founded AstroMed Limited and Astroscan Limited, UK
manufacturers of scientific equipment, in March 1984, which entities, in
December 1997, merged into Life Science Resources Ltd. Previously, Mr. Williams
was a partner of Arthur Andersen & Co., a mathematician with General Motors
Research, and a mathematician with British Steel. Mr. Williams was a founder of
Glyko Biomedical Ltd. and its predecessor Glyko, Inc. Mr. Williams received a
B.S. in Theoretical Physics from the University of Wales.

Board Meetings and Board Committees

The board of directors manages the business of BioMarin. It establishes
overall policies and standards for BioMarin and reviews the performance of
management. In addition, the board has established an Audit Committee, a
Compensation Committee, and a Non-officer Option Committee whose functions are
briefly described below. The board has not established a Nominating Committee.

The board of directors of BioMarin held a total of 11 meetings during the
year ended December 31, 2001 and took action by unanimous written consent on
three occasions. No director participated in fewer than 75% of all such
meetings and actions of the board of directors and the committees thereof held
during fiscal 2001, if any, upon which such director served.

Audit Committee. The Audit Committee provides oversight of the (i)
financial reporting process, the system of internal controls and the audit
process of BioMarin and (ii) BioMarin's independent auditors. The Audit
Committee also recommends to the board of directors the appointment of
BioMarin's independent certified public accountants. On June 15, 2000, the
board adopted a new written Audit Committee Charter (the "Audit Charter"), a
copy of which was included with BioMarin's proxy statement related to the 2001
annual meeting of its stockholders. As also required by the Audit Charter, each
of the members of the Audit Committee is an
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independent director as defined by Nasdag Rule 4200 (a) (15). The members of the
Audit Committee are Mr. Cristiani, Dr. Gardner, Mr. Sager, and Mr. Williams.
During the fiscal year 2001, the Audit Committee met on 5 occasions.

Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee, which consists of Dr.
Gardner, Mr. Sager and Mr. Williams, sets general compensation policy for
BioMarin and has final approval power over compensation of executive officers.
The Compensation Committee also has final approval power over guidelines and
criteria for employees' bonuses and administers BioMarin's 1997 Stock Plan and
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1998 Director Option Plan. The Compensation Committee met once in 2001.

Non-officer Option Committee. The Non-officer Option Committee, which
consists of Mr. Price, determines grants of stock options to non-officer
employees of BioMarin pursuant to BioMarin's 1997 Stock Plan. The stock grants
by the Non-officer Option Committee may be made only within the guidelines and
parameters established by the Compensation Committee.

Section 16 (a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16 (a) of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires
BioMarin's directors and officers and persons who own more that 10% of a
registered class of BioMarin's equity securities to file reports of ownership
and reports of changes in the ownership with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Executive
officers, directors, and greater than 10% stockholders are required by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission to furnish BioMarin with copies of all
Section 16(a) forms they file.

To the best of BioMarin's knowledge, based solely on review of the copies of
such reports furnished to BioMarin or written representations that no other
reports were required, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, all
officers, directors, and 10% stockholders complied with all Section 16 (a)
filing requirements.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of the members of the Compensation Committee is currently or has been,
at any time since the formation of BioMarin, an officer or employee of
BioMarin. No member of the Compensation Committee serves as a member of the
board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more
executive officers serving as a member of BioMarin's board of directors or
Compensation Committee.

The board of directors of BioMarin unanimously recommends voting FOR the
election of each of the foregoing nominees to its board of directors.

Proposal Two: Approval of the Transaction

The disinterested members of BioMarin's board of directors, which
constitutes a majority of BioMarin's board of directors, believe that the terms
of the transaction are fair to the stockholders of BioMarin and in the best
interests of BioMarin and have unanimously approved the transaction including,
without limitation, the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in
connection with the transaction.

The disinterested members of BioMarin's board of directors, which
constitutes a majority of the board of directors, recommend that the
stockholders of BioMarin vote FOR the transaction including, without
limitation, the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with
the transaction. In considering such recommendation, BioMarin stockholders
should be aware that some BioMarin directors have interests in the transaction
that are different from, or in addition to, those of BioMarin stockholders, and
that BioMarin provides indemnification to directors and officers of BioMarin.
See "The Transaction--Interests of Certain Persons in the Transaction."
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The matters to be considered at the annual meeting are of great importance
to the stockholders of BioMarin. Accordingly, you are urged to read and
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carefully consider the information presented in this Joint Proxy Circular, and
to complete, date, sign and promptly return the enclosed BioMarin proxy card in
the enclosed postage paid envelope.

Contact for Questions and Assistance in Voting

Any BioMarin stockholder who has a question about the transaction, the
issuance of shares in connection with the transaction, or how to vote or revoke
a proxy, or who wishes to obtain additional copies of this Joint Proxy
Circular, should contact BioMarin's proxy solicitor at the address or telephone
number listed below:

Morrow & Co., Inc.
445 Park Avenue--5th Floor
New York, NY 10022
1-800-607-0088

If you need additional copies of this Joint Proxy Circular or voting
materials, you should contact Morrow & Co. Inc. as described above.
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THE SPECIAL MEETING OF GLYKO SHAREHOLDERS
General

Glyko is furnishing this Joint Proxy Circular to its shareholders in
connection with the solicitation of proxies by management of Glyko for use at
the Glyko special meeting to be held on , 2002.

Date, Time and Place

The special meeting of shareholders of Glyko will be held on ,
2002 at 10:00 a.m., Toronto time, at the offices of Blake, Cassels & Graydon
LLP, 199 Bay Street, Suite 2300, Commerce Court West, Toronto, Ontario M5L 1A9.

Purpose of the Special Meeting
At the Glyko special meeting, Glyko shareholders will be asked:

1. to consider, pursuant to an order of the Superior Court of Justice
(Ontario) dated , 2002, and, if deemed advisable, to pass,
with or without variation, the Glyko arrangement resolution attached as
Annex C to this Joint Proxy Circular to approve the arrangement under
Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act involving the
indirect acquisition by BioMarin of all the issued and outstanding
common shares of Glyko;

2. 1if the special resolution approving the above mentioned arrangement is
approved, to consider, and if deemed advisable, to pass, with or without
variation, the Glyko continuance resolution attached as Annex D to this
Joint Proxy Circular to approve the continuance of Glyko under the laws
of British Columbia; and

3. to transact such further or other business as may properly come before
the Glyko special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Glyko will not proceed with the transaction unless both the arrangement
resolution and the continuance resolution are approved by shareholders.
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A copy of the Acquisition Agreement and the Plan of Arrangement are attached
to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex A and Annex B, respectively. Glyko
shareholders are encouraged to read the Acquisition Agreement and related
exhibits in their entirety and the other information contained in this Joint
Proxy Circular, including the annexes, carefully before deciding how to vote.

Record Date for Special Meeting

Pursuant to the interim order in respect of the arrangement the record date
for determining the Glyko shareholders entitled to notice of and to attend in
person, or appoint a proxy nominee to attend, and vote at the special meeting
will be , 2002.

Vote Required

The Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko continuance resolution must
be approved by not less than two-thirds of the votes cast by the holders of
Glyko common shares, voting in person or by proxy, at the Glyko special
meeting. The Glyko common shares vote together as a single class, and each
common share entitles the holder to one vote on all matters presented at the
Glyko special meeting.

As of ., 2002, there were 34,352,823 Glyko common shares outstanding and
there were options outstanding entitling holders thereof to acquire 81,397
Glyko common shares. Shareholders representing
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approximately 27.3% of the Glyko common shares have agreed, subject to certain
conditions, to vote their shares in favor of the Glyko arrangement resolution
and the Glyko continuance resolution and to otherwise support the transaction.

The Glyko shareholders whose names were entered on the register of
shareholders of Glyko at the close of business on ., 2002 will be entitled
to receive notice of and to attend in person, or appoint a proxy nominee to
attend, the Glyko special meeting and to vote on a show of hands and, on a
poll, one vote for each Glyko common share held on that date.

The list of shareholders of Glyko will be available for inspection on and
after ., 2002, during usual business hours at the Toronto office of Glyko's
transfer agent (Computershare Trust Company of Canada) and at the special
meeting.

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of Glyko, as at .y
2002, no person or company beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or
exercised control or direction over, Glyko common shares carrying more than 10%
of the voting rights attributable to all the outstanding Glyko common shares.

Quorum

At least two persons present in person or by proxy or by any other duly
authorized representative shall constitute a quorum for any meeting of the
shareholders of Glyko if the persons so present are shareholders of Glyko and
entitled to cast, in the aggregate, not less than 33% of the votes which all of
the shareholders of Glyko are entitled to cast; provided that, if at the
opening of any meeting a quorum is not present, one or more persons present in
person or by proxy or by any other duly authorized representative shall
constitute a quorum to adjourn the meeting of the shareholders of Glyko if the
person or persons so present hold at least one common share of Glyko.
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Non—-Registered Shareholders

Non-registered shareholders should follow the directions of their
intermediaries with respect to the procedures to be followed for voting.
Generally, non-registered shareholders will not receive the same proxy form as
distributed by Glyko to registered shareholders but will be provided with
either a request for voting instructions or a proxy form executed by the
intermediary but otherwise uncompleted. Intermediaries will then submit votes
on behalf of the non-registered shareholders. If you are a non-registered
shareholder, please submit your voting instructions to your intermediary in
sufficient time to ensure that your votes are received by Glyko on or before
5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on ., 2002.

Voting of Proxies at Special Meeting and Revocation of Proxies

The form of proxy accompanying this Joint Proxy Circular confers
discretionary authority upon the proxy nominee with respect to any amendments
or variations to the matters identified in the notice of special meeting of
shareholders of Glyko and any other matter which may properly come before the
Glyko special meeting or any adjournment thereof. Proxyholders who have been
granted discretionary authority will have discretionary authority to vote only
on those matters that Glyko, at a reasonable time before solicitation of
proxies began, was not aware would be presented for action at the meeting. As
of the date of mailing this Joint Proxy Circular, other than the matters
referred to under "Purpose of the Special Meeting" above, Glyko was not aware
of any other matters that would be presented for action at its special meeting.

If a proxy given to Glyko management is signed and returned, the securities
represented by the proxy will be voted for or against the Glyko arrangement
resolution and the Glyko continuance resolution, in accordance with the
instructions marked on the proxy. If no instructions are marked, the securities

47

represented by such a proxy will be voted FOR the Glyko arrangement resolution
and FOR the Glyko continuance resolution and in accordance with Glyko
management's recommendation with respect to amendments or variations of the
matters set out in the Glyko notice of special meeting or any other matters
which may properly come before the Glyko special meeting.

The persons named in the Glyko forms of proxy are directors or officers of
Glyko. A Glyko shareholder has the right to appoint a person (who need not be a
Glyko shareholder) to represent such shareholder at the Glyko special meeting
other than the persons designated in the forms of proxy and may exercise such
right by inserting the name in full of the desired person in the blank space
provided in the Glyko forms of proxy and striking out the names now designated.

Shareholders who do not expect to attend the Glyko special meeting in person
are requested to complete, sign, date and return the enclosed form of proxy in
the enclosed envelope addressed to Glyko Biomedical Ltd., c/o Computershare
Trust Company of Canada, 100 University Avenue, 9th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada M5J 2Y1, facsimile number (416) 981-9800. The Glyko form of proxy must
be received by no later than 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on ., 2002 or, in the
event that the Glyko special meeting is adjourned or postponed, by no later
than 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the second business day prior to the day fixed
for the adjourned or postponed Glyko special meeting.

A Glyko shareholder executing the form of proxy enclosed with the Glyko
circular has the power to revoke it by instrument in writing executed by the
Glyko shareholder or an attorney authorized in writing or, where the Glyko
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shareholder is a corporation, by a duly authorized officer or attorney of the
corporation. The instrument of revocation must be delivered to Glyko Biomedical
Ltd., c/o Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 100 University Avenue, 9/th/
Floor, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 2Y1, facsimile number (416) 981-9800 at any
time up to and including the last business day preceding the date of the Glyko
special meeting or any adjournment thereof or to the Chairman of the Glyko
special meeting on the day of the Glyko special meeting or any adjournment
thereof before any vote in respect of which the proxy is to be used is taken. A
proxy may also be revoked in any other manner permitted by law.

Solicitation of Proxies and Expenses

Glyko is soliciting proxies for the Glyko special meeting from its
shareholders and BioMarin is soliciting proxies for the BioMarin annual meeting
from its stockholders. Glyko will bear the costs incurred by Glyko related to
the solicitation of proxies from its shareholders, including expenses in
connection with preparing and mailing this Joint Proxy Circular to its
shareholders. Proxies may also be solicited by certain of Glyko's directors,
officers and regular employees, without additional compensation, in person or
by telephone or by facsimile or by e-mail.

Dissenting Shareholder Rights

Pursuant to the provisions of the interim order, registered Glyko
shareholders have been granted the right to dissent with respect to the Glyko
arrangement resolution. Pursuant to the provisions of the Canada Business
Corporations Act, registered Glyko shareholders have the right to dissent with
respect to the Glyko continuance resolution. If the arrangement or continuance
becomes effective, a registered Glyko shareholder who dissents will be entitled
to be paid the fair value of its Glyko common shares by Glyko. This right to
dissent is described in this Joint Proxy Circular and in the Plan of
Arrangement which is attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex B. The
dissent procedures require that a registered holder of Glyko common shares who
wishes to dissent must provide to Glyko Biomedical Ltd., 199 Bay Street,
Toronto, Ontario, M5L 1A9, attention John A. Kolada, facsimile number (416)
863-2653, a dissent notice at or prior to the Glyko special meeting. It is
important that Glyko shareholders strictly comply with this requirement and the
other procedural requirements described in the interim order and this Joint
Proxy Circular. Failure to comply strictly with the dissent procedures may
result in the loss or unavailability of any right of dissent. See "Dissenting
Shareholder Rights."
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Shareholder Proposals

Holders of Glyko common shares wishing to raise any matter at Glyko's next
annual meeting of shareholders, which will only be held should the transaction
contemplated hereby not proceed, must have submitted a proposal to Glyko, in
the manner prescribed by the Canada Business Corporations Act, by no later than
May 13, 2002.
Independent Auditors

Arthur Andersen LLP, certified public accountants, are the independent
auditors of Glyko.

Other Matters

As at the date of this Joint Proxy Circular, management of Glyko is not
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aware of any amendments or variations to the Glyko arrangement resolution or
the Glyko continuance resolution, or of any other matter to be presented to
shareholders for consideration at the Glyko special meeting.

Recommendation of the Glyko Board of Directors

The board of directors of Glyko has approved the Acquisition Agreement and
the arrangement and the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement
and the arrangement, including the continuance. Accordingly, the board of
directors recommends that the shareholders of Glyko vote FOR approval of the
Glyko arrangement resolution and FOR approval of the Glyko continuance
resolution. In considering such recommendation, Glyko shareholders should be
aware that some Glyko directors and officers have interests in the transaction
which are different from or in addition to, those of Glyko shareholders
generally, and that BioMarin has agreed to provide indemnification to directors
and officers of Glyko. For more information about these interests see the
section of this Joint Proxy Circular entitled "The Transaction--Interest of
Certain Persons in the Transaction."

The matters to be considered at the Glyko special meeting are of great
importance to the shareholders of Glyko. Accordingly, you are urged to read and
carefully consider the information presented in this Joint Proxy Circular,
including the annexes, and to complete, date, sign and promptly return the
enclosed form of Glyko proxy card in the enclosed postage paid envelope.

Contact for Questions and Assistance in Voting

Any Glyko shareholder who has a question about the transaction, the
arrangement, the continuance, or how to vote or revoke a proxy, or who wishes
to obtain additional copies of this Joint Proxy Circular, should contact:

Shareholder Services Call Centre
Computershare Trust of Canada

Telephone: (800) 663-9097 (toll free in Europe, the United States and Canada)
(514) 982-7270 (Montreal)

Email: caregistryinfo@computershare.com
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THE TRANSACTION

The following is a description of the material aspects of the transaction,
including the Acquisition Agreement, the Plan of Arrangement, and certain other
agreements to be entered into in connection with the transaction. While
BioMarin and Glyko believe that the following description covers the material
terms of the Acquisition Agreement, the Plan of Arrangement and the related
transactions and agreements, the description may not contain all of the
information that is important to you. You should read this entire document and
the other documents referred to carefully for a more complete understanding of
the transaction. In particular, the following summaries of the Acquisition
Agreement and the Plan of Arrangement are not complete and are qualified in
their entirety by reference to the copy of the Acquisition Agreement and the
Plan of Arrangement which are attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex A
and Annex B, respectively, and are incorporated by reference into this Joint
Proxy Circular in their entirety.
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General

The BioMarin board of directors and the Glyko board of directors have each
approved the Acquisition Agreement. The Acquisition Agreement provides that
BioMarin Nova Scotia will acquire all of the Glyko common shares, subject to,
among other things:

approval of the arrangement, including the issuance of shares of BioMarin
common stock, by BioMarin stockholders;

approval of the Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko continuance
resolution by the Glyko shareholders; and

approval of the arrangement by the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario).

Pursuant to the arrangement, BioMarin Nova Scotia will acquire all of the
outstanding common shares of Glyko (other than those of Glyko shareholders who
properly exercise their dissent rights and are paid the fair value of their
shares by Glyko), and the Glyko shareholders (other than those who properly
exercise their dissent rights) will receive from BioMarin Nova Scotia for each
Glyko common share held 0.3309 of a share of BioMarin common stock. To enable
BioMarin Nova Scotia to deliver such shares, BioMarin will issue up to
11,367,617 shares of its common stock in accordance with the terms of the
Acquisition Agreement. As a consequence of the consummation of the arrangement,
Glyko will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of BioMarin. After the
arrangement is completed, BioMarin intends to exchange the 11,367,617 shares of
BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko for shares of Series A Preferred Stock of
BioMarin and to cancel such 11,367,617 shares of common stock. No certificates
representing fractional shares of BioMarin common stock shall be issued upon
the surrender for exchange of certificates representing Glyko common shares. In
lieu of any such fractional securities, each person otherwise entitled to a
fractional interest (after aggregating all fractional shares of BioMarin common
stock that otherwise would be received by such holder) in a share of BioMarin
common stock will be entitled to receive from BioMarin Nova Scotia a cash
payment (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, equal to the
product of (i) such fraction, and (ii) the average closing price of the shares
of BioMarin common stock for the 20 most recent days that BioMarin common stock
has traded ending on the second trading day immediately prior to the effective
date of the arrangement, as reported on Nasdag. In no event will BioMarin Nova
Scotia be required to transfer to holders of Glyko common shares more than, in
the aggregate, 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with
the exchange provided for pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement.

Neither BioMarin nor, to its knowledge, any of its affiliates, directors or
officers, currently owns any Glyko common shares, except for Messrs. Erich
Sager and Gwynn Williams who collectively own or exercise control over
2,858,488 common shares of Glyko. In addition, Erich Sager holds options to
acquire 12,500 Glyko common shares. Based on the number of Glyko common shares
outstanding on , 2002, immediately following completion of the
transaction, the former holders of Glyko common shares will hold in
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the aggregate approximately 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock, and the
holders of Glyko options will hold options to purchase approximately 26,934
shares of BioMarin common stock after such Glyko options are exchanged for
options to purchase shares of BioMarin common stock in accordance with the
provisions of the Acquisition Agreement. Assuming all Glyko common shares are
exchanged for BioMarin common stock, the BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko
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is exchanged for BioMarin preferred stock and such common stock is cancelled
and excluding shares of BioMarin common stock held by former Glyko shareholders
prior to the arrangement, based upon the number of shares of BioMarin common
stock and Glyko common shares outstanding as of , 2002, immediately
following completion of the transaction existing Glyko shareholders would
collectively hold approximately [21.3%] of the outstanding BioMarin common
stock. See "Pro Forma Capitalization of BioMarin."

Glyko shareholders who properly exercise their dissent rights will be
entitled to be paid the fair value of their Glyko common shares. The obligation
of BioMarin to complete the arrangement is subject to the condition that
holders of no more than one percent of the issued and outstanding Glyko common
shares shall have exercised and not withdrawn dissent rights in respect of the
arrangement or the continuance. Dissenters' appraisal rights under the Delaware
General Corporation Law are not available to BioMarin stockholders in
connection with the transaction. See "Dissenting Shareholder Rights."

Treatment of Stock Options

At the implementation time of the arrangement, each Glyko option to purchase
common shares will be exchanged for an option to purchase BioMarin common stock
granted in accordance with BioMarin's 1997 Stock Plan, as amended. Each
replacement option will constitute an option to purchase that number of shares
of BioMarin common stock equal to the product of the exchange ratio (0.3309),
and the number of Glyko common shares subject to the Glyko option, rounding
down to the nearest whole share of BioMarin common stock. Each replacement
option will provide for an exercise price per share of BioMarin common stock
equal to the U.S. dollar equivalent of the exercise price per share of the
Glyko option immediately prior to the implementation time of the arrangement
divided by 0.3309 and rounding up to the nearest cent. The restrictions on
exercise and term of replacement options will otherwise be unchanged from those
of the Glyko options for which they are exchanged.

On , 2002, there were outstanding options to purchase Glyko common
shares which, when vested, would be exercisable to acquire a total of
approximately 81,397 Glyko common shares at prices between Cdn.$4.50 and
Cdn.$6.75 with various expiration dates to January 15, 2006.

Background of the Transaction

The provisions of the Acquisition Agreement are the result of negotiations
conducted among representatives of BioMarin and Glyko and their legal and
financial advisors. The following is a summary of the meetings, negotiations
and discussions between the parties that preceded execution of the Acquisition
Agreement.

On May 24, 2001, Fredric Price, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
BioMarin, Joerg Gruber, the Chairman of Glyko, Erich Sager, the President and
Chief Executive Officer of Glyko as well as a director of BioMarin, and John
Kolada, a director of Glyko, held preliminary discussions at a meeting in
Novato, California concerning the possibility of a transaction in which Glyko
shareholders would become direct shareholders in BioMarin.

The results of this meeting were reported to the Glyko board of directors at
a meeting held on May 31, 2001. At that meeting, the Glyko board of directors
established a transaction committee whose members would be principally
responsible for negotiating any transaction with BioMarin and reporting back to
the full board of directors at regular intervals. It was determined at this
meeting that Erich Sager would not participate in or be made aware of any
discussions involving Glyko's interests in any transaction with BioMarin, given
his status as a
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BioMarin board member. The Glyko board of directors determined that the

transaction committee would comprise Hannes Glaus, Joerg Gruber and John Kolada.

On June 18, 2001, Fredric Price and Joerg Gruber met in London, England to
discuss further a possible combination of the two companies. During that
meeting, the structure of a possible transaction and the potential advantages
of a combination of the two companies were discussed. On the basis of this
meeting, the parties determined that they would continue discussions and would
work toward developing more specific terms for the proposed transaction.

Over the ensuing weeks, BioMarin and Glyko and their respective advisors
discussed various structures for the implementation of a possible transaction
between the two parties. Glyko's transaction committee reported to the full
board of directors on these discussions at its meeting held on June 28, 2001.

At a meeting held on July 9, 2001, the Glyko board of directors again
discussed a possible transaction with BioMarin. At that meeting, the board of
directors determined to appoint TD Securities as its financial advisor and
subsequently engaged TD Securities to act in this capacity.

On July 13, 2001, BioMarin and Glyko entered into a confidentiality
agreement which contained customary standstill, exclusivity and
non-solicitation provisions. Shortly thereafter, BioMarin and Glyko and their
respective legal and financial advisors commenced due diligence investigations
of one another. The parties' due diligence investigations continued throughout
the months of July and August 2001.

On July 24, 2001, the BioMarin board of directors discussed the principal
terms of a transaction whereby BioMarin would acquire the outstanding shares of
Glyko in exchange for BioMarin equity. At this time, the BioMarin board of
directors established a committee of independent board members consisting of
Messrs. Denison and Price with authority to negotiate the terms of the
transaction.

As part of scheduled meetings held on August 2, 19 and 30, 2001, the Glyko
board of directors reviewed the status of discussions and outstanding issues
concerning a possible transaction with BioMarin and, in particular, focused on
certain structural considerations and related tax implications, both for Glyko
and its shareholders.

During August and September 2001, senior management of BioMarin had
discussions with BioMarin's legal and financial advisors in connection with
structural considerations and related tax implications for BioMarin as well as
other business and legal matters. During September 2001, the parties exchanged
preliminary drafts of definitive agreements and continued to discuss the
optimal structure for any transaction that might be implemented by Glyko and
BioMarin.

On September 28, 2001, the BioMarin board of directors determined that any
further discussions regarding a transaction with Glyko would be postponed until
after the unblinding of the Phase 3 Aldurazyme trial and due to certain other
competing corporate priorities. On September 28, 2001, Fredric Price advised
Joerg Gruber that BioMarin wished to postpone further discussions concerning a
possible transaction. This development was reported to Glyko's board of
directors at its meeting held on October 1, 2001, at which time the board of
directors considered at length the implications for Glyko and its shareholders
of a delay in pursuing further a possible transaction with BioMarin.
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On December 13, 2001, the BioMarin board of directors determined to proceed
with discussions regarding the proposed transaction with Glyko, and in late
December 2001, BioMarin advised Glyko that it was prepared to resume
discussions on a transaction whereby BioMarin would acquire Glyko and Glyko
shareholders would become direct shareholders of BioMarin.

During January 2002, further drafts of definitive agreements were
circulated, and BioMarin and Glyko and their respective legal and financial
advisors engaged in extensive discussions and negotiations on the proposed
transaction. An updated confidentiality agreement was signed by BioMarin and
Glyko on January 10, 2002.
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The preliminary drafts of the definitive agreements circulated in January
2002 reflected substantially the same commercial terms as the draft agreements
exchanged in September 2001 between the parties. In particular, the
consideration to be paid to Glyko shareholders in the January 2002 draft
acquisition agreement did not change from that set forth in the September 2001
draft agreement. The changes in the draft agreements distributed in January
2002 were primarily related to the changes in the structure of the transaction
and reflected comments on the agreements received from Glyko and its advisors.
In the draft agreements proposed in September 2001, the transaction
contemplated an exchangeable share structure whereby Glyko shareholders would
have received shares of a Canadian subsidiary of BioMarin that would have been
exchangeable into shares of BioMarin common stock. Due to the additional
complexity and costs of implementing the exchangeable share structure, the
agreement was revised to reflect the current structure.

On February 1, 2002, TD Securities led a due diligence question and answer
session involving BioMarin senior management. Concurrent with such meeting,
representatives of Glyko approached certain affiliates of Glyko about the
possibility of entering into the shareholder support agreements described under
"-— Other Agreements."

On February 5, 2002, the boards of directors of BioMarin and Glyko met
separately to approve the proposed transaction.

At the BioMarin board of directors meeting, BioMarin's financial advisor,
UBS Warburg LLC, reviewed with the BioMarin board of directors financial
aspects of the transaction and informed the BioMarin board that, assuming no
material changes in the transaction and subject to review of the definitive
Acquisition Agreement, it would be in a position to deliver an opinion
regarding the fairness, from a financial point of view, to BioMarin of the
exchange ratio provided for in the transaction upon execution of the definitive
Acquisition Agreement. At this meeting, the disinterested members of the
BioMarin board of directors unanimously approved the proposed transaction,
including the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in connection
therewith, and the Acquisition Agreement, subject to such changes or
modifications to the Acquisition Agreement as the Chief Executive Officer of
BioMarin may determine and subject to receipt of UBS Warburg's opinion, which
was subsequently delivered on February 6, 2002, the date on which the
Acquisition Agreement was executed.

At the Glyko board of directors meeting, a presentation was made by Glyko's
financial advisors, TD Securities, as part of which TD Securities provided
their oral opinion to the board of directors that the consideration to be
received by Glyko's shareholders under the proposed transaction was fair, from
a financial point of view, as of that date. The Glyko board of directors
unanimously approved the proposed transaction and authorized the execution of
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the Acquisition Agreement.

On February 6, 2002, Glyko's board of directors received the written opinion
of TD Securities in the form attached as Annex G to this Joint Proxy Circular.

The Acquisition Agreement was executed on February 6, 2002, and shareholder
support agreements with certain shareholders of Glyko (including all directors
who are shareholders), representing in the aggregate approximately 27.3% of the
outstanding Glyko common shares, were delivered concurrently. BioMarin and
Glyko each disseminated a press release announcing the transaction before the
opening of markets on February 7, 2002 in the United States, Canada and
Switzerland.

Joint Reasons for the Transaction

The following discussion of BioMarin's and Glyko's reasons for the
transaction contains a number of forward-looking statements that reflect the
current views of BioMarin and Glyko with respect to future events that may have
an effect on the companies' future financial performance taken as a whole.
Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual
results and outcomes may differ materially from the results and outcomes
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Cautionary statements that
identify important
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factors that could cause or contribute to differences in results and outcomes
include those discussed in the sections of this Joint Proxy Circular entitled
"Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Statements in this Document"
and "Risk Factors."

The boards of directors of BioMarin and Glyko approved the Acquisition
Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement,
including the arrangement and the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock,
because they determined that the stockholders of their respective companies
will benefit from the transaction. Among other benefits, the boards of
directors believe that:

the stockholders of BioMarin, including former Glyko shareholders, will
benefit from BioMarin's simplified share ownership structure;

the stockholders of BioMarin, including former Glyko shareholders, will
benefit from the increased number of holders of shares of BioMarin common
stock as the liquidity of the BioMarin common stock should be enhanced;
and

the shareholders of Glyko will benefit from having direct ownership
interests in BioMarin and from the increased liquidity associated with
holding BioMarin's common stock.
Recommendation of BioMarin's Board of Directors
At a meeting held on February 5, 2002, the disinterested members of the
board of directors of BioMarin, which constitute a majority of the BioMarin

board of directors, unanimously:

determined that the transaction is advisable, and is fair to and in the
best interest of BioMarin and its stockholders;

approved the Acquisition Agreement, subject to such changes or
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modifications as the Chief Executive Officer of BioMarin may determine
and subject to receipt of the written opinion of BioMarin's financial
advisor in the form considered by the board at its meeting as described
below;

directed that the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in
connection with the transaction be submitted for consideration by
BioMarin stockholders at a BioMarin annual meeting; and

resolved to recommend that the BioMarin stockholders vote FOR the
transaction, including, without limitation, the issuance of shares of
BioMarin common stock in connection with the transaction.

In reaching its decisions as described above, the BioMarin board of
directors consulted with BioMarin's management, BioMarin's legal counsel
regarding the legal terms of the transaction, and BioMarin's financial advisors
regarding the financial aspects of the transaction. The material factors that
the BioMarin board of directors considered in reaching its determination were
as follows:

The reasons for the transaction described in the section entitled "Joint
Reasons for the Transaction" of this Joint Proxy Circular.

The historical information concerning BioMarin's and Glyko's respective
businesses, prospects, financial performance and condition, operations,
technology, management and competitive position, including public reports
concerning results of operations during the most recent fiscal year and
fiscal quarter for each company filed with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission. The number of shares of BioMarin common stock held
by Glyko represents a significant interest in BioMarin. It is possible
that Glyko could be acquired by a third party in the future, which party
could therefore acquire this significant interest in BioMarin. This
possibility creates uncertainty for BioMarin and its stockholders.

BioMarin's management's view of the financial condition, results of
operations and businesses of BioMarin and Glyko before and after giving
effect to the transaction. The potential acquisition of Glyko would not
entail the assumption of any significant liabilities or obligations,
other than a contingent tax liability with respect to a capital gain
which would be realized on a taxable disposition by Glyko of its

54

BioMarin common stock (or Series A Preferred Stock for which the common
stock will be exchanged) as discussed under "Contingent Capital Gains Tax
Liability to BioMarin." Accordingly, once the transaction is complete,
there will be no continuing material impact on BioMarin's operations or
financial position.

The current financial market conditions and historical market prices,
volatility and trading information with respect to BioMarin common stock
and Glyko common shares. Converting the current Glyko shareholders'
interest in BioMarin from an indirect interest through their ownership of
Glyko common shares to a direct ownership of BioMarin common stock will
increase the number of publicly traded shares of BioMarin common stock.
The BioMarin board believes that this should increase the liquidity of
BioMarin common stock and could mitigate the volatility of the trading
price of BioMarin common stock.

The relationship between the market value of the common shares of Glyko
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and the consideration to be paid to shareholders of Glyko in connection
with the transaction. The BioMarin board of directors noted that the
Glyko common shares have traded at both a discount and premium as
compared to the trading price of the BioMarin common stock. This
discount/premium ranged from a 32.4% discount to an 8.6% premium, as
computed on the first trading day of each month from August 2001 to
January 2002. The BioMarin board determined that, based on the historical
range of the discount/premium, the consideration to be paid to the Glyko
shareholders in the transaction was reasonable based on the benefits to
be received by BioMarin.

The structure of the transaction and the belief that the terms of the
Acquisition Agreement, including the parties' representations, warranties
and covenants, and the conditions to their respective obligations, are
reasonable. BioMarin's board of directors was satisfied that under the
plan of arrangement, BioMarin would not incur any United States federal
income taxes as a result of the completion of the transaction. Based on
discussions with BioMarin's legal counsel and comparisons to other
similar transactions, the BioMarin board of directors determined that the
Acquisition Agreement included terms that are customary for transactions
of this type.

The financial presentation of, and discussions with, UBS Warburg,
including its written opinion dated February 6, 2002 to the BioMarin
board of directors as to the fairness, from a financial point of view and
as of the date of the opinion, to BioMarin of the exchange ratio provided
for in the Acquisition Agreement, as more fully described below under the
section entitled "Opinion of BioMarin's Financial Advisor."

The impact of the transaction and its announcement on the trading volume
and the trading characteristics of BioMarin's common stock. The BioMarin
board of directors believes that the increased liquidity of BioMarin's
common stock following the transaction will be advantageous to BioMarin.
The board believes that the increased number of holders will reduce the
volatility of the trading price of BioMarin's common stock and cause its
trading price to be more representative of BioMarin's enterprise value
and less related to the limited liquidity of its shares.

The fact that BioMarin stockholders will have the opportunity to vote
upon the proposal to approve the transaction, including the issuance of
shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with the transaction. The
BioMarin board of directors considered that the approval of the
stockholders is an important independent check on the merits of the
transaction.

The interests that certain directors of BioMarin may have with respect to
the transaction in addition to their interests as stockholders of
BioMarin generally, as described in more detail in the section entitled
"Interests of Certain Persons in the Transaction." The BioMarin board of
directors considered the interests of these directors. In recognition of
the potential conflict created by these interests, the disinterested
directors of BioMarin considered the merits of the transaction
independently of the interested directors. These disinterested directors,
who constitute a majority of the BioMarin board of directors, unanimously
approved the transaction.
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The reports from BioMarin's management and legal and financial advisors
as to the results of the due diligence investigation of Glyko which did
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not reveal any information that the BioMarin board believed presented
significant risks or uncertainties related to the transaction that were
not contemplated prior to such investigation.

In addition, the BioMarin board of directors also identified and considered
a variety of potentially negative factors in its deliberations concerning the
transaction, including, but not limited to:

The possibility that the transaction might not be completed, or that
completion might be unduly delayed, and the effect of public announcement
of the transaction on BioMarin's stock price. If the transaction is not
completed, BioMarin will have incurred substantial expenses and utilized
significant management resources with little or no return. Similarly,
undue delays in the transaction could significantly increase BioMarin's
transaction costs. As BioMarin has no revenue from the sales of products,
all of the transaction costs must be paid with current capital reserves.
A decision to terminate the transaction following its public announcement
may have an adverse impact on the trading price of BioMarin's common
stock.

The substantial charges to be incurred in connection with the
transaction, including transaction expenses. The estimated fees and
expenses that BioMarin has incurred and expects to incur to complete the
transaction total approximately $2.6 million. The BioMarin board of
directors determined that these fees were reasonable in light of the
complexity of the transaction and were justified based on the benefits
expected from completing the transaction.

The terms of the Acquisition Agreement regarding Glyko's right to
consider and negotiate acquisition proposals in certain circumstances, as
well as the possible effects of the provisions regarding payment of
termination fees. The Acquisition Agreement allows Glyko the right to
consider and negotiate competing proposals under certain conditions. The
BioMarin board of directors believes that the termination fee payable to
BioMarin in such a situation justifies the risk associated with this
right. Similarly, the BioMarin board of directors determined that it was
fair to pay Glyko a termination fee under certain circumstances in light
of the significant expenses Glyko was likely to incur in the course of
the transaction.

The substantial contingent capital gains tax liability to Glyko under
Canadian and United States federal income tax laws upon a taxable
disposition of the shares of BioMarin held by Glyko. The BioMarin board
of directors understands that, by completing the transaction BioMarin is
assuming a contingent tax liability of approximately $[ ] million
associated with the possible eventual disposition of the BioMarin common
stock (which will be exchanged for Series A Preferred Stock of BioMarin)
held by Glyko. The BioMarin board of directors determined that the risk
associated with recognizing this contingent liability is within
BioMarin's control and is therefore manageable.

The various other risks associated with the transaction described in the
section entitled "Risk Factors" of this Joint Proxy Circular.

The BioMarin board of directors concluded, however, that these negative
factors could be managed or mitigated by BioMarin and by the consolidated
company or were unlikely to have a material impact on the transaction or the
consolidated company, and that, overall, the potentially negative factors
associated with the transaction were outweighed by the potential benefits of
the transaction. For example, the BioMarin board of directors believes that:

the transaction could be completed on the proposed terms; and
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costs relating to the transaction would not exceed the proposed benefits
of the transaction.

The above discussion of the factors considered by the BioMarin board of
directors is not intended to be exhaustive, but does set forth all of the
material factors considered by the BioMarin board of directors. The
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disinterested members of the BioMarin board of directors collectively reached
the unanimous conclusion to approve the Acquisition Agreement and the
transaction, including the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock in
connection therewith, in light of the various factors described above and other
factors that each member of the BioMarin board of directors felt were
appropriate. In view of the wide variety of factors considered by the BioMarin
board of directors in connection with its evaluation of the transaction and the
complexity of these matters, the BioMarin board of directors did not consider
it practical, and did not attempt, to quantify, rank or otherwise assign
relative weights to the specific factors it considered in reaching its
decision. Rather, the BioMarin board of directors made its recommendation based
on the totality of information presented to and the investigation conducted by
it. In considering the factors discussed above, individual directors may have
given different weights to different factors.

Opinion of BioMarin's Financial Advisor

On February 6, 2002, UBS Warburg delivered to the BioMarin board of
directors a written opinion dated the same date, to the effect that, as of that
date and based on and subject to various assumptions made, matters considered
and limitations described in the opinion, the exchange ratio of 0.3309 of a
share of BioMarin common stock for each Glyko common share was fair, from a
financial point of view, to BioMarin.

The full text of UBS Warburg's opinion describes, among other things, the
assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on
the review undertaken by UBS Warburg. This opinion is attached as Annex F and
is incorporated into this Joint Proxy Circular by reference. UBS Warburg's
opinion is directed only to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to
BioMarin of the exchange ratio and does not address any other aspect of the
transaction. The opinion does not address the relative merits of the
transaction as compared to other business strategies or transactions that might
be available with respect to BioMarin or BioMarin's underlying business
decision to effect the transaction, nor does the opinion constitute a
recommendation to any stockholder as to how such stockholder should vote with
respect to any matters relating to the proposed transaction. Holders of
BioMarin common stock are encouraged to read this opinion carefully and in its
entirety. The summary of UBS Warburg's opinion described below is qualified in
its entirety by reference to the full text of its opinion.

In arriving at its opinion, UBS Warburg, among other things:

reviewed current and historical market prices and trading volumes of
BioMarin common stock and Glyko common shares;

reviewed publicly available business and historical financial information
relating to BioMarin and Glyko;

reviewed internal financial information and data relating to BioMarin and
its business and financial prospects, including estimates and financial
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forecasts prepared by the management of BioMarin, that were provided to
or discussed with UBS Warburg by BioMarin and not publicly available;

conducted discussions with members of the senior management of BioMarin;

considered the pro forma capitalization of BioMarin and pro forma effects
of the transaction on the financial statements of BioMarin;

reviewed the Acquisition Agreement and related documents; and

conducted other financial studies, analyses and investigations, and
considered other information, as UBS Warburg deemed necessary or
appropriate.

In connection with its review, with BioMarin's consent, UBS Warburg did not
assume any responsibility for independent verification of any of the
information that UBS Warburg was provided or reviewed for the purpose of its
opinion and, with BioMarin's consent, UBS Warburg relied on that information
being complete and
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accurate in all material respects. In addition, at BioMarin's direction, UBS
Warburg did not make any independent evaluation or appraisal of any of the
assets or liabilities, contingent or otherwise, of BioMarin or Glyko, and was
not furnished with any evaluation or appraisal. With respect to the financial
forecasts and estimates relating to BioMarin that it reviewed, UBS Warburg
assumed, at BioMarin's direction, that they were reasonably prepared on a basis
reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the
management of BioMarin as to the future financial performance of BioMarin. UBS
Warburg's opinion was necessarily based on economic, monetary, market and other
conditions existing, and information available to UBS Warburg, on the date of
its opinion. Although subsequent developments may affect its opinion, UBS
Warburg does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion.

UBS Warburg was not asked to, and it did not, offer any opinion as to the
terms of the Acquisition Agreement or related documents and the obligations
thereunder, or the form of the transaction. UBS Warburg expressed no opinion as
to the value of BioMarin common stock when issued in the transaction or the
prices at which BioMarin common stock will trade or otherwise be transferable
at any time. UBS Warburg also assumed, with BioMarin's consent, that the
transaction would constitute a tax-free reorganization for BioMarin and
BioMarin Nova Scotia for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that no Canadian
income tax would be payable by BioMarin or BioMarin Nova Scotia in connection
with the transaction. In rendering its opinion, UBS Warburg assumed, at
BioMarin's direction, that each of BioMarin, Glyko and BioMarin Nova Scotia
would comply with all material covenants and agreements contained in, and other
material terms of, the Acquisition Agreement and related documents and that the
transaction would be consummated in accordance with its terms without waiver,
modification or amendment of any material term, condition or agreement. Except
as described above, BioMarin imposed no other instructions or limitations on
UBS Warburg with respect to the investigations made or the procedures followed
by UBS Warburg in rendering its opinion.

In connection with rendering its opinion to BioMarin's board of directors,
UBS Warburg performed a variety of financial and comparative analyses which are
summarized below. The following summary is not a complete description of all of
the analyses performed and factors considered by UBS Warburg in connection with
its opinion. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process
involving subjective judgments and is not necessarily susceptible to partial
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analysis or summary description.

UBS Warburg believes that its analyses and the summary below must be
considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses and factors,
without considering all analyses and factors, could create a misleading or
incomplete view of the processes underlying UBS Warburg's analyses and opinion.
None of the analyses performed by UBS Warburg was assigned greater significance
by UBS Warburg than any other. UBS Warburg arrived at its ultimate opinion
based on the results of all analyses undertaken by it and assessed as a whole
and believes that the totality of the factors considered and analyses performed
by UBS Warburg in connection with its opinion operated collectively to support
UBS Warburg's determination as to the fairness of the exchange ratio from a
financial point of view. UBS Warburg did not draw, in isolation, conclusions
from or with regard to any one factor or method of analysis.

The estimates of BioMarin's future performance provided by the management of
BioMarin in or underlying UBS Warburg's analyses are not necessarily indicative
of future results or values, which may be significantly more or less favorable
than those estimates. In performing its analyses, UBS Warburg considered
industry performance, general business and economic conditions and other
matters, many of which are beyond the control of BioMarin. Estimates of the
financial value of companies do not necessarily purport to be appraisals or
reflect the prices at which companies actually may be sold.

The exchange ratio was determined through negotiation between BioMarin and
Glyko and the decision to enter into the transaction was solely that of
BioMarin's board of directors. UBS Warburg's opinion and financial analyses
were only one of many factors considered by BioMarin's board of directors in
its evaluation of the transaction and should not be viewed as determinative of
the views of BioMarin's board of directors or management with respect to the
transaction or the exchange ratio.
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The following is a brief summary of the material financial analyses
performed by UBS Warburg and reviewed with BioMarin's board of directors in
connection with its opinion:

Pro Forma Equity Impact Analysis

UBS Warburg analyzed the potential pro forma effect of the transaction on
the percentage equity ownership in BioMarin of the holders of BioMarin common
stock other than Glyko relative to the holders of Glyko common shares who hold
shares of BioMarin common stock indirectly through Glyko. The number of
outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock used in this analysis of
approximately 53.07 million was adjusted, based on internal estimates of
BioMarin's management, for BioMarin's acquisition of Synapse Technologies Inc.
The percentage equity ownership in BioMarin of the holders of Glyko common
shares before giving effect to the transaction was implied by the total number
of shares of BioMarin common stock held by Glyko of approximately 11.37
million. This analysis indicated that, based on the exchange ratio, the equity
ownership percentages in BioMarin of the holders of BioMarin common stock other
than Glyko and the holders of Glyko common shares of approximately 78.6% and
21.4%, respectively, would remain the same both before and immediately upon
completion of the transaction except that, after giving effect to the
transaction, the holders of Glyko common shares will hold shares of BioMarin
common stock directly rather than indirectly through Glyko.

UBS Warburg also evaluated the potential pro forma effect of the transaction
on the implied value of Glyko common shares by comparing the market value of
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Glyko common shares of approximately $118.8 million in the aggregate relative
to the market value of BioMarin common stock held by Glyko of approximately
$137.7 million in the aggregate based on the closing prices of Glyko common
shares and BioMarin common stock of Cdn$5.50 and $12.11, respectively, per
share as reported through FactSet, a major online source for financial and
economic information, on February 1, 2002. This comparison indicated an
aggregate market discount of approximately $18.9 million for Glyko common
shares as of that date which, based on the exchange ratio, would be eliminated
upon completion of the transaction. Actual values of Glyko common shares may
vary and such variations may be material.

Pro Forma Financial Statement Impact Analysis

UBS Warburg analyzed the potential pro forma effect of the transaction on
BioMarin's estimated earnings (loss) per share, commonly referred to as EPS,
for fiscal year 2002, based on internal estimates of the management of
BioMarin, excluding extraordinary and transaction related costs. The number of
outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock used in this analysis was adjusted,
based on internal estimates of BioMarin's management, for BioMarin's
acquisition of Synapse Technologies Inc. Based on the exchange ratio, this
analysis indicated that the transaction would be neutral to BioMarin's
estimated EPS for fiscal year 2002. UBS Warburg also noted that, based on the
exchange ratio, the total number of outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock
would remain the same before and immediately upon completion of the
transaction. The actual results achieved by BioMarin post-transaction may vary
from projected results and the variations may be material.

Other Factors

In rendering its opinion, UBS Warburg also reviewed and considered other
factors, including:

historical trading volumes and market prices for BioMarin common stock
and Glyko common shares for the period January 1, 2001 to February 1,
2002, which trading volumes ranged from approximately 4,600 to 4,740,500
shares per trading day for BioMarin common stock and from none to
1,255,678 shares per trading day for Glyko common shares and which market
prices ranged from approximately U.S.$7.31 to U.S.$14.16 per share for
BioMarin common stock and approximately U.S.$2.38 to U.S.$4.56 per share
for Glyko common shares, and the relationship between movements in
BioMarin common stock and Glyko common shares for the same period,
including the discounts (premia) over that period implied for Glyko
common shares based on the market prices of Glyko common shares relative
to the implied per share value of Glyko common shares based on the market
value of the total number of shares of BioMarin held by Glyko and the
book wvalue of Glyko's other net assets; and
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the public float, defined as total outstanding shares of common stock
excluding shares owned by directors, officers and 5% holders, as a
percentage of the total outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock, both
before and after giving effect to the transaction of approximately 66.4%
and 85.6%, respectively, and as compared to the public float as a
percentage of the total outstanding shares of the common stock of
selected publicly traded companies in the bio-technology industry.

Miscellaneous

BioMarin has agreed to pay UBS Warburg for its financial advisory services
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in connection with the transaction an aggregate fee of approximately $1.0
million, of which approximately $450,000 is contingent upon completion of the
transaction. In addition, BioMarin has agreed to reimburse UBS Warburg for its
reasonable expenses, including reasonable fees and disbursements of its
counsel, and to indemnify UBS Warburg and related parties against liabilities,
including liabilities under federal securities laws, relating to, or arising
out of, its engagement.

BioMarin selected UBS Warburg as its exclusive financial advisor in
connection with the transaction because UBS Warburg is an internationally
recognized investment banking firm with substantial experience in similar
transactions. UBS Warburg is continually engaged in the valuation of businesses
and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, leveraged
buyouts, negotiated underwritings, competitive bids, secondary distributions of
listed and unlisted securities and private placements.

UBS Warburg and its affiliates in the past have provided, and currently are
providing, services to BioMarin unrelated to the proposed transaction, for
which services UBS Warburg and its affiliates have received and will receive
customary compensation. In the ordinary course of business, UBS Warburg, its
successors and affiliates may actively trade the securities of BioMarin and
Glyko for their own accounts and the accounts of their customers and,
accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in those securities.

Recommendation of Glyko's Board of Directors

The Glyko board of directors believes that the terms of the arrangement are
fair to Glyko shareholders and in the best interests of Glyko. Accordingly, the
Glyko board of directors unanimously approved the Acquisition Agreement and
resolved to recommend that Glyko's shareholders vote FOR the Glyko arrangement
resolution and FOR the Glyko continuance resolution.

Each of the directors of Glyko has advised Glyko that he will vote the Glyko
common shares held by him, directly or indirectly, in favor of the Glyko
arrangement resolution approving the arrangement and the Glyko continuance
resolution approving the continuance.

In approving the Acquisition Agreement, the Glyko board of directors
considered a number of factors, including:

The reasons for the transaction described in the section entitled "Joint
Reasons for the Transaction" of this Joint Proxy Circular.

The structure of the transaction. The Glyko board of directors was
satisfied that, under the plan of arrangement, Glyko would incur no
liability for Canadian federal income tax as a result of the completion
of the transaction and Glyko shareholders who are not residents of Canada
and whose shares do not constitute taxable Canadian property would not be
subject to Canadian federal income tax as a result of the disposition of
Glyko common shares pursuant to the arrangement.

Historical information concerning Glyko's and BioMarin's respective
businesses, prospects, financial performance and condition, operations,
technology, management and competitive position, including public reports
concerning results of operations during the most recent fiscal year for
each company filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Management's view of the financial condition, results of operations and

82



Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

businesses of Glyko and BioMarin before and after giving effect to the
transaction.

The lack of viable alternatives available to Glyko given Glyko's limited
resources and lack of operational assets. Following a review of market
opportunities, the Glyko board of directors concluded that Glyko's
principal current alternative to proceeding with the plan of arrangement
transaction was to become an operating company by acgquiring operating
assets, which the board did not believe was feasible at this time given
Glyko's resources, nor would there be any guarantee of success if such
alternative was chosen.

Current financial market conditions and historical market prices,
volatility and trading information with respect to Glyko common shares
and BioMarin common stock.

The amount of tax that would be payable by Glyko in the event it were to
dispose of its holding of BioMarin common stock. The Glyko board of
directors understands that, if Glyko disposed of its common stock of
BioMarin, any gain realized by Glyko on such disposition for Canadian
federal and provincial income tax purposes would be subject to Canadian
federal and provincial income tax.

The potentially adverse tax implications for Glyko and its shareholders
in the event Glyko were to distribute its holding of BioMarin common
stock directly to its shareholders. The Glyko board of directors was
advised that a distribution of BioMarin common stock by Glyko to its
shareholders would result in a disposition of such common stock by Glyko
(and the imposition of Canadian federal and provincial income tax on
Glyko on any gain considered to be realized on the disposition), as well
as shareholder level taxes on a distribution of BioMarin common stock to
Glyko shareholders.

The costs inherent in maintaining Glyko's status as a reporting issuer in
Canada and as a registrant under the United States Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. Glyko incurred general and administrative expenses of
approximately $460,000 in 2001. As Glyko has no operations, a significant
portion of these expenses were associated with maintaining its status as
a reporting issuer in Canada and a registrant under the United States
Securities Exchange of 1934.

The discount to the underlying value of Glyko's assets, including its
shares of BioMarin common stock, at which the Glyko common shares have
historically traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange. TD Securities reported
to the Glyko board of directors that during 2001 the Glyko common shares
traded at an implied discount of up to 20% of the value of the BioMarin
common stock owned by Glyko.

The fact that Glyko shareholders will receive shares of BioMarin common
stock under the transaction that are more liquid than their Glyko common
shares. The Glyko board of directors noted that an average of
approximately 495,000 shares of BioMarin common stock traded daily on the
Nasdag during the fourth quarter of 2001, compared to an average of
approximately 67,000 Glyko shares trading daily on the Toronto Stock
Exchange during the same period.

The belief that the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, including the
parties' representations, warranties and covenants, and the conditions to
their respective obligations, are reasonable.

Certain terms and conditions of the Acquisition Agreement, including the
fact that a termination fee is payable to Glyko by BioMarin under certain
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circumstances, and that, subject to certain conditions, the Acquisition
Agreement does not prevent Glyko from accepting a Superior Offer.

The fairness opinion of Glyko's financial advisor, TD Securities.

The fact that Glyko shareholders will have the opportunity to vote upon
and approve the transaction.

The fact that the approval of the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario) to
the arrangement is a condition to the closing of the transaction. The
Glyko board of directors noted that the Superior Court of Justice will
satisfy itself as to the fairness of the transaction prior to approving
the transaction.
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Reports from management and financial advisors as to the results of the
due diligence investigation of BioMarin.

Other factors that the Glyko board of directors deemed relevant in order
to make its decision.

In considering the transaction, the Glyko board of directors recognized that
there were certain risks associated with the transaction, including the risks
that the potential benefits set forth above may not be realized and that there
may be higher than anticipated costs associated with realizing such benefits.
The Glyko board of directors also considered the factors set forth in this
Joint Proxy Circular under the heading "Risk Factors."

In addition, the Glyko board of directors also identified and considered a
variety of potentially negative factors in its deliberations concerning the
transaction, including, but not limited to:

The possibility that the transaction might not be completed, or that
completion might be unduly delayed, and the effect of public announcement
of the transaction on Glyko's and BioMarin's stock price.

If the transaction is not completed, Glyko will have incurred substantial
expenses and utilized significant management resources. Similarly, undue
delays in the transaction could significantly increase Glyko's
transaction costs. As Glyko has no operating business, the potential to
recoup these costs is limited. A decision to terminate the transaction
following its public announcement might have an adverse impact on the
trading price of Glyko's common shares.

The provisions of the Acquisition Agreement regarding payment of
termination fees.

Various other risks associated with the transaction described in the
section entitled "Risk Factors" of this Joint Proxy Circular.

The Glyko board of directors concluded, however, that these negative factors
could be managed or mitigated by Glyko or were unlikely to have a material
impact on the transaction on Glyko, and that, overall, the potentially negative
factors associated with the transaction were outweighed by the potential
benefits of the transaction. For example, the Glyko board of directors believes
that:

the transaction could be completed on the proposed terms; and

84



Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

costs relating to the transaction would not exceed the proposed benefits
of the transaction.

The foregoing discussion of the information and factors considered by
Glyko's board of directors, while not exhaustive, includes the material factors
considered by the Glyko board of directors. In view of the variety of factors
considered in connection with its evaluation of the transaction, Glyko's board
of directors did not find it practicable to, and did not, quantify or otherwise
assign relative or specific weight or values to any of these factors, although
individual directors may have given different weights to different factors.

Opinion of Glyko's Financial Advisor

Glyko retained TD Securities to act as its financial advisor in connection
with a proposed transaction whereby all of the outstanding common shares of
Glyko would be acquired by BioMarin. TD Securities is a nationally recognized
investment banking firm in Canada with operations in a broad range of
activities including corporate and government finance, mergers and
acquisitions, equity and fixed income sales and trading, investment management
and investment research. TD Securities has participated in a significant number
of transactions involving public and private companies and has extensive
experience in preparing fairness opinions. Glyko selected TD Securities to act
as its financial advisor on the basis of TD Securities' experience and
expertise in transactions similar to the arrangement and its reputation in the
community.

At the Glyko board of directors meeting held on February 5, 2001, TD
Securities delivered its oral opinion to the board of directors. On February 6,
2002, TD Securities confirmed its opinion in writing by delivery of its
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written opinion to Glyko's board of directors, based upon and subject to the
various assumptions and limitations set forth therein, that the consideration
offered to Glyko shareholders under the arrangement was fair, from a financial
point of view, as of that date. The exchange ratio was determined by
negotiations between Glyko and BioMarin and was not based on recommendations
from TD Securities.

The full text of TD Securities' written opinion to Glyko's board of
directors is attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as Annex G which is
incorporated into this Joint Proxy Circular in its entirety. You should read
this opinion carefully and in its entirety in connection with this Joint Proxy
Circular. However, the following summary of TD Securities' opinion has also
been included, which is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text
of the opinion.

TD Securities' opinion does not constitute a recommendation to shareholders
of Glyko on how to vote with respect to the Glyko arrangement resolution or the
Glyko continuance resolution. The opinion addresses only the fairness of the
consideration offered to Glyko shareholders pursuant to the transaction, from a
financial point of view, as of the date of the opinion. The opinion does not
address the relative merits of the arrangement or the continuance or any
alternatives to the arrangement or the continuance, the underlying decision of
Glyko's board of directors to proceed with or effect the arrangement or any
other aspect of the arrangement.

For the purposes of its opinion, TD Securities reviewed and relied upon, or
carried out, among other things, the following:
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the Acquisition Agreement;
the form of shareholder support agreement;

audited financial statements of Glyko and BioMarin for each of the years
ended and as at December 31, 1999 and 2000;

unaudited interim financial statements of Glyko and BioMarin for the
three-month periods ended and as at March 31, 2001, June 30, 2001 and
September 30, 2001;

annual reports and Forms 10-K of Glyko for each of the years ended
December 31, 1999 and 2000;

annual reports and Forms 10-K of BioMarin for each of the years ended
December 31, 1999 and 2000;

notices of annual meetings of shareholders and management proxy circulars
of Glyko for each of the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000;

press releases and other regulatory filings of Glyko and BioMarin during
the two year period ending February 5, 2002;

corporate documents of Glyko, including material contracts and licenses,
minutes of the board and other corporate documents;

discussions with senior management of Glyko with respect to the
information referred to above and other issues deemed relevant;

discussions with Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, Canadian legal advisors to
Glyko;

discussions with Arthur Andersen LLP, auditors of Glyko;

a due diligence session and other discussions with senior management of
BioMarin;

relevant public information, relating to the business, operations,
financial performance and share trading history of Glyko, BioMarin and
other selected public information considered to be relevant;

various research publications prepared by equity research analysts
regarding BioMarin;
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representations contained on the certificate dated as of February 6, 2002
from senior officers of Glyko; and

such other corporate, industry and financial market information,
investigations and analyses as TD Securities considered necessary or
appropriate in the circumstances.

With Glyko's acknowledgement, TD Securities assumed and relied upon, without
independent verification, the accuracy, completeness and fair representation of
the financial and other information reviewed by TD Securities for the purposes
of its opinion. The fairness opinion is conditional upon such accuracy,
completeness and fair representation.

Senior officers of Glyko represented to TD Securities in a certificate
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delivered as of February 6, 2002, among other things, that (i) Glyko has no
information or knowledge of any facts public or otherwise not specifically
provided to TD Securities relating to Glyko or BioMarin and its subsidiaries,
which would reasonably be expected to affect materially the fairness opinion or
the decision of Glyko to proceed with the arrangement; (ii) the information and
data provided to TD Securities by or on behalf of Glyko in respect of Glyko in
connection with the fairness opinion is or, in the case of historical
information and data, was, at the date of preparation, true and complete in all
material respects and no additional material, data or information would be
required to make the information and data provided to TD Securities not
misleading in the light of circumstances in which it was provided; (iii) to the
extent that any of the information and data identified in subparagraph

(ii) above is historical and Glyko has been requested by TD Securities to
update such information, there have been no changes in any material facts or
new material facts since the respective dates thereof which have not been
disclosed to TD Securities or updated by more current information and data not
provided to TD Securities by Glyko; (iv) there have been no valuations or
appraisals of Glyko or any material property of Glyko made in the preceding 12
months and in the possession or control of Glyko other than those which have
been provided to TD Securities or, in the case of valuations known to Glyko
which it does not have within its possession or control, notice of which has
not been given to TD Securities; (v) there have been no offers for or
transactions involving any material property of Glyko during the preceding 12
months which have not been disclosed to TD Securities; and (vi) other than in
connection with the arrangement, Glyko has no information or knowledge of any
material non-public information concerning the securities, assets, liabilities,
operations, affairs, prospects or condition (financial or otherwise) of Glyko
or BioMarin and its subsidiaries that has not been generally disclosed.

In preparing its opinion, TD Securities made general assumptions including:

all conditions precedent to the completion of the arrangement could be
satisfied in due course;

all consents, permissions, exemptions or orders of relevant regulatory
authorities would be obtained, without adverse condition or qualification;

the procedures being followed to implement the arrangement are valid and
effective;

the Joint Proxy Circular will be distributed to the shareholders of Glyko
in accordance with applicable laws;

the disclosure in the Joint Proxy Circular will be accurate in all
material respects and will comply in all material respects with the
requirements of all applicable laws.

For purposes of its opinion, TD Securities was not engaged to provide (and
has not provided) a formal valuation or appraisal of any of the assets or
liabilities of Glyko or BioMarin. In addition, TD Securities was not requested
to and did not review any legal, accounting or tax aspects of the arrangement.
Except as described herein, Glyko imposed no other instructions or limitations
on TD Securities with respect to the investigations made or the procedures
followed by TD Securities in rendering its opinion.
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The following is a summary of the material financial analyses performed by
TD Securities and reviewed with Glyko's board of directors in connection with
TD Securities' fairness opinion:
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In determining the value of the Glyko common shares in the context of the
transaction, TD Securities applied a net asset value ("NAV") approach that
aggregates the value of Glyko's assets net of all liabilities. Since Glyko's
primary asset is the BioMarin common stock held by Glyko, the value of the
Glyko common shares in the context of the transaction required an analysis of
the value of the BioMarin common stock.

TD Securities believes that the market trading value approach is an
appropriate indication of the value of the BioMarin common stock in the context
of the transaction primarily because shares of BioMarin common stock are widely
held and relatively liquid, and TD Securities was not aware, after due inquiry,
of any non-public information that, if disclosed, would be expected to have a
material affect on the market trading price of the BioMarin common stock.

TD Securities reviewed various alternatives for distributing the value of
the BioMarin common stock held by Glyko to Glyko shareholders. Based on
discussions with Glyko's Canadian tax advisors and other considerations, TD
Securities concluded that if Glyko were to distribute the value of the
underlying BioMarin common stock to Glyko shareholders, this would result in
significant tax liability for both Glyko and its shareholders.

Under the market trading value approach, the value of the BioMarin common
stock held by Glyko was the value that could be realized in the context of the
current market. The value range of the BioMarin common stock was $12.00 to
$12.74 per share based on the volume weighted average trading prices of
BioMarin common stock on Nasdag for the 10 day and 20 day periods ended
February 1, 2002. This represents a value of $3.97 to $4.22 per Glyko common
share. On an after-tax basis, assuming Glyko would incur corporate capital
gains tax on any disposition of its BioMarin common stock, the value range was
$3.34 to $3.54 per Glyko common share.

The other assets (net of liabilities) of Glyko, primarily consisting of
cash, were valued at $0.06 to $0.07 per Glyko common share. Combined with the
above value of the BioMarin common stock held by Glyko, the pre-tax value of
Glyko common shares was $4.03 to $4.28 or Cdn.$6.32 to Cdn.$6.72 per Glyko
common share (after—-tax $3.40 to $3.60 or Cdn.$5.33 to Cdn.$5.65).

The value of the consideration to be received by Glyko shareholders was
derived using the value range for the BioMarin common stock of $12.00 to $12.74
determined through the market trading value approach and applying the exchange
ratio pursuant to the arrangement. This results in a value of the consideration
to be received by Glyko shareholders of $3.97 to $4.22 or Cdn.$6.23 to
Cdn.$6.61 per Glyko common share, as compared to the pre-tax value of Glyko
common shares of $4.03 to $4.28 or Cdn.$6.32 to Cdn.$6.72 per share (after-tax
$3.40 to $3.60 or Cdn.$5.33 to Cdn.$5.65) indicated above.

TD Securities' opinion was based on economic, market and other conditions as
they existed on the date of its opinion and on information made available to it
as of the date of its opinion. According to the terms of its engagement by
Glyko, although TD Securities reserves the right to change or withdraw its
opinion in the event of a change in circumstances, TD Securities has no
obligation to update, revise or re—affirm its opinion to take into account
events occurring after the date that its opinion was delivered to Glyko's board
of directors. As a result, circumstances could develop after the date of its
opinion and prior to consummation of the arrangement and the continuance that,
if known at the time TD Securities rendered its opinion, may have altered such
opinion.

The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process and is not
necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. TD
Securities believes that its analyses and the summary above must be considered
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as a whole. TD Securities further believes that selecting portions of its
analyses and the factors considered, without considering all analyses and
factors, could create an incomplete view of the process underlying the analyses
set forth in its opinion. TD Securities is not opining as to the market value
or the prices at which any of the securities of Glyko or BioMarin may trade at
any time.
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Based upon and subject to the foregoing, TD Securities is of the opinion
that, as of February 6, 2002, the consideration offered to Glyko shareholders
under the arrangement is fair, from a financial point of view.

As described above, TD Securities' opinion and presentation to Glyko's board
of directors were among the many factors taken into consideration by Glyko's
board of directors in making its determination to approve the Acquisition
Agreement, and to recommend that Glyko's shareholders approve the arrangement
and the continuance.

Glyko agreed to pay TD Securities as compensation for its services under
this engagement a fee of Cdn. $425,000 upon completion of the arrangement.
Glyko also agreed to pay TD Securities a work fee of Cdn. $40,000 per month,
which fees will be credited against the arrangement completion fee of Cdn.
$425,000. Glyko's board of directors was aware of this fee and took it into
account in considering TD Securities' fairness opinion and in approving the
arrangement. The engagement letter calls for Glyko to reimburse TD Securities
for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses, and Glyko has agreed to indemnify TD
Securities from and against certain costs and liabilities arising directly or
indirectly out of the performance of professional services rendered to Glyko by
TD Securities and its personnel under its engagement.

Neither TD Securities, nor any of its affiliates is an insider, associate or
affiliate (as those terms are defined in the Securities Act (Ontario)) of
Glyko, BioMarin or any of their respective associates or affiliates. In the
ordinary course of their businesses, TD Securities and its affiliates may
actively trade the securities of Glyko and BioMarin for their own account or
for the accounts of customers.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Transaction

In considering how to vote your securities with respect to the transaction,
you should be aware that certain members of the BioMarin board of directors and
certain members of management and the board of directors of Glyko have certain
interests in the transaction that may present them with actual or potential
conflicts of interest in connection with the transaction. The BioMarin board of
directors and the Glyko board of directors were aware of these interests and
considered them along with the other matters summarized above. Those interests
include:

the receipt by Messrs. Glaus and Specker, directors of Glyko, Mr.
Williams, a director of BioMarin and a significant shareholder of Glyko,
Mr. Sager, a director of BioMarin and an executive officer and
shareholder of Glyko, and Messrs. Starr and Kakkis, executive officers of
BioMarin, of approximately 988,000 shares, in the aggregate, of BioMarin
common stock in exchange for Glyko common shares held by such persons in
the transaction. These directors and officers will receive the same per
share consideration as other Glyko shareholders in the transaction;

the receipt by Messrs. Allan, Glaus, Gruber, Kolada, Specker and
Trossman, who are each a director of Glyko, and Mr. Sager, who is an
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officer of Glyko and a director of BioMarin (collectively being the only
holders of options for Glyko common shares), of options to purchase up to
approximately 26,934 shares, in the aggregate, of BioMarin common stock
in exchange for options to purchase Glyko common shares held by such
persons; and

the Acquisition Agreement provides that all rights to indemnification for
officers and directors of Glyko as provided in the articles of
incorporation of Glyko, the bylaws of Glyko or the articles and bylaws of
any successor of Glyko, in effect on the effective date of the
arrangement, will survive the arrangement for a period not less than six
years from the effective date of the arrangement, and BioMarin will
assume, effective upon consummation of the arrangement, all such
liability in respect of these matters arising prior to the effective date
of the arrangement. The Acquisition Agreement also provides that, for not
less than six years from the effective date of the arrangement, BioMarin
will maintain in effect coverage equivalent to that in effect under
current policies of the directors' and officers' liability insurance
maintained by Glyko on terms comparable to those applicable to the
current directors and officers of Glyko, provided that in no event will
BioMarin or a successor of Glyko be required to expend in any one year an
amount in excess of 150% of the annual premiums currently paid by Glyko
for such insurance.
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In addition, Mr. Erich Sager, the President and Chief Executive Officer of
Glyko, and Mr. Gwynn R. Williams, who exercises control over approximately 8.3%
of the Glyko common shares, both serve as members of the board of directors of
BioMarin. Messrs. Sager and Williams fully disclosed these relationships and
interests to the board of directors of BioMarin prior to the BioMarin board's
consideration of the transaction. Due to these relationships and interests,
Messrs. Sager and Williams abstained from votes taken by BioMarin's board to
approve the transaction. The disinterested members of BioMarin's board, which
constitute a majority of its members, unanimously approved the transaction,
including, without limitation, the issuance of shares of BioMarin common stock
in connection therewith.

Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers and Certain Related Persons
of BioMarin

As of the close of business on , 2002, the directors and executive
officers of BioMarin (and their respective affiliates, not including Glyko)
collectively beneficially owned approximately [5.4%] of the shares of BioMarin
common stock entitled to vote at the BioMarin annual meeting. These directors
include Messrs. Erich Sager and Gwynn Williams who own or control approximately
8.3% of the Glyko common shares. Furthermore, Glyko owns approximately [21.3%]
of the outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock based on the number of
issued and outstanding shares of BioMarin common stock as of , 2002.
Accordingly, the directors and executive officers of BioMarin (and their
respective affiliates) together with Glyko collectively beneficially own
approximately [26.7%] of the shares of BioMarin common stock entitled to vote
at the BioMarin annual meeting, which represents a substantial percentage of
the vote required to approve the transaction because the affirmative vote by
holders of a majority of the outstanding BioMarin common stock, present or
represented at the annual meeting of BioMarin's stockholders, is required to
approve the transaction including, without limitation, the issuance of shares
of BioMarin common stock in connection with the transaction.

Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers of Glyko
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As of the close of business on , 2002, directors and executive
officers of Glyko (and their respective associates) collectively owned or
exercised direction or control over approximately 9% of the Glyko common shares
entitled to vote at the Glyko special meeting, exclusive of options to purchase
Glyko common shares also held by these directors and executive officers. These
directors and executive officers includes Erich Sager who owns or controls, in
aggregate, approximately [21.6%] of the issued and outstanding shares of
BioMarin common stock as of , 2002. Other than Messrs. Erich Sager,
Gwynn Williams, Christopher Starr and Emil Kakkis, BioMarin and its affiliates
do not currently own any Glyko common shares. The vote required for approval of
the Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko continuance resolution at the
Glyko special meeting is not less than two-thirds of the votes cast at the
special meeting by holders of Glyko common shares. Shareholders representing
approximately 27.3% of the Glyko common shares (including all of the directors
of Glyko who are shareholders) have agreed with BioMarin, subject to certain
conditions, to vote their shares in favor of the Glyko arrangement resolution
and the Glyko continuance resolution. As a result, depending on the number of
shares represented at the meeting, these shareholders of Glyko may be able to
influence all matters requiring a shareholder vote in connection with the
transaction.

Court Approval of the Arrangement and Completion of the Transaction

Under the Canada Business Corporations Act, the arrangement requires court
approval. Prior to the mailing of this Joint Proxy Circular, Glyko obtained an
interim order from the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario) providing for the
calling and holding of the Glyko special meeting and other procedural matters.
A copy of each of the notice of application for an interim and final order and
the interim order is attached hereto as Annex E.

Subject to the approval of the Glyko arrangement resolution and the Glyko
continuance resolution by the Glyko shareholders at the Glyko special meeting
and the approval of the arrangement, including the issuance of shares of
BioMarin common stock, by the BioMarin stockholders at the BioMarin annual
meeting, the hearing in
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respect of a final order is expected to take place on or about ., 2002 at
10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) at the Toronto courthouse at 393 University Avenue,
Toronto, Ontario.

Any Glyko securityholder who wishes to appear or be represented and to
present evidence or arguments must serve and file a notice of appearance as set
out in the notice of application for the final order and satisfy any other
requirements of the court. The court will consider, among other things, the
fairness and reasonableness of the arrangement. The court may approve the
arrangement in any manner the court may direct, subject to compliance with such
terms and conditions, if any, as the court deems fit.

Assuming the final order is granted and the other conditions to closing
contained in the Acquisition Agreement are satisfied or waived, it is
anticipated that the following will occur substantially simultaneously:

articles of arrangement for Glyko will be filed with the Director under
the Canada Business Corporations Act to give effect to the arrangement;

articles of continuance of Glyko will be filed with the Registrar under
the Company Act (British Columbia) to give effect to the continuance; and
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the various other documents necessary to consummate the transactions
contemplated under the Acquisition Agreement will be executed and
delivered.

Subject to the foregoing, it is expected that the effective time of the
arrangement will occur as soon as practicable after the requisite BioMarin
stockholder approval, Glyko shareholder approval and the final order have been
obtained.

Continuance

Upon completion of the arrangement, Glyko will become an indirect,
wholly-owned subsidiary of BioMarin. After the arrangement, BioMarin intends to
exchange the 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko for
Series A Preferred Stock of BioMarin, cancel such 11,367,617 shares of common
stock and have Glyko remain as a non-operating, indirect subsidiary of
BioMarin. The Series A Preferred Stock to be received by Glyko shall be
redeemable, retractable, non-voting, non-convertible, and entitled to receive
non-cumulative dividends as and when declared by the BioMarin board of
directors at a rate of 5% per annum. The purpose for issuing shares of Series A
Preferred Stock of BioMarin to Glyko is to "freeze" the value of the shares of
BioMarin common stock held by Glyko, which would freeze the amount of the
contingent tax liability arising from the difference between the value of the
shares of BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko immediately before the exchange
and the adjusted cost base of the shares of BioMarin common stock held by Glyko
immediately before the exchange. Accordingly, future appreciation in the market
value of BioMarin common stock would have no impact on the amount of the
contingent tax liability. Although this contingent tax liability remains with
Glyko after its acquisition by BioMarin, the realization of the liability
should be able to be deferred indefinitely, and would only arise as a result of
a deliberate action being taken by Glyko or indirectly BioMarin that
constituted an actual or deemed disposition of the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock of BioMarin to be issued to Glyko. See "Contingent Capital Gains Tax
Liability to BioMarin."

The Canada Business Corporations Act, which governs Glyko, provides that,
subject to certain exceptions, a corporation governed by the Canada Business
Corporations Act shall not hold shares in its parent. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Glyko will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of BioMarin
and, therefore, BioMarin will become Glyko's parent. As described under
"-—Contingent Capital Gains Tax Liability to BioMarin," Glyko would suffer
adverse tax consequences 1f it was compelled to dispose of its holding of
BioMarin stock. The Company Act (British Columbia) does not contain a
prohibition similar to that contained in the Canada Business Corporations Act.
As a result, at the Glyko special meeting the shareholders of Glyko will be
asked to pass the continuance resolution authorizing the continuance of Glyko
under the Company Act (British Columbia) to ensure that Glyko may continue to
hold securities in BioMarin.
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Accounting Treatment

BioMarin will record the transaction based upon the fair value of the common
stock issued by BioMarin as of the date of closing. Following the transaction,
BioMarin expects to exchange its shares of common stock currently owned by
Glyko for shares of BioMarin preferred stock and to cancel such shares of
common stock. Glyko's only significant asset is its investment in BioMarin.
Because Glyko's investment in BioMarin will be held within a consolidated group
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and will not appear in the consolidated financial statements, no incremental
consolidated assets or stockholders' equity will arise as a result of the
transaction. The costs incurred by BioMarin and Glyko in effecting the
transaction will be expensed as incurred.

Contingent Capital Gains Tax Liability to BioMarin
Canada

Without giving effect to the transactions described herein, upon a taxable
disposition by Glyko of the shares of BioMarin held by it, Glyko would realize
a capital gain which would be subject to tax under Canadian federal and
provincial income tax laws. Glyko's gain for Canadian federal and provincial
income tax purposes would be equal to the difference between the fair market
value of the BioMarin shares held by Glyko as of the date of disposition and
the aggregate of Glyko's adjusted cost base of such shares and any reasonable
costs of disposition. If Glyko disposed of these shares as of May , 2002,
based upon the per share closing price of BioMarin's common stock as of such
date (as reported on the Nasdaq), the gain would be approximately $ million,
as calculated by BioMarin. Under current Canadian federal and provincial income
tax laws, Glyko would be obligated to pay Canadian federal and provincial
income tax at a combined rate of approximately 19% of the capital gain (subject
to the deduction of any available losses in accordance with Canadian income tax
laws) .

Upon completion of the transactions described herein, BioMarin will hold
indirectly all of the shares of BioMarin held by Glyko. Upon a taxable
disposition of such shares as described below, Glyko would realize a gain which
would be subject to capital gains tax under Canadian federal and provincial
income tax laws. Glyko's gain for Canadian tax purposes would be equal to the
difference between the fair market value of the BioMarin shares held by Glyko
as of the date of disposition and the aggregate of Glyko's adjusted cost base
of such shares and any reasonable costs of disposition.

In the future, if BioMarin remains a "foreign affiliate" of Glyko, and
BioMarin generates sufficient after-tax net earnings, the contingent capital
gains tax liability under Canadian federal and provincial income tax laws may
be limited or eliminated in certain circumstances based on an election provided
in the Income Tax Act (Canada). Under this election, a gain realized by Glyko
from the disposition of BioMarin shares may be recharacterized as a dividend
out of "exempt surplus" which would generally be tax free to Glyko, subject to
the detailed rules in the Income Tax Act (Canada) in this regard. In addition,
the events which would trigger the recognition of gain by Glyko are completely
within the discretion and control of Glyko and indirectly BioMarin, and neither
BioMarin nor Glyko has any intention of implementing or effecting any of these
events.

United States

BioMarin may be subject to United States federal income tax upon the
liquidation or deemed liquidation of the shares of BioMarin held by Glyko.
However the timing and amount of the gain subject to tax would vary based on
the specific facts surrounding the liquidation or deemed liquidation event.

The events which would trigger the recognition of gain by BioMarin are
completely within the discretion and control of BioMarin, and BioMarin has no
intention of implementing or effecting any of these events. The events which
would trigger recognition of the United States tax include: (i) Glyko disposes
or is deemed to dispose of the shares of BioMarin held by it; (ii) BioMarin
Nova Scotia (if BioMarin Nova Scotia owns the shares of BioMarin common stock
directly at the time it emigrates) or Glyko emigrates from Canada to another
jurisdiction; (iii) BioMarin Nova Scotia pays a dividend in kind of the shares
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to BioMarin or its subsidiaries (if
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BioMarin Nova Scotia owns the shares of BioMarin common stock directly at the
time of the distribution); or (iv) Glyko is merged or consolidated with
BioMarin Nova Scotia and/or BioMarin. The events which may trigger recognition
of a United States tax include the circumstances in which Glyko disposes or is
deemed to dispose of the shares of BioMarin held by it (including upon a
dissolution of Glyko).

Stock Exchange Listings

A condition to the closing of the arrangement is the filing of an
application for the listing of additional shares with Nasdaqg regarding the
shares of BioMarin common stock to be issued pursuant to the transaction to
Glyko shareholders. The shares of BioMarin common stock to be issued under the
transaction will also be listed on the Swiss SWX New Market as promptly as
possible following completion of the transaction.

The BioMarin common stock is quoted on Nasdag and listed on the Swiss SWX
New Market under the symbol "BMRN."

Regulatory Matters

Except as described in this Joint Proxy Circular, neither BioMarin nor Glyko
is aware of any material approval or other action by any federal, provincial,
state or foreign government or any administrative or regulatory agency that
would be required to be obtained prior to completion of the transaction.

Ontario Securities Commission Rule 61-501

The indirect acquisition by BioMarin of all of the issued shares of Glyko
may be a "related party transaction" within the meaning of Ontario Securities
Commission Rule 61-501--Insider Bids, Issuer Bids, Going Private Transactions
and Related Party Transactions. Rule 61-501 provides that, unless not
applicable or exempted, a corporation proposing to carry out a related party
transaction is required to prepare a valuation of the affected securities and
provide to the holders of such securities a summary of such valuation. Rule
61-501 also requires that, in addition to any other required securityholder
approval, the approval of a simple majority of the votes cast by "minority" (or
disinterested) shareholders of the affected securities must be obtained. Glyko
believes that in the circumstances of this transaction, there are no Glyko
shareholders who have interests in the transaction which are different from
other Glyko shareholders. In addition, these requirements do not apply to a
related party transaction if persons or companies who are resident in Ontario
and who beneficially own affected securities do not beneficially own more than
two percent of such securities. Glyko believes that these valuation and
approval requirements do not apply to this transaction.

United States Antitrust Laws

It is possible that a person, including any state or private person, could
take action under applicable U.S. antitrust laws, including seeking to enjoin
the transaction or seeking divestiture by BioMarin or Glyko. There can be no
assurance that a challenge to the transaction will not be made or that, if a
challenge is made, BioMarin and Glyko will prevail or would not be required to
accept certain conditions, possibly including certain divestitures, in order to
consummate the transaction.
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Exemption from Registration Requirements of Securities Laws and Limitations on
Resale of BioMarin Common Stock

Canada

The shares of BioMarin common stock to be distributed to the Glyko
shareholders pursuant to the arrangement will be distributed in reliance on
exemptions from registration and prospectus requirements of applicable Canadian
securities laws. To the extent determined necessary by Canadian counsel to
Glyko and
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BioMarin, discretionary exemptions will also be sought in certain provinces to
permit the resale of the shares of BioMarin common stock to be issued in
connection with the arrangement without restriction by persons other than a
"control person," provided that no unusual effort is made to prepare the market
for any such resale or to create a demand for the securities which are the
subject of any such resale and no extraordinary commission or consideration is
paid in respect of the resale. A condition of completing the arrangement is
that all necessary discretionary exemptions will have been obtained with
conditions that are satisfactory to Glyko and BioMarin.

United States

The issuance of the shares of BioMarin common stock to holders of Glyko
common shares and replacement options to holders of Glyko options will not be
registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 or the securities
laws of any state of the United States and will be issued in reliance upon the
exemption available pursuant to Section 3(a) (10) of the United States
Securities Act of 1933 and the exemptions provided under the securities laws of
each state of the United States. Section 3(a) (10) exempts securities issued in
exchange for one or more outstanding securities from the general requirement of
registration where the terms and conditions of the issuance and exchange of
such securities have been approved by any governmental authority having
appropriate authority, including a court of competent jurisdiction, after a
hearing upon the fairness of the terms and conditions of the issuance and
exchange at which all persons to whom such securities will be issued have the
right to appear. The Court is authorized to conduct a hearing to determine the
fairness of the terms and conditions of the arrangement, including the proposed
issuance of BioMarin securities in exchange for outstanding Glyko securities.
The Court entered the interim order on , 2002 and subject to the
approval of the arrangement by the Glyko shareholders and the BioMarin
stockholders, a hearing on the fairness of the arrangement is expected to be
held on or about , 2002 by the Court. See "--Court Approval of the
Arrangement and Completion of the Transaction."

The shares of BioMarin common stock received by any Glyko shareholder who is
an "affiliate" of either Glyko or BioMarin prior to the arrangement or will be
an "affiliate" of BioMarin after the arrangement will be subject to certain
restrictions on resale imposed by the United States Securities Act of 1933. As
defined in Rule 144 under the United States Securities Act of 1933, an
"affiliate" of an issuer for the purposes of the United States Securities Act
of 1933 is a person that directly or indirectly, through one or more
intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with,
such issuer.

The shares of BioMarin common stock issued to Glyko shareholders may be
resold by affiliates and non-affiliates as follows:

95



Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

Persons who are not affiliates of Glyko or BioMarin prior to the
arrangement and who will not be affiliates of BioMarin after the
arrangement may resell their shares of BioMarin common stock in the
United States without restriction under the United States Securities Act
of 1933.

Persons who are affiliates of either Glyko or BioMarin prior to the
arrangement and who will be affiliates of BioMarin after the arrangement
may not resell their shares of BioMarin common stock in the absence of
registration under the United States Securities Act of 1933, unless an
exemption from registration is available, such as the exemption contained
in Rule 145(d) under the United States Securities Act of 1933, or unless
registration is not required pursuant to the exclusion from registration
provided by Regulation S under the United States Securities Act of 1933.
In general, under Rule 145(d) as currently in effect, persons who are
affiliates of either Glyko or BioMarin prior to the arrangement and
persons who will be an affiliate of BioMarin after the arrangement will
be entitled to resell in the United States during any three-month period
that number of shares of BioMarin common stock that does not exceed the
greater of 1% of the then outstanding securities of such class and the
average weekly trading volume of such securities on Nasdaqg during the
four-week period preceding the date of sale, subject to certain
restrictions on manner of sale, notice requirements, aggregation rules
and the availability of public information about BioMarin.
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Persons who are affiliates of Glyko or BioMarin prior to the arrangement
but who will not be affiliates of BioMarin after the arrangement, and who
hold their shares of BioMarin common stock for a period of one year after
the arrangement, may resell their shares of BioMarin common stock without
regard to the volume and manner of sale limitations set forth in the
preceding paragraph, subject to the availability of certain public
information about BioMarin. Persons who are affiliates of Glyko or
BioMarin prior to the arrangement who hold their shares of BioMarin
common stock for a period of two years after the arrangement may freely
resell shares of BioMarin common stock provided that such persons have
not been an affiliate of BioMarin during the three-month period preceding
the resale.

As a condition to closing the transaction, Glyko and BioMarin will enter
into agreements with certain affiliates of Glyko, pursuant to which such
affiliates agree not to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of any shares of
BioMarin common stock unless: (i) such transaction is permitted under Rule 145
under the United States Securities Act of 1933; (ii) such transaction is made
pursuant to an effective registration statement under the United States
Securities Act of 1933, or (iii) such transaction is made pursuant to an
exemption from registration under the United States Securities Act of 1933.

Shares of BioMarin common stock issuable upon exercise of replacement
options issued by BioMarin in connection with the transaction will be issued
pursuant to BioMarin's 1997 Stock Plan, as amended. The shares of BioMarin
common stock issuable upon the exercise of such replacement options will be
registered pursuant to an effective registration statement on Form S-8. Persons
who acquire such shares upon the exercise of such replacement options, who are
not otherwise affiliates of BioMarin, may resell their shares without
restriction under the United States Securities Act of 1933.

The foregoing discussion is only a general overview of certain requirements
of United States securities laws applicable to the securities received upon
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completion of the transaction. All holders of securities received in connection
with the transaction are urged to consult with counsel to ensure that the
resale of their securities complies with applicable securities regulation.

Delisting and Deregistration of Glyko Common Shares After the Transaction

When the transaction is completed such that all holders of Glyko shares
(other than those that have exercised dissent rights) have exchanged their
shares for shares of BioMarin common stock, Glyko common shares will be
delisted from the Toronto Stock Exchange and will be deregistered under the
United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Termination of Ongoing Reporting Obligations

Upon completion of the arrangement, Glyko will be an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of BioMarin. Accordingly, after the implementation date of the
arrangement, Glyko will apply to the appropriate securities regulatory
authorities in Canada and in the United States to cease to be a reporting
issuer, so as to no longer be subject to statutory financial and reporting
requirements under applicable securities laws in Canada and the United States.

Upon completion of the arrangement, it is not expected that BioMarin will
become a reporting issuer in any of the Canadian provinces.

Other Agreements

BioMarin has entered into agreements with certain shareholders of Glyko
(including all directors who are shareholders), representing in the aggregate
approximately 27.3% of the outstanding Glyko common shares, pursuant to which
each such shareholder has agreed: (i) to vote the Glyko common shares held by
such shareholder in favor of the arrangement and the transactions contemplated
thereby; and (ii) to vote the Glyko
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common shares held by such shareholder against (1) any Acquisition Proposal
(other than a Superior Offer), (2) any reorganization, recapitalization,
dissolution, liquidation or winding up of Glyko, and (3) any amendment to the
articles of incorporation or bylaws of Glyko which would prevent, impede,
interfere with or delay the arrangement; (iii) to waive any rights of appraisal
or rights to dissent from the arrangement that such shareholder may have; (iv)
to not deposit or tender or agree to deposit or tender any of the Glyko common
shares held by such shareholder to any take-over bid, stock exchange take-over
bid or other purchase or acquisition of equity securities which is or is part
of an Acquisition Proposal (other than a Superior Offer); (v) to not make, aid
or abet, directly or indirectly, any "solicitation" of "proxies" (as such terms
are used in the Canada Business Corporations Act) in respect of any Acquisition
Proposal; (vi) to not initiate, propose or otherwise solicit shareholders of
Glyko for the approval of one or more shareholder proposals with respect to
Glyko as described in Section 99 of the Canada Business Corporations Act, or
induce or attempt to induce any other person or entity to initiate any
shareholder proposal with respect to Glyko, which in either case is contrary to
or inconsistent with the terms of the arrangement; (vii) to not call or seek to
have called any meeting of the shareholders of Glyko for any purpose which is
contrary to or inconsistent with the terms of the arrangement; and (viii) to
immediately notify BioMarin, at first orally and then in writing, of any
agreement that such shareholder has entered into to sell, transfer, pledge,
create an encumbrance on, or otherwise convey any of the Glyko common shares
held by such shareholder or any interest therein to any person or entity.
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Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, a Superior Offer is an
unsolicited, bona fide written offer made by a third party (other than BioMarin
or its affiliates) which, if consummated, would result in such third party
acquiring, directly or indirectly, securities representing more than 50% of the
voting power of the shares of Glyko or the resulting entity of such transaction
or all or substantially all of the assets of Glyko, in each case on terms which
the board of directors of Glyko reasonably determines (following receipt of
advice from its financial advisors of nationally recognized reputation and
outside counsel) to be more favorable to Glyko's shareholders than the terms of
the arrangement.

Expenses

The combined estimated fees, costs and expenses of BioMarin and Glyko in
connection with the transaction of approximately $3.7 million include, without
limitation, financial advisors' fees of approximately $1.3 million, legal and
accounting fees of approximately $2.0 million, and soliciting fees, printing,
mailing and other costs related to the stockholders' meetings of approximately
$300,000 and filing fees of approximately $19,000.

73

REPORTING CURRENCIES AND ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Except as otherwise expressly noted, the financial information regarding
Glyko and the summaries thereof contained in this Joint Proxy Circular are
reported in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles, or Canadian GAAP. Glyko audited
financial statements on Annex J have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP. Glyko audited financial statements on Annex K have been prepared in
accordance with United States GAAP.

The consolidated financial statements, the pro forma consolidated financial
statements, and the summaries of historical consolidated financial information
of BioMarin in this Joint Proxy Circular are reported in U.S. dollars and have
been prepared in accordance with United States GAAP.

UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED, ALL DOLLAR AMOUNTS ARE EXPRESSED IN U.S. DOLLARS.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
BioMarin Selected Consolidated Financial Data

This section presents BioMarin's selected consolidated financial data. You
should carefully read the financial statements included in the reports
incorporated by reference in this Joint Proxy Circular, including the notes to
the financial statements included in those reports. The selected data in this
section is not intended to replace the financial statements.

The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December
31, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001 and 2002 and for the period from March 21, 1997
(inception) to December 31, 1997, and the consolidated balance sheet data at
December 31, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001, are derived from BioMarin's
audited consolidated financial statements that have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(which differ in certain respects from accounting principles generally accepted
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in Canada). The consolidated statement of operations data for the three month
periods ended March 31, 2001 and 2002 and the consolidated balance sheet data
at March 31, 2002, are derived from BioMarin's unaudited consolidated financial
statements. The unaudited consolidated financial statements include, in the
opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, that management considers necessary for a fair statement of the
results for those periods. Historical results are not indicative of results
that BioMarin may expect in the future. The following data should be read in
conjunction with BioMarin's consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
and BioMarin's "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" included elsewhere in this Joint Proxy Circular.

Period from
March 21, 1997

(inception) to Year ended December 31,
December 31, ————————————————————
1997 1998 1999 2000 20
(in thousands, except for per share data)
Consolidated statement of operations
data (1) :
REVENUES . ¢ v vt e e e e e emeeeeeeseeeneennaaeesseeenns $ - S 854 $ 5,300 $ 9,714 s 11
Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development................... 1,914 10,288 26,341 34,459 45
General and administrative................. 914 3,146 4,757 6,507 6
In-process research and development........ - - - - 11
Facility CloSUre. ...ttt ittt - - - 4,423
Total operating costs and expenses...... 2,828 13,434 31,0098 45,389 63
Loss from operations........ouiiiiiiinineeennnnn (2,828) (12,580) (25,798) (35,675) (51
Interest INCOME. .. i ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeennenn 65 685 1,832 2,979 1
Interest EXPEeNSEe . i ittt ittt et ettt eaeeeeeeeenn —— —— (732) (7)
Equity in loss of joint venture................ —— (47) (1,673) (2,912) (7
Net loss from continuing operations............ (2,763) (11,942) (26,371) (35,615) (57
Income (loss) from discontinued operations..... —— (372) (1,701) (1,749) (2
Loss from disposal of discontinued operations.. - - - - (7
NEl 108 St ittt ittt ettt et eeeeeeeeeeeeennnaeeenns $(2,763) $(12,314) $(28,072) $(37,364) $(67
Net loss per share, basic and diluted:
Loss from continuing operations................ $ (0.34) $ (0.53) $ (0.88) $ (0.99) s (
Income (loss) from discontinued operations..... S - S (0.02) $ (0.06) $ (0.05) $ (
Loss from disposal of discontinued operations.. $ - $ - S - 8 -— 5
NEl 108 S ittt ittt ettt et eeeeeeeeeeeeeannaeeenns $ (0.34) $ (0.55) $ (0.94) s (1L.04) s (
Weighted average common shares outstanding..... 8,136 22,488 29,944 35,859 41
75
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December 31,
———————————————————————————————————————— March 31,
1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

(in thousands,

(in thousands) unaudited)

Consolidated balance sheet data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term

investments. . vt e et ittt e e $6,888 $11,389 $ 62,986 $40,201 $131,097 $114,798
Total current assets.......oveeee.e... 7,507 12,819 66,422 44,541 136,783 123,426
Total ASSEeLS . i ittt ieeeeenneeeenns 7,653 31,510 103,549 76,933 171,811 157,306
Long-term liabilities................ —— 110 85 56 3,961 3,503
Total stockholders' equity........... 7,380 29,394 98,377 69,994 159,548 144,368
(1) See notes to BioMarin's consolidated financial statements for a

description of the number of shares used in the computation of the net loss per
common share.

BioMarin Supplemental Financial Data

This section presents BioMarin's unaudited supplemental financial data for
each of the nine quarterly periods ended March 31, 2002. You should carefully
read the financial statements included in this Joint Proxy Circular, including
the notes to the financial statements included in those reports. The
supplemental financial data in this section is not intended to replace the
financial statements.

Three Month Period Ended

Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2000 2000 2000 2000

(unaudited, in thousands,
except for per share data)

Consolidated statements of operations data:

REVENUES . ¢ ettt e e e e e e eeneeeeeeeeeeneenneeeesenens $ 2,791 s 2,258 $ 1,950 s 2,715
Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development..............coo.. 8,178 7,417 8,253 10,611
General and administrative................. 1,621 1,797 1,527 1,562
Facility ClOoSULE. .t ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeennn 4,423 - - -
Total operating costs and expenses..... 14,222 9,214 9,780 12,173
Loss from operations.........ouiiiiiinennnnn. (11,431) (6,956) (7,830) (9,458)
Interest 1NCOME. ... ittt ittt ittt et 788 802 691 698
Interest EXPENSE . i i ittt ittt ettt eaeeeeeeenn (2) (2) (2) (1)
Equity in loss of joint venture............... (557) (698) (590) (1,067)
Loss from continuing operations............... (11,202) (6,854) (7,731) (9,828)
Loss from discontinued operations............. (534) (232) (417) (566)
J S o 0 1 = $(11,736) $(7,086) $(8,148) $(10,394)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted:
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Loss from continuing operations............ $ (0.32) $ (0.19) $ (0.22) $ (0.26)
Loss from discontinued operations.......... S (0.02) $ (0.01) S (0.01) $ (0.02)
NEtl 1OSS ettt ettt ettt eeeeeeneeeeenseeennnns $ (0.34) $ (0.20) $ (0.23) $ (0.28)
Weighted average common shares outstanding.... 35,015 35,397 36,064 36,888
76
As at

Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

2000 2000

(unaudited, in

Consolidated balance sheet data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $55,674 $49,412

Total current asSsSelL S ... ittt ittt teeeeeeennenns 61,552 53,532

Total ASSEeE S . it ittt ettt et e ettt ettt e 94,490 86,090

Long-term liabilities.........iuiiiiiiiiinnnnn.. 77 68

Total stockholders' equity.......ccoiiiiieennnn. 89,731 83,196
Mar. 31,

2001

2000 2000

thousands)

$47,505 $40,201
51,414 44,541
83,324 76,933

63 56
79,652 69,994

Three Month Period Ended

June 30, Sept. 30, Dec
2001 2001 2

(unaudited, in thousands, except for

Consolidated statements of operations data:

ROV BN S s 4 4 vt e ettt ettt e et et eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeas $ 2,690
Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development. ... ..ttt iini it enneeennns 9,657
General and administrative......... ittt 1,474

In-process research and development..........ovviiiuueo.. -

Total operating costs and EXPEenNSeS. .. ...t eenneneeen.. 11,131
Loss from operations . ..ttt ittt ittt et e e e (8,441)
Interest INCOmME. .. ittt ittt ettt e et ettt e eeeeeeeeeaenn 468
TNt EresSt EXPENS . ¢ ittt ettt ettt ettt et ae et (2)
Equity in loss of joint venture...........iiuiiiiiiiiiiinnnnn. (1,108)
Loss from continuing operationsS.........iiiiittennnneenns (9,083)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations.................. (617)

Loss from disposal of discontinued operations............... -

L= I8 = $(9,700)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted:
Loss from continuing operations..........cceeiiiiieennennn. $ (0.25)

$ 3,012 § 3,101 s

11,506 10,061 1
1,536 2,340
—= —= 1
13,042 12,401 2
(10,030) (9,300) (2
436 530
(1) (8)
(1,736) (1,864) (

(638) (373)
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Income (loss) from discontinued operations............... S (0.01) S (0.01) $ (0.
Loss from disposal of discontinued operations............ $ - S -- S -- S
B = X0 = S (0.26) S (0.30) $ (0.26) $
Weighted average common shares outstanding.................. 37,052 39,587 42,136 4
As at
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2001 2001 2001 2001
(unaudited, in thousands)
Consolidated balance sheet data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments........... $29,766 $59,885 $43,905 $131,097
Total CUrrent ASSEeL S . i i it ii ittt ittt ettt ettt eeetneaneean 35,861 63,586 50,642 136,783
Total ASSEl S . ittt it e e e e e e e e e e 65,443 98,321 90,402 171,811
Long-term liabilities. .. ...ttt ittt teeeeaeennn 47 198 146 3,961
Total stockholders' equUity.....i ittt t et eennenns 61,759 93,000 84,166 159,548
77
Glyko Selected Financial Data
The following table presents historical financial data for the periods
indicated in U.S. dollars. The statement of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 1999, 2000, 2001 and 2002 and the balance sheet data at December
31, 2000 and 2001, are derived from Glyko's audited financial statements that
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in Canada. The statement of operations data for the three month periods ended
March 31, 2001 and 2002 and the balance sheet data at March 31, 2002, are
derived from Glyko's unaudited consolidated financial statements. The unaudited
financial statements include, in the opinion of management, all adjustments,
consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, that management considers
necessary for a fair statement of the results for those periods. Historical
results are not indicative of results that Glyko may expect in the future. The
following data should be read in conjunction with Glyko's financial statements
and notes thereto and Glyko's "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" included elsewhere in this Joint
Proxy Circular.
In order to comply with Canadian securities regulatory requirements, Glyko's
financial information has been prepared using Canadian GAAP, which differs in
certain respects from United States GAAP.
Three
Year Ended December 31, Ende
1999 2000 2001 2001
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(in thousands, except for per share data) (in th

for pe
un
Statements of operations data(l):
Expenses:
General and administrative................... $ 199 $ 388 $ 462 $
Total EXPENSES . i i vttt ittt eneeeeenns 199 388 462
Loss from operations........oiiiiiineeeeennnnns (199) (388) (462) (
Equity in loss of BioMarinPharmaceutical Inc.... (10,173) (11, 934) (18,904) (3,0
Gain on reduction of share ownership of BioMarin
Pharmaceutical TInC. ..ttt ieteeeeeeeneeneenn 26,814 1,424 30,515 3
Interest 1NCOME. ...ttt ittt ittt et 187 121 123
Net 1ncome (L1OSS) v vt it ittt ettt eeeeneennenn $ 16,629 $(10,777) $ 11,272 S (2,7
Earnings (loss) per share--basic................ S 0.54 S (0.32) S 0.33 S (0.
Earnings (loss) per share--diluted.............. S 0.50 S (0.32) S 0.33 S (0.
Weighted average number of shares--basic........ 31,066 33,915 34,353 34,3
Weighted average number of shares—--diluted...... 33,568 33,915 34,372 34,3
(1) See notes to Glyko's financial statements for a description of the number

of shares used in the computation of earnings per share.
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Reconciliation of financial information prepared using Canadian GAAP to
United States GAAP:

Three Mont

Year Ended December 31, Ended Mar
1999 2000 2001 2001
(in thousands) (in thous
unaudit
Net income (loss) as shown above in Canadian GAAP....... $ 16,629 $(10,777) $ 11,272 $(2,749)
Items having a positive effect on net income (loss):
Amortization or write-off of BioMarin's goodwill not
recognized under United States GAAP (1) ............. 674 1,065 7,005 349
Items having a negative effect on net income (loss):
In-process research and development not recognized
under Canadian GAAP (1) v v v v it ittt ettt eeeeeeaeann —— —— (2,528) —=
Deferred compensation amortization not recognized
under Canadian GAAP (1) v v v v it ittt ettt eeeeeeaeann (500) (442) (250) (71)
Interest income not recognized under United States
© 20 2 (29) (57) (79) (17)

Gain on reduction of share ownership of BioMarin
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included in additional paid in capital under

United States GAAP ... ...ttt ittt iiiiinenn (26,814) (1,424) (30,515)

Net loss according to United States GAAP.......vvueueene.. $(10,040) $(11,635) $(15,095) $(2,865)

(1) These amounts are recorded as Glyko's Equity in Loss of BioMarin.

As at December 31, As at
—————————————————— March 31,
2000 2001 2002
(in thousands) (in thousands,
unaudited)
Balance sheet data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 1,805 $ 2,444 $ 2,419
Investment in BioMarin. .. ... i it eteeeeeeeneenn 25,129 36,741 35,945
Total ASSEeE S . it ittt ettt et et e et ettt 26,964 39,185 38,364
Total shareholders' equity........ccoiiiiinnnn. 26,649 38,724 37,633

79

Reconciliation of financial information prepared using Canadian GAAP to
United States GAAP:

As at December 31,

(in thousands)

Investment in BioMarin as shown above in Canadian GAAP. ... ....'eeennnnenenn $25,129 $36,741
Impact of write-off of in-process research and development for
United StatesS GRARP . i it it ittt et et ettt et e e ettt eeeeeeeeaeneas —— (2,528)
Impact of Glyko Biomedical's disposal of Glyko, Inc. not included for
United States GRARP . i it it it et et et ettt et et ettt e e eeeeeeeeeeaeaeas (6,823) (6,823)
Impact of amortization of deferred compensation for United States
02 2N (1,024) (1,274)
Impact of goodwill amortization and write-off not included for
United States GAAP .. it ittt ittt ettt ettt teeteeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeenens 1,739 8,742
Investment in BioMarin in United States GAAP . ... . i ittt eennnenns $19,021 $34,858
Total assets as shown above in Canadian GAAP . . ...ttt ittt eeeeeenneeeneennn $26,964 $39,185
Impact of write-off of in-process research and development for
United States GRARP . i it it it et et et ettt et ettt e e e eeeeeeeeeeaeaeas —— (2,528)
Impact of Glyko Biomedical's disposal of Glyko, Inc. not included for
United States GRARP . i it it it et et ettt ettt e ettt et eeeeeeeeeeaeneas (6,823) (6,823)
Impact of amortization of deferred compensation for United States
02 2N (1,024) (1,274)
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Impact of goodwill amortization and write-off not included for

United States GAAP .. it ittt ittt ettt et e te e teeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenens 1,739 8,742
Total assets in United States GAAP . .. vttt ittt ittt et eeeeeeeeennnnn $20,856 $37,302 S
Total shareholders' equity as shown above in Canadian GRAAP...........c... $26,649 $38,724 S
Impact of write-off of in-process research and development for
United StatesS GRARP . i it it it it ettt ettt et et ettt ettt eeeeeeeeaeaeas —— (2,528)
Impact of Glyko Biomedical's disposal of Glyko, Inc. not included for
United States GRARP . i it it it et et et ettt et ettt e e e e eeeeeeeeeeaeaeas (6,823) (6,823)
Impact of amortization of deferred compensation for United States
02 2 (1,024) (1,274)
Impact of goodwill amortization and write-off not included for
United States GAAP . .. i i ittt ittt ettt ettt teeeeeeeeeeaeeeneenens 1,739 8,742
[ Sl (1) ——
Total shareholders' equity in United States GAAP........oouvueeeenn. $20,540 $36,841 S
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are
presented for illustrative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of
the combined results of operations of the consolidated company. The unaudited
pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared from the
historical financial statements of Glyko and BioMarin as at March 31, 2002, for
the year ended December 31, 2001 and for the three month period ended March 31,
2002. The unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet assumes the
transaction had been consummated on March 31, 2002. The unaudited pro forma
consolidated statements of operations for the three month period ended March
31, 2002 and for the year ended December 31, 2001 assume that the transaction
had been consummated on January 1, 2001. These unaudited pro forma consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the historical
consolidated financial statements of BioMarin and Glyko, including the notes
thereto, included in Annexes I and J, respectively. The unaudited pro forma
consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with United
States GAAP, which differs in certain respects from Canadian GAAP. All figures
are in U.S. dollars.

BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet (United States GAAP)
at March 31, 2002

(in thousands, except per share data)

Pro Forma Adjustments

Intercomp
BioMarin Glyko Additions Subtractions Eliminati

Assets:
CUrrent aSSetS. v v ie e ineeeeeneennnn $ 123,426 S 2,419 S —— S (3,700) (a) S —
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Investment in BioMarin............. —— 31,575 (31,57
Investment in Glyko................ —— —— 61,558 (b) (61,55
Other long-term assets............. 33,880 -
Total assetS. v eennnn. $ 157,306 $ 33,994 $ 61,558 $ (3,700) $(93,13
Total liabilities............... $ 12,938 s 731 S - $ (1,000) (a) S -
Stockholders' equity:
Common StoCK...u.w e, 53 22,535 11 (b) (11) (c) (22,53
Preferred stock.... .. ... —— —— 61,558 (c) (61,55
Additional paid in capital......... 316,469 72,627 61,547 (b) (61,547) (c) (72,62
L= B o= o N i S ARt 5,219 ——
Deferred compensation.............. (490) -
Stockholder notes........iviuen.. (2,087) ——
Foreign currency translation....... (74) -
Retained deficit................... (174,722) (61,899) (2,700) (a) 63,58
Total stockholders' equity...... 144,368 33,263 123,116 (64,258) (93,13
Total liabilities and
stockholders' equity........... $ 157,306 $ 33,994 $123,116 $(65,258) $(93,13
81
BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations (United States GAAP)
For The Year Ended December 31, 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)
Historical
IBEX
Historical (1/1/01-date Historical Pro
BioMarin of Synapse Pro Forma Subt
(1/1/01-12/31/01) acquisition) (1/1/01-12/31/01) Adjustments Withou
REVENUES . + vttt et ee e ennnnnn $ 11,699 S 11
Operating cost and
expenses:
Research and
development............ 45,283 656 (f) 3,366 (7) 409
General and
administrative......... 6,718 667 (f) 7
In-process research
and development........ 11,647 (11,647) (9)
Total costs and
EXPENSES . v v v v v e nnnnn 63,648 56
Loss from operations....... (51, 949) (44
Interest income............ 1,871 1
Interest expense........... (17)
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Equity in loss of
BioMarin.........oeeennn.. -
Equity in loss of joint

VeNLULE . ot it et ettt e eeeee (7,333)

Loss from continuing

operations................ $(57,428)
Net loss from continuing

operations per common

share, basic and diluted.. S (1.40)
Weighted average shares

outstanding............... 41,083

Pro Forma Pro Forma

Adjustments Total
REVENUES .+ v vt ettt ee e eneenn $ 11,699
Operating cost and
expenses:
Research and
development............ 49,305
General and
administrative......... 7,847
In-process research
and development........ -
Total costs and
EXPENSES . v v v v v e nnnnn 57,152
Loss from operations....... (45,453)
Interest income............ 1,916
Interest expense........... (17)
Equity in loss of
BioMarin......eeeeeeeeeenn 14,678 (e) -
Equity in loss of joint
VeNELULE . v v it e e e et eeeeen (7,333)
Loss from continuing
operations................ $(50,887)
Net loss from continuing
operations per common
share, basic and diluted.. S (1.19)
Weighted average shares
outstanding............... 42,647
82

679 (k) 885(1)
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BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations

For The Three Month Period Ended March 31,

(in thousands,

Revenues...... .. i,

Operating cost and expenses:
Research and development........
General and administrative......
In-process research and

development.........oveeenen..

Total costs and
EXPENSES e v v v e e e e e eneeeeean

Loss from operations...............
Interest dncome........ovviiiin
Interest expense........cviviiin.n
Equity in loss of BioMarin.........
Equity in loss of joint venture....

Loss from continuing operations....

Net loss from continuing operations
per common share, basic and
diluted. ... ittt

Weighted average shares
outstanding..........cuiiiiie..

Revenues...... ...

Operating cost and expenses:
Research and development........
General and administrative......
In-process research and

development.........c.veveunen..

Total costs and

(United States GAAP)

except per share data)

Historical

BioMarin

(1/1/02-3/31/02)

(24,575)
380
(91)

Pro Forma

Total

2002
Historical
Synapse
(1/1/02- Pro Forma
date of Pro Forma Subtotal
acquisition) Adjustments Without Glyko (1/
S 3,792
488 (7) 13,706
(1,000) (1) 2,926
(11,223) (h) -
16,632
(12,840)
380
(91)
(2,298)
$(14,849)
S (0.28)
787 (1) 53,322
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EXPENSES e v vttt et 16,927
Loss from operations............... (13,135)
Interest dncome........ovviiinn 381
Interest exXpense. .. ..o, (91)
Equity in loss of BioMarin......... -
Equity in loss of joint venture.... (2,298)
Loss from continuing operations.... $(15,143)

Net loss from continuing operations
per common share, basic and
diluted..... ... S (0.28)

Weighted average shares
outstanding..........ouiiiii.. 53,322
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Basis of Presentation

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are presented to
give effect to:

the acquisition of Glyko by BioMarin;

the acquisition by BioMarin of certain assets of IBEX Therapeutics
(IBEX), and

the acquisition by BioMarin of Synapse Technologies Inc.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared
from the historical financial statements of Glyko (see Note 2 below) and
BioMarin as at March 31, 2002, for the three months in the period then ended
and for the year ended December 31, 2001. The unaudited pro forma balance sheet
assumes the transactions had been consummated on March 31, 2002. The pro forma
statement of operations for each of the periods presented assumes that all
transactions had been consummated on January 1, 2001.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements do not reflect any
cost savings or other synergies which may result from the transaction and are
not necessarily indicative of future results of operations or financial
position.

These unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are presented in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Accounting policies used in the preparation of the
unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are in accordance with
those used in the preparation of the historical consolidated financial
statements of BioMarin as at December 31, 2001 and for the year then ended. The
unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the historical consolidated financial statements of BioMarin
and Glyko, including the notes thereto, included in Annexes I and J,
respectively.

2. Conversion of Glyko to U. S. GAAP

The historical consolidated financial statements of BioMarin (included in
Annex I) have been prepared using U.S. GAAP and the historical financial
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statements of Glyko have been prepared using Canadian GAAP (included in Annex
J) and U.S. GAAP (included in Annex K). The primary differences between U.S.
GAAP and Canadian GAAP are: (i) the way in which Glyko's equity in loss of
BioMarin is calculated and presented in the income statement; and (ii) that
Glyko reflects its gain on reduction of share ownership of BioMarin as an
income statement item under Canadian GAAP, and as a paid-in capital under U.S.

GAAP.

3. Pro Forma Adjustments and Certain Non-Recurring Charges not Included

(a)

(b)

(h)

(1)

Reflects the estimated costs associated with the transaction of $3.7
million. At March 31, 2002, $1.0 million of these costs had been
incurred but not paid. Such costs will be charged to operations as
incurred. These costs have been excluded from loss from continuing

operations for all periods presented as they are non-recurring in nature.

Records BioMarin's investment in Glyko at the fair value of the common
stock to be issued by BioMarin. The fair value will ultimately be
determined based on the fair value of BioMarin's stock as of the
transaction date. For purposes of this presentation, the amount is based
on the per share price of BioMarin common stock at May 10, 2002
multiplied by the 11,367,617 shares to be issued by BioMarin.

The effect of the stock options that BioMarin will issue in the
transaction is not expected to be material and is not reflected in these
pro forma statements.

Reflects BioMarin's issuance of preferred stock to Glyko in exchange for
the BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko (11,367,617 shares at March 31,
2002) . Also reflects the cancellation of the BioMarin common stock
received by BioMarin from Glyko.
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Eliminates intercompany holdings in consolidation.

Reverses Glyko's equity in loss of BioMarin that would eliminate in
consolidation.

Reflects research and development and general and administrative
expenses of IBEX therapeutics business incurred during 2001.

BioMarin incurred an in process research and development charge of
approximately $11.6 million in connection with the acquisition of IBEX
therapeutic assets. This amount has been excluded from the pro-forma
presentation as it is non-recurring.

BioMarin incurred an in-process research and development charge of
approximately $11.2 million in connection with the acquisition of
Synapse. This amount has been excluded from the pro forma presentation
as it is non-recurring.

Reflects the portion of the $3.7 million in estimated transaction costs
incurred for the three months ended March 31, 2002. These costs have

been excluded as they are non-recurring in nature.

Reflects research and development expenses of Synapse incurred during
2001 and the first quarter of 2002.

Reflects the number of shares issued in connection with the IBEX
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transaction as if the transaction had been consummated on January 1,
2001.

(1) Reflects the number of shares issued in connection with the Synapse
transaction as if the transaction had been consummated on January 1,
2001.

4. Reconciliation of BioMarin Stockholders' Equity

The following table reconciles stockholders' equity of BioMarin:

(in thousands)

Balance at March 31, 2002 (unaudited) ... ..ttt in it tneeeneeneennnn $144,368
Net assets of Glyko acquired....... ..ttt iin e tennenneeennn 1,688
TranSaACEION COSE S i v i ittt ittt et et ettt ettt ettt ettt eeeeenenan (2,700)
Issuance of BioMarin common stock to Glyko shareholders........... 61,558
Cancellation of shares of BioMarin owned by Glyko................. (61,558)
Issuance of shares of BioMarin Series A Preferred Stock to Glyko.. 61,558
Elimination of Series A Preferred Stock upon consolidation........ (61,558)

Pro Forma Consolidated Balance at March 31, 2002 (unaudited)......... $143,356
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PRO FORMA CAPITALIZATION OF BIOMARIN

The following table sets forth: (i) the actual capitalization of BioMarin as
at March 31, 2002; and (ii) the capitalization of BioMarin as at March 31,
2002, on an unaudited, as adjusted basis assuming the completion of this
transaction.

Cash, cash equivalents and short term investments
Long-term liabilities
Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, $.001 par value, 75,000,000 shares authorized; 53,357,642 shares
issued and outstanding, actual and 53,357,642 shares issued and outstanding,

£ 6 = o
Additional paid—In Capifal. ...ttt ittt ettt ettt e e e et e

Common stock warrants
Deferred compensation
Notes from stockholders
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Deficit accumulated during development stage

Total stockholders ' EQUIt Y ..ttt ittt it e ettt e ettt et e eaeeeeeeeennaaeens

as

March 3

53
316,469
5,219
(490)
(2,087)
(74)
(174,722)

144,368
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Total liabilities and stockholders' equity.......i ittt eenneenns $ 157,306

The number of shares of BioMarin common stock in the actual and as adjusted
columns in the table above excludes:

7,820,195 shares of BioMarin common stock issuable upon exercise of
outstanding options issued under BioMarin's stock option plans at a
weighted average exercise price of $11.31 per share at March 31, 2002;

an additional 2,784,110 shares of common stock available for future
issuance under BioMarin's stock option plans and employee stock purchase
plan at March 31, 2002; and

779,846 shares of BioMarin common stock issuable upon exercise of
outstanding warrants at a weighted average exercise price of $13.35 per
share as of March 31, 2002.
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THE ACQUISITION AGREEMENT

The following summary of the Acquisition Agreement for a Plan of Arrangement
by and among BioMarin, BioMarin Nova Scotia and Glyko, dated as of February 6,
2002, as amended by the Amending Agreement dated as of May 16, 2002 and
attached as Annex A and Annex A-1, respectively to this Joint Proxy Circular
(collectively, the "Acquisition Agreement"), is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the complete text of the Acquisition Agreement which is
incorporated by reference into this Joint Proxy Circular.

Structure of the Arrangement

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, Glyko will enter into a Plan
of Arrangement under the Canada Business Corporations Act, as a result of which
BioMarin shall acquire each outstanding Glyko common share that is not held by
a holder who has exercised its dissenters' rights in exchange for 0.3309 of a
share of common stock of BioMarin. The terms of the Acquisition Agreement
contemplate the continuance of Glyko under the laws of British Columbia
following the effectiveness but prior to the actual implementation of the
arrangement.

Completion and Effectiveness of the Arrangement

BioMarin and Glyko will complete the transaction after all of the conditions
to completion of the arrangement contained in the Acquisition Agreement,
including the continuance of Glyko under the laws of British Columbia, have
been satisfied or waived. The arrangement will become effective upon the
issuance of a certificate of arrangement, issued pursuant to subsection 192 (7)
of the Canada Business Corporations Act after the articles of arrangement have
been filed.

BioMarin and Glyko are working toward satisfying the conditions and
completing the arrangement as quickly as possible. BioMarin and Glyko currently
plan to complete the arrangement by the end of the second calendar quarter of
2002. Because the acquisition is subject to court approval and other
conditions, some of which are beyond BioMarin and Glyko's control, the exact
timing of completing the transaction cannot be predicted with certainty.
However, if the transaction has not been completed by August 30, 2002, either
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party may terminate the Acquisition Agreement, provided that the terminating
party's own action or failure to act was not the principal cause of the failure
to complete the transaction by such date.

Exchange of Shares under the Arrangement

At the implementation time of the arrangement, BioMarin Nova Scotia (a
wholly owned subsidiary of BioMarin) will acquire all of the outstanding common
shares of Glyko (other than those of dissenting Glyko shareholders who
ultimately receive from Glyko the fair value of their Glyko common shares), in
exchange for that portion of a share of BioMarin common stock equal to the
exchange ratio of 0.3309, subject to anti-dilution adjustment. In no event will
BioMarin Nova Scotia be required to transfer to the holders of Glyko common
shares more than 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock in connection with
the rights of exchange provided for under the Acquisition Agreement. The
Acquisition Agreement provides that the exchange ratio shall be adjusted to
reflect appropriately the effect of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock
dividend, extraordinary cash dividend, reorganization, recapitalization,
reclassification, combination, exchange of shares or other like change with
respect to BioMarin common stock.

Each option to purchase Glyko common shares under the Glyko stock option
plan which remains outstanding at the implementation time of the arrangement
shall be exchanged for an option to purchase such number of shares of BioMarin
common stock as are determined in accordance with the Acquisition Agreement and
the Plan of Arrangement.
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Fractional Shares

No certificates representing fractional shares of BioMarin common stock
shall be issued upon the surrender for exchange of certificates representing
Glyko common shares. In lieu of any such fractional securities, each person
otherwise entitled to a fractional interest (after aggregating all fractional
shares of BioMarin common stock that otherwise would be received by such
holder) in a share of BioMarin common stock will be entitled to receive from
BioMarin Nova Scotia a cash payment (rounded to the nearest whole cent),
without interest, equal to the product of (i) such fraction, and (ii) the
average closing price of the shares of BioMarin common stock for the 20 most
recent days that BioMarin common stock has traded ending on the second trading
day immediately prior to the effective date of the arrangement, as reported on
Nasdagqg.

Representations and Warranties of Glyko
Glyko made a number of customary representations and warranties to BioMarin

in the Acquisition Agreement regarding aspects of its business, financial
condition, structure and other facts pertinent to the transaction. These
representations and warranties include representations and warranties, as of
February 6, 2002, on:

the corporate organization and qualification to do business of Glyko;

the articles of incorporation and bylaws of Glyko;

Glyko's capitalization;

authorization of the Acquisition Agreement by Glyko;
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the absence of conflicts in connection with Glyko's performance under the
Acquisition Agreement;

regulatory and third party approvals required by Glyko to complete the
arrangement;

the filing and consent obligations of Glyko under applicable laws in
connection with the arrangement;

compliance with applicable laws and certain contracts by Glyko;
the absence of government investigation or review of Glyko;

Glyko's filings and reports with Canadian securities regulatory
authorities and the Toronto Stock Exchange;

Glyko's financial statements;
Glyko's books and records;
Glyko's liabilities;

changes in Glyko's business since December 31, 2000 and actions taken by
Glyko since December 31, 2000;

litigation involving Glyko;

Glyko's employee benefit plans;

Glyko's labor relations;

the absence of restrictions on the conduct of Glyko's business;
title to the properties Glyko owns and validity of Glyko's leases;
tax matters pertaining to Glyko;

environmental matters pertaining to Glyko;

payments required to be made by Glyko to brokers and agents in connection
with the arrangement;
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intellectual property matters pertaining to Glyko;

Glyko's material contracts and commitments;

Glyko's insurance coverage;

the fairness opinion received by Glyko from TD Securities;

approvals and recommendations by the Glyko board of directors in
connection with the arrangement;

the vote of Glyko shareholders required to adopt and approve the
Acquisition Agreement and approve the arrangement and related

transactions;

the minute books of Glyko;
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the indemnification obligations of Glyko's directors, officers, agents or
employees;

the absence of any change of control payments becoming payable due to the
arrangement; and

interested party transactions of Glyko's directors and officers.

Many of the representations and warranties are qualified by thresholds of
materiality or to a level of a material adverse effect, and all such
representations and warranties expire upon completion of the arrangement.

The representations and warranties contained in the Acquisition Agreement
are complicated and not easily summarized. You are urged to carefully read
Article 2 of the Acquisition Agreement entitled "Representations and Warranties
of Glyko."

Representations and Warranties of BioMarin and BioMarin Nova Scotia

BioMarin and BioMarin Nova Scotia have made a number of customary
representations and warranties to Glyko in the Acquisition Agreement regarding
aspects of BioMarin's business, financial condition, structure and other facts
pertinent to the transaction. These representations and warranties include

representations and warranties, as of February 6, 2002, on:

the corporate organization and qualification to do business of BioMarin
and its subsidiaries;

the articles of incorporation and bylaws of BioMarin and its subsidiaries;
BioMarin's capitalization;
BioMarin's subsidiaries;

the absence of conflicts in connection with BioMarin's and BioMarin Nova
Scotia's obligations under the Acquisition Agreement;

authorization of the Acquisition Agreement by BioMarin and BioMarin Nova
Scotia;

BioMarin's filings and reports with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission;

BioMarin's financial statements;
BioMarin's liabilities;
the validity of BioMarin's issuance of common stock;

listing of BioMarin's common stock on Nasdag and on the SWX Swiss
Exchange;

litigation involving BioMarin and its subsidiaries;

changes in BioMarin's business since December 31, 2000 and actions taken
by BioMarin since December 31, 2000;

environmental matters and compliance of BioMarin;
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regulatory and third party approvals required by BioMarin and BioMarin
Nova Scotia to complete the acquisition;

the filing and consent obligations of BioMarin under applicable laws and
certain contracts in connection with the acquisition;

compliance with applicable laws and certain contracts by BioMarin and its
subsidiaries;

tax matters pertaining to BioMarin and its subsidiaries;
the vote of BioMarin stockholders required to approve the transaction,
including the issuance of BioMarin common stock in connection with the

arrangement;

payments required to be made by BioMarin to brokers and agents in
connection with the arrangement;

intellectual property matters pertaining to BioMarin and its subsidiaries;
the opinion received by BioMarin from UBS Warburg; and

approvals and recommendations by BioMarin's board of directors in
connection with the arrangement.

Many of the representations and warranties are qualified by thresholds of
materiality or to a level of a material adverse effect, and all such
representations and warranties expire upon completion of the arrangement.

The representations and warranties contained in the Acquisition Agreement
are complicated and not easily summarized. You are urged to carefully read
Article 3 of the Acquisition Agreement entitled "Representations and Warranties
of BioMarin and BioMarin Nova Scotia."

Glyko's Conduct of Business Before Completion of the Arrangement

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement Glyko agreed that, until the

earlier of the completion of the arrangement or termination of the Acquisition

Agreement, Glyko, except to the extent BioMarin consents in writing, will:

carry on its business in the ordinary course, consistent with past
practice and in compliance with applicable laws in all material respects;

pay or perform its material obligations when due;
preserve intact its present business organization;
keep available the services of its present officers and employees;

preserve its relationships and goodwill with all persons with whom it has
business relationships;

cause its officers to report regularly to BioMarin concerning the status
of Glyko's business;

maintain its books of account in the usual manner in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles; and

provide BioMarin and its representatives access during normal business
hours to Glyko's representatives, personnel, books and records.

116



Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, Glyko also agreed that,
subject to certain exceptions, until the earlier of the completion of the
arrangement or termination of the Acquisition Agreement, or unless BioMarin
consents in writing, Glyko will comply with certain specific restrictions
relating to the operation of its business, including restrictions relating to
the following:

declaring or paying dividends or other distributions on shares of Glyko;

purchasing, redeeming or otherwise acquiring shares of Glyko;
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issuing shares of Glyko or securities convertible into shares of Glyko;

changes with respect to Glyko's stock option plan or any options
thereunder;

granting or amending severance and termination payments;
modifying the articles of incorporation or bylaws of Glyko;

reorganizing or merging Glyko, other than in connection with the
Acquisition Agreement;

acquiring any interest in any entity;

selling, leasing, licensing or disposing of assets;

making capital expenditures above $25,000 in the aggregate;
granting loans or purchasing equity interests in other persons;
incurring indebtedness;

adopting or amending employee benefit plans or bonus plans;

increasing the amount of remuneration payable to directors, officers or
employees;

commencing or settling litigation or liabilities;

modifying material contracts or waiving material rights under material
contracts other than in the ordinary course of business;

changing accounting policies and procedures;

making certain tax elections; and

entering into any material transaction or taking any other material

action outside the ordinary course of business or inconsistent with past

practices based on Glyko's operating history since June 30, 2000.

The agreements related to the conduct of Glyko's business (prior to the

effective time of the arrangement) in the Acquisition Agreement are complicated
and not easily summarized. You are urged to carefully read Article 4 of the

Acquisition Agreement entitled "Conduct Prior to the Effective Time."

Glyko Shareholder Approval and BioMarin Stockholder Approval
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In connection with obtaining Glyko shareholder approval and BioMarin
stockholder approval, each of BioMarin and Glyko agreed to provide to the other
such information concerning its business, financial and other affairs as was
required for inclusion in this Joint Proxy Circular. BioMarin and Glyko agreed
to cooperate in all respects to ensure that all information provided for
inclusion in this Joint Proxy Circular is true, and that all filings required
to be made pursuant to the requirements of the Canada Business Corporations
Act, the interim order of the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario), applicable
Canadian securities legislation, the Toronto Stock Exchange and any other
Canadian, U.S. or other laws are filed in accordance with such laws.

You are urged to read carefully Article 5 of the Acquisition Agreement
entitled "Glyko Shareholder Approval and BioMarin Stockholder Approval" to
understand more fully the provisions contained therein.

Material Covenants
Confidentiality and Access to Information

The terms of the Acquisition Agreement incorporate by reference a previously
executed mutual confidentiality agreement, dated as of January 10, 2002. In the
event of an inconsistency in the terms and conditions of the Acquisition
Agreement and the terms and conditions of the confidentiality agreement, the
Acquisition Agreement prevails.
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Solicitations by Glyko

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, Glyko agreed to cease and
terminate, as of the date of the Acquisition Agreement, any and all existing
discussions with any parties other than BioMarin with respect to any
Acquisition Proposal.

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, an Acquisition Proposal is any
offer or proposal relating to any Acquisition Transaction. An Acquisition
Transaction is any transaction or series of related transactions involving any
of the following:

any merger, consolidation, amalgamation, share exchange, business
combination, issuance of securities, acquisition of securities, tender
offer, exchange offer or other similar transaction involving Glyko or the
acquisition or purchase from Glyko by any person or group of more than
20% of any class of voting securities of Glyko;

any sale, lease, exchange, transfer, license, acquisition or other
disposition of more than 20% of the assets of Glyko; or

any liquidation or dissolution of Glyko.

Until the acquisition is completed or the Acquisition Agreement is
terminated, under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, Glyko further agreed
that it will not (nor will it authorize or permit any of its officers,
directors or employees, or any of its investment bankers, attorneys or other
advisors or representatives to):

solicit, initiate, knowingly encourage, induce or otherwise knowingly
facilitate any Acquisition Proposal or any inquiries or proposals
relating to an Acquisition Proposal;
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furnish any confidential information regarding Glyko to any person in
connection with or in response to an Acquisition Proposal;

engage in discussions or negotiations with any person with respect to any
Acquisition Proposal;

approve, endorse or recommend any Acquisition Proposal; or

enter into any letter of intent or similar document or any contract
contemplating or otherwise relating to any Acquisition Transaction.

Prior to the adoption and approval of the arrangement by the Glyko
shareholders, Glyko and its representatives are not prohibited by (and shall
not be considered to have violated) the above-mentioned provisions from (i)
furnishing nonpublic information regarding Glyko to any person in response to
an Acquisition Proposal that is submitted by such person (and not withdrawn),
or (ii) entering into discussions with any person in response to an Acquisition
Proposal that is submitted by such person (and not withdrawn), if (1) in the
case of (i), the board of directors of Glyko has first made a good faith
determination that the furnishing of such nonpublic information to such person
is reasonably likely to lead to the submission of a Superior Offer from such
person, (2) neither Glyko nor any representative of Glyko shall have violated
any of the restrictions set forth above, (3) the board of directors of Glyko
concludes in good faith, based upon the advice of its outside legal counsel,
that the failure to take such action is inconsistent with its fiduciary
obligations under applicable law, (4) prior to furnishing any such nonpublic
information to, or entering into discussions with, such person, Glyko gives
BioMarin written notice of the identity of such person and of Glyko's intention
to furnish nonpublic information to, or enter into discussions with, such
person, and Glyko receives from such person an executed confidentiality
agreement containing customary limitations on the use and disclosure of all
nonpublic written and oral information furnished to such person by or on behalf
of Glyko and following which, Glyko keeps BioMarin fully informed with respect
to the status of any such Acquisition Proposal and any modification or proposed
modification thereto, and (5) prior to furnishing any such nonpublic
information to such person, Glyko furnishes such nonpublic information to
BioMarin (to the extent such nonpublic information has not been previously
furnished by Glyko to BioMarin).
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Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, a Superior Offer is an
unsolicited, bona fide written offer made by a third party (other than BioMarin
or its affiliates) which, if consummated, would result in such third party
acquiring, directly or indirectly, securities representing more than 50% of the
voting power of the shares of Glyko or the resulting entity of such transaction
or all or substantially all of the assets of Glyko, in each case on terms which
the board of directors of Glyko reasonably determines (following receipt of
advice from its financial advisors of nationally recognized reputation and
outside counsel) to be more favorable to Glyko's shareholders than the terms of
the arrangement.

Conditions to Completion of the Arrangement

The obligations of BioMarin and Glyko to complete the arrangement and the
other transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement are subject to the
satisfaction at or prior to the closing date of the arrangement of each of the
following conditions:
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the arrangement and the continuance under the laws of British Columbia
must have been approved by the requisite vote of holders of Glyko common
shares and in accordance with any additional conditions which may be
imposed by the interim order of the Superior Court of Justice (Ontario);

the arrangement including, without limitation, the issuance of shares of
BioMarin common stock in connection with the arrangement must have been
approved by the requisite vote of stockholders of BioMarin;

the interim order and the final order of the Superior Court of Justice
(Ontario) with respect to the arrangement shall each have been obtained
in form and on terms satisfactory to Glyko and BioMarin;

upon receipt of the interim order and the final order of the Superior
Court of Justice (Ontario), no shares of BioMarin common stock to be
issued at the effective time of the arrangement will require registration
pursuant to the United States Securities Act of 1933;

the requisite discretionary orders of the securities regulatory
authorities exempting certain trades contemplated by the Plan of
Arrangement from the registration and prospectus requirements of
applicable Canadian securities legislation shall have been obtained;

the shares of BioMarin common stock to be issued under the arrangement
shall have been authorized for listing on Nasdag;

BioMarin, its subsidiaries and Glyko shall have obtained all approvals,
waivers and consents from each governmental entity, the failure of which
would cause consummation of the arrangement to be prohibited;

no governmental body shall have enacted, issued, enforced or entered any
statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, Jjudgment or other
order which has the effect of restraining or prohibiting consummation of
the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement or of making
the arrangement illegal; and

no legal proceeding shall be pending or threatened in which a
governmental body 1is or is threatened to become a party or is otherwise
involved, and neither BioMarin nor Glyko shall have received any
communication from any governmental body in which the governmental body
indicated the possibility of commencing a legal proceeding or taking any
other action (i) challenging or seeking to restrain or prohibit the
consummation of the arrangement or any of the other transactions
contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement; (ii) relating to the
arrangement and seeking to obtain from BioMarin or any of its
subsidiaries, or Glyko, any damages or other relief that may be material
to BioMarin; (iii) seeking to prohibit or limit in any material respect
BioMarin's ability to vote, receive dividends with respect to or
otherwise exercise ownership rights with respect to the stock of Glyko;
or (iv) which would materially and adversely affect the right of BioMarin
or of Glyko to own the assets or operate the business of Glyko.
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Glyko's obligations to complete the arrangement and the other transactions
contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or
waiver, in writing, of each of the following additional conditions:

each of BioMarin's and BioMarin Nova Scotia's representations and
warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects as
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of the date of the Acquisition Agreement, and shall be true and correct
in all material respects on and as of the date the arrangement is to be
completed as if made on such date (except to the extent made only as of a
particular date, in which case they must be true and correct only as of
that date);

BioMarin and BioMarin Nova Scotia shall have performed or complied in all
material respects with all of their agreements and covenants required by
the Acquisition Agreement to be performed or complied with by BioMarin
and BioMarin Nova Scotia;

there shall have occurred no material adverse change with respect to
BioMarin since the date of the Acquisition Agreement;

Glyko shall have received a certificate executed on behalf of BioMarin by
its Chief Executive Officer confirming satisfaction of these above listed
conditions; and

Glyko shall have received an opinion of U.S. counsel and Canadian counsel
to BioMarin satisfactory to Glyko.

BioMarin's obligations to complete the arrangement and the other
transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement are subject to the
satisfaction or waiver, in writing, of each of the following additional
conditions:

each of Glyko's representations and warranties shall have been true and
correct in all material respects as of the date of the Acquisition
Agreement, and shall continue to be true and correct in all material
respects on and as of the date the arrangement is to be completed as if
made on such date (except to the extent made only as of a particular
date, in which case they must be true and correct only as of that date);

Glyko shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all
of its agreements and covenants required by the Acquisition Agreement to
be performed or complied with by Glyko;

the holders of no more than one percent in the aggregate of the issued
and outstanding Glyko common shares shall have exercised and not
withdrawn their dissent rights with respect to the arrangement or the
continuance;

there shall have occurred no material adverse change with respect to
Glyko since the date of the Acquisition Agreement;

BioMarin shall have received a certificate executed on behalf of Glyko by
its Chairman confirming satisfaction of these above listed conditions;

BioMarin shall have received the written resignations of all directors
and officers of Glyko, effective as of the effective time of the
arrangement; and

BioMarin shall have received an opinion of U.S. counsel and Canadian
counsel to Glyko reasonably satisfactory to BioMarin.

Some of the conditions to completion of the arrangement may be waived by the
party entitled to assert the benefit of the condition. Neither BioMarin nor
Glyko intends to solicit shareholder approval of the transaction based on a
waived condition, unless its board of directors determines in good faith that
the waiver of such condition is sufficiently material as to warrant seeking
further shareholder approval.
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Termination of the Acquisition Agreement

The Acquisition Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to completion
of the arrangement, whether before or after the requisite approval of the
shareholders of Glyko or stockholders of BioMarin:

by mutual written consent duly authorized by the boards of directors of
BioMarin and Glyko;

by either BioMarin or Glyko, if the arrangement is not completed by
August 30, 2002 for any reason, provided that either party's right to
terminate the Acquisition Agreement under this provision will not be
available to any party whose action or failure to act has been a
principal cause of or resulted in the failure of the arrangement to occur
on or before that date, and such action or failure to act constitutes a
breach of the Acquisition Agreement;

by either BioMarin or Glyko, if a governmental body has issued an order,
decree or ruling or taken any other action, which permanently restrains,
enjoins or otherwise prohibits the arrangement and which is final and
non-appealable;

by either BioMarin or Glyko, if Glyko's shareholders fail to approve the
Glyko arrangement resolution or the Glyko continuance resolution at the
Glyko shareholders meeting or at any adjournment or postponement of that
meeting;

by either BioMarin or Glyko, if BioMarin's stockholders fail to approve
the arrangement, including the issuance of BioMarin common stock, at the
BioMarin stockholders meeting or at any adjournment or postponement of
that meeting;

by Glyko, upon a material breach of any representation, warranty,
covenant or agreement on the part of BioMarin or BioMarin Nova Scotia in
the Acquisition Agreement, or if any of BioMarin's or BioMarin Nova
Scotia's representations or warranties become untrue such that the
condition to Glyko's obligation to complete the arrangement relating to
the continued accuracy of BioMarin's or BioMarin Nova Scotia's
representations and warranties would not be satisfied. However, if the
breach or inaccuracy is curable by BioMarin or BioMarin Nova Scotia
through the exercise of its commercially reasonable efforts, and BioMarin
continues to exercise such commercially reasonable efforts to cure the
breach, Glyko may not terminate the Acquisition Agreement for 30 days
after delivery of written notice to BioMarin of the breach. If the breach
or inaccuracy is cured during those 30 days, Glyko may not terminate the
Acquisition Agreement under this provision;

by BioMarin, upon a material breach of any representation, warranty,
covenant or agreement on the part of Glyko set forth in the Acquisition
Agreement, or if any of Glyko's representations or warranties become
untrue such that the condition to BioMarin's obligation to complete the
arrangement relating to the continued accuracy of Glyko's representations
and warranties would not be satisfied. However, if the breach or
inaccuracy is curable by Glyko through the exercise of its commercially
reasonable efforts, and Glyko continues to exercise such commercially
reasonable efforts to cure the breach, BioMarin may not terminate the
Acquisition Agreement for 30 days after delivery of written notice to
Glyko of the breach. If the breach or inaccuracy is cured during those 30
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days, BioMarin may not terminate the Acquisition Agreement under this
provision; and

by BioMarin, if Glyko has breached the provisions of Section 6.2 of the
Acquisition Agreement that prohibit the solicitation of, and restrict
(subject to certain exceptions) discussions and negotiations with respect
to, Acquisition Proposals.

Payment of Termination Fee

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, Glyko must pay BioMarin a
termination fee of $1.0 million within two business days after written demand
by BioMarin, if the Acquisition Agreement is terminated by BioMarin because of
a material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of
Glyko as described in Section 8.1(g) of the Acquisition Agreement. Glyko must
also pay BioMarin the termination fee of
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$1.0 million upon termination of the Acquisition Agreement by BioMarin or Glyko
if the Glyko shareholders do not approve either the arrangement or the
continuance and (i) an Acquisition Proposal has been publicly announced or
otherwise communicated to the Glyko board of directors or the Glyko
shareholders prior to the date of the special meeting of the Glyko
shareholders, and (ii) Glyko enters into a definitive agreement with respect to
an Acquisition Transaction prior to the expiration of six months after
termination of the Acquisition Agreement, and, in the case of an Acquisition
Transaction relating to, among other things, any merger, consolidation,
amalgamation, business combination or sale of the assets or outstanding
securities of any class of voting securities of Glyko, such transaction results
in person(s) directly or indirectly acquiring more than 50% of the assets or
outstanding securities of Glyko.

In addition, BioMarin must pay Glyko a termination fee of $1.0 million
within two business days after a written demand by Glyko, if the Acquisition
Agreement is terminated by Glyko because of a material breach of any
representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of BioMarin as described in
Section 8.1(f) of the Acquisition Agreement.

Extension, Waiver and Amendment of the Acquisition Agreement

BioMarin and Glyko, with the approval of their respective boards of
directors, may amend the Acquisition Agreement at any time whether before or
after the approval of the arrangement by the shareholders of Glyko or
stockholders of BioMarin. However, after any such approval of the arrangement
by the stockholders of BioMarin or shareholders of Glyko, no amendment shall be
made which by law requires further approval of the stockholders of BioMarin or
shareholders of Glyko, as the case may be, without such approval.

Prior to completion of the arrangement, either BioMarin or Glyko may, to the
extent legally permitted, extend the other party's time for the performance of
any of the obligations or other acts under the Acquisition Agreement, waive any
inaccuracies in the other's representations and warranties and waive compliance
by the other party with any of the agreements or conditions for the benefit of
such party contained in the Acquisition Agreement. Such extensions and waivers
must be set forth in a written instrument signed by the party granting such
extension or waiver.

Expenses
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Except with respect to the termination fee described above, all fees and
expenses incurred in connection with the Acquisition Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereby will be paid by the party incurring such
expenses whether or not the arrangement is consummated.
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TRANSACTION MECHANICS

The following is a summary of the Plan of Arrangement. Glyko shareholders
and BioMarin stockholders are urged to read the Plan of Arrangement in its
entirety. The Plan of Arrangement is attached to this Joint Proxy Circular as
Annex B.

The Arrangement

Pursuant to the terms of the Plan of Arrangement, at the implementation time
of the arrangement, the following events will occur:

1. Each outstanding Glyko common share held by a Glyko shareholder, other
than Glyko common shares in respect of which the holder has exercised
dissent rights and is ultimately entitled to be paid the fair value,
shall be transferred to BioMarin Nova Scotia in exchange for 0.3309 of a
share of BioMarin common stock.

2. Each Glyko option will be exchanged for an option to purchase that
number of shares of BioMarin common stock equal to the product of 0.3309
and the number of Glyko common shares subject to such Glyko option,
whether exercisable or unexercisable, immediately prior to the
implementation time of the arrangement, rounded down to the nearest
whole number of shares. The replacement option will provide for an
exercise price per share of BioMarin common stock equal to the U.S.
dollar equivalent of the per share exercise price of each Glyko option
divided by 0.3309, rounded down to the nearest whole cent. The term and
vesting schedule of such replacement option shall be equivalent to those
of the Glyko option it replaces.

Subject to the provisions of the Plan of Arrangement allowing for adjustment
of the exchange ratio for anti-dilution purposes upon the occurrence of certain
events, the maximum number of shares of BioMarin common stock issuable in
connection with the exchange of Glyko common shares for BioMarin common stock
shall be 11,367,617.

The Continuance

Immediately following the effectiveness of the arrangement but prior to the
implementation of its terms, Glyko will be continued under the laws of British
Columbia. The continuance will not proceed unless both the arrangement
resolution and the continuance resolution are passed by the requisite majority
of Glyko shareholders.

Share Certificates

Promptly after the implementation time of the arrangement, BioMarin shall
cause BioMarin Nova Scotia to deposit with Computershare Trust Company of
Canada certificates representing the BioMarin common stock issued pursuant to
the Plan of Arrangement in exchange for the Glyko common shares together with
cash in an amount sufficient for payment in lieu of fractional shares. Upon
surrender to Computershare Trust Company of Canada for cancellation of a
certificate which, immediately prior to the implementation time of the
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arrangement, represented one or more Glyko common shares that were exchanged
for BioMarin common stock under the arrangement, together with other required
documents, a Glyko shareholder will be entitled to receive a certificate
representing that number of shares of BioMarin common stock which such Glyko
shareholder has the right to receive.

In the event of a transfer of ownership of Glyko common shares prior to the
implementation time of the arrangement that is not registered in the transfer
records of Glyko, a certificate representing the proper number of shares of
BioMarin common stock may be issued to the transferee if the certificate
representing such Glyko common shares is presented to Computershare Trust
Company of Canada, accompanied by all documents required to evidence such
transfer.
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Until Glyko common share certificates are surrendered as contemplated in the
Plan of Arrangement, each Glyko common share held after the implementation time
shall represent only the right to receive, upon such surrender, the
certificates representing shares of BioMarin common stock, the cash payments in
lieu of any fractional shares and any dividends or distributions payable on the
shares of BioMarin common stock. No dividends or distributions declared or made
after the implementation time of the arrangement shall be paid to the holder of
Glyko common shares until the holder of such certificates surrenders the
certificates to Computershare Trust Company of Canada.

Any certificates formerly representing Glyko common shares that, following
the effective date of the arrangement, are not deposited with Computershare
Trust Company of Canada, together with a duly executed letter of transmittal,
within six years after the effective date of the arrangement, shall cease to
represent a right or claim of any kind.

In addition, as soon as practicable after the effective date of the
arrangement, the holders of outstanding Glyko options shall be provided with
documentation evidencing replacement options to acquire common stock of
BioMarin.

Glyko shareholders are advised to review carefully the information contained
in the letter of transmittal accompanying this Joint Policy Circular and the
instructions included therein for a more detailed description of the procedures
to be followed by Glyko shareholders in order to obtain certificates

representing the shares of BioMarin common stock issuable under the arrangement.

Fractional Shares

No fractional shares of BioMarin common stock will be issued pursuant to the
arrangement. Furthermore, no dividend, stock split or other change in the
capital structure of BioMarin shall relate to any such fraction and any
fractional interests shall not entitle the owner to vote or to exercise any
rights as a shareholder of BioMarin. In lieu of any such fractional shares,
each Glyko shareholder otherwise entitled to a fractional interest in a share
of BioMarin common stock shall, upon surrender of such holder's certificates
representing Glyko common shares, receive from BioMarin Nova Scotia a cash
payment (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, equal to the
product of such fraction (or, at the option of BioMarin Nova Scotia, the
Canadian dollar equivalent of such product) and the average closing price of
shares of BioMarin common stock as quoted on Nasdaqg during the period of 20
consecutive trading days ending on the second trading day immediately preceding
the effective date of the arrangement.
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Rights of Dissent

Glyko common shareholders may, in connection with the arrangement, exercise
rights of dissent with respect to such shares pursuant to and in the manner set
forth in Section 190 of the Canada Business Corporations Act. Those Glyko
common shareholders who exercise their dissent rights and are determined to be
entitled to be paid the fair value of their Glyko common shares, shall be
deemed to have transferred such Glyko common shares to Glyko without further
act or formality and free of all liens and encumbrances and such shares shall
be cancelled at the implementation time of the arrangement. Any Glyko common
shareholders who exercise dissent rights and are determined to be entitled to
be paid fair value for their Glyko common shares shall be paid solely from the
assets of Glyko.

Withholding Rights

Each of Glyko, BioMarin Nova Scotia and Computershare Trust Company of
Canada shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration payable
such amount as may be required by law under the Income Tax Act (Canada), the
United States Code or under any other provision of United States or Canadian
federal, state, provincial, regional, local or foreign tax law. Where such
amounts are deducted or withheld, such amounts
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shall be treated for all purposes under the arrangement as having been paid to
the holder of the shares, provided that such amounts are actually remitted to
the appropriate taxing authority and the holder is provided with a receipt
evidencing such remittance.

The terms and conditions contained in the Plan of Arrangement are
complicated and not easily summarized. You are urged to carefully read the Plan
of Arrangement attached as Annex B in its entirety to gain a more complete
understanding of its terms.
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BIOMARIN CAPITAL STOCK

BioMarin's certificate of incorporation authorizes 1,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, and 75,000,000 shares of common stock. The only equity
securities currently outstanding are shares of common stock. As of ,
2002, there were approximately [53,357,644] shares of BioMarin common stock
issued and outstanding. The following description is only a summary and is
qualified by reference to the complete text set forth in BioMarin's certificate
of incorporation.

BioMarin Preferred Stock

Shares of BioMarin preferred stock have a par value of $0.001 per share. The
BioMarin board of directors is authorized to provide for the issuance of shares
of preferred stock in one or more series, and to establish from time to time
the number of shares to be included in each such series, to fix the
designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such series
and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof. BioMarin currently
intends that the shares of Series A Preferred Stock of BioMarin to be
transferred to Glyko following the completion of the transaction in exchange
for the 11,367,617 shares of BioMarin common stock owned by Glyko shall be
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redeemable, retractable, non-voting, non-convertible, and entitled to receive
non-cumulative dividends as and when declared by the BioMarin board of
directors at a rate of 5% per annum.

BioMarin Common Stock

Shares of BioMarin common stock have a par value of $0.001 per share. The
holders of BioMarin common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held
of record on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. The holders of
BioMarin common stock are entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared
by the BioMarin board of directors out of funds legally available therefor and
are entitled upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of BioMarin to
receive ratably the net assets of BioMarin available for distribution. No
pre—emptive rights, conversion rights, redemption rights or sinking fund
provisions are applicable to the BioMarin common stock.

GLYKO SHARE CAPITAL

Glyko's authorized capital is comprised of an unlimited number of common
shares and an unlimited number of preference shares, issuable in series. As of
, 2002, [34,352,823] Glyko common shares, options to acquire an
additional 81,397 Glyko common shares and no preference shares were issued and
outstanding. The following description is only a summary and is qualified by
reference to the complete text set forth in Glyko's articles of incorporation.

Common Shares

Each Glyko common share entitles the holder thereof to receive notice of and
to attend meetings of Glyko's shareholders, and to one vote with the exception
of meetings where only the holders of another class or series of shares are
entitled to vote. Holders of Glyko common shares are entitled to receive any
dividends declared on such shares by Glyko's board of directors and to
participate in the distribution of Glyko's residual assets in the event of
liquidation or dissolution of Glyko or other distribution of Glyko's assets.

Preference Shares

Glyko preference shares may be issued from time to time in one or more
series, each series comprising the number of shares, designation, rights,
privileges, restrictions and conditions which the board of directors of Glyko
determines by resolution. Any Glyko preference shares would rank prior to the
Glyko common shares with respect to payment of dividends and distributions in
the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Glyko, whether
voluntary or involuntary. The holders of Glyko preference shares as a class
would not be entitled to receive notice of, to attend, or to vote at any
meetings of the shareholders of Glyko except upon a
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proposal to: (i) increase or decrease any maximum number of authorized
preference shares or increase any maximum number of authorized shares of any
class of shares having rights or privileges equal or superior to the preference
shares; (ii) effect an exchange, reclassification or cancellation of all or
part of the preference shares equal to or superior to the preference shares; or
(iii) create a new class of shares equal to or superior to the preference
shares.

THE COMPANIES AFTER THE TRANSACTION

General
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Upon completion of the transaction, Glyko will become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of BioMarin Nova Scotia. BioMarin Nova Scotia will continue to exist
as a wholly-owned subsidiary of BioMarin Acquisition (Del.) Inc., a Delaware
corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BioMarin. BioMarin's principal
executive office will continue to be located at 371 Bel Marin Keys Boulevard,
Suite 210, Novato, California 94949 (telephone number (415) 884-6700). After
the consummation of the arrangement, BioMarin will indirectly own all of the
securities of Glyko, which will become a corporation governed by the Company
Act (British Columbia).

Directors and Officers

The directors and officers of BioMarin and BioMarin Nova Scotia,
respectively, will not change as a result of the transaction.

Pro Forma Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table sets forth certain information on a pro forma basis with
respect to the beneficial ownership of BioMarin's common stock immediately
following the completion of the transaction as to (i) each person, or group of
affiliated persons, who is known by BioMarin to own beneficially more than 5%
of BioMarin's common stock; (ii) each of BioMarin's directors; and (iii) all of
BioMarin's directors and current executive officers as a group.

Except as otherwise noted, the persons or entities in this table have sole
voting and investing power with respect to all the shares of BioMarin's common
stock beneficially owned by them subject to community property laws, where
applicable. The information with respect to each person specified is as
supplied or confirmed by such person, based upon statements filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission or based upon the actual knowledge of
BioMarin.

Number of Shares Number of Shares
Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficially Owned(l) Subject To Options(2)

Franklin ReSOUTCES INC. it it inttneeneeneeeneennens 3,246,245 0
Fredric D. PricCe. .. .u.iii ittt ettt tneeeneenenn 326,066 309,399
Franz L. Cristiani......c.eeeiiiiiieeeeennnnnns 0 0
Phyllis I. Gardner, M.D. .. ..ttt itineeeeennnneens 10,000 10,000
Erich Sager. ...t ittt e e ettt e 1,149,153 122,886
Vijay B. Samant .. ...t iiiiin et eteeeeeeeeannns 0 0
Gwynn R. WilliamsS. ... ouuiiiieeneeeeeeeennneeens 1,011,315 68,750
All current executive officers and directors as a

JLrOUP (8 PEISONS) vt v vt ittt ettt eaeeeeeeseeannns 3,438,464 1,069,950

* Represents less than 1% of BioMarin's outstanding common stock.

(1) The "Number of Shares Beneficially Owned" column is based on shares of
common stock outstanding at , 2002. Shares of common stock
subject to options or warrants that are exercisable within 60 days of

, 2002 (the "Number of Shares Beneficially Owned") are deemed to
be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the
options or warrants for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership
of the person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
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(2) The "Number of Shares Subject to Options" enumerates for each 5%
stockholder, director and current executive officer and for all officers
and directors in the aggregate, the shares of common stock subject to
options exercisable within 60 days of , 2002. These shares are in
the calculation of the "Number of Shares Beneficially Owned."

(3) Based on the projected number of shares of BioMarin's common stock that
would be outstanding after taking into account: (i) the number of shares of
BioMarin common stock to be issued pursuant to the transaction; and (ii)
the cancellation of shares of BioMarin common stock currently held by Glyko
in exchange for shares of BioMarin preferred stock to be issued to Glyko in
exchange therefor.

Dividend Policy

BioMarin has not paid or declared dividends on its shares and does not
anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

Independent Auditors

Effective on June 11, 2002, KPMG LLP, was appointed to serve as independent
auditors of BioMarin and its subsidiaries.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

It is anticipated that Mellon Investor Services LLC will continue as
BioMarin's transfer agent and registrar for the BioMarin common stock in the
United States after the completion of the arrangement.
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BUSINESS OF BIOMARIN
Overview

BioMarin develops enzyme therapies to treat serious, life-threatening
diseases and conditions. BioMarin leverages its expertise in enzyme biology to
develop product candidates for the treatment of genetic diseases, including MPS
I, MPS VI and PKU, as well as other critical care situations such as
cardiovascular surgery and serious burns. BioMarin's product candidates address
markets for which no products are currently available or where current products
have been associated with major deficiencies. BioMarin focuses on conditions
with well-defined patient populations, including genetic diseases, which
require chronic therapy.

BioMarin's lead product candidate, Aldurazyme (TM), which recently completed
a Phase 3 trial, is being developed for the treatment of Mucopolysaccharidosis
I (MPS I) disease. MPS I is a debilitating and life-threatening genetic disease
caused by the deficiency of (alpha)-L-iduronidase, an enzyme responsible for
breaking down certain carbohydrates. MPS I is a progressive disease that
afflicts patients from birth and frequently leads to severe disability and
early death. There are currently no drugs on the market for the treatment of
MPS I. Aldurazyme has received both fast track designation from the FDA and
orphan drug designation for the treatment of MPS I in the United States and in
the European Union. The impact of these designations is discussed under
"--Government Regulation." BioMarin is developing Aldurazyme through a joint
venture with Genzyme Corporation. In collaboration with Genzyme, BioMarin
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completed a double-blinded, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial of
Aldurazyme in August 2001. On November 2, 2001, BioMarin announced positive
results from this trial. On April 1, 2002, BioMarin announced that together
with its joint venture partner, Genzyme, BioMarin has filed with European
regulatory authorities for approval to market Aldurazyme. The joint venture
submitted a Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) to the European Medicines
Evaluation Agency (European Union) (or EMEA) on March 1, 2002. The EMEA has
accepted BioMarin's MAA and validated that it is complete and ready for
scientific review. Accordingly, the EMEA's Committee for Proprietary Medicinal
Products (CPMP) will now evaluate the application to determine whether to
approve Aldurazyme for the treatment of MPS I in all 15 member states of the
European Union. Norway and Iceland also participate in the CPMP but have a
separate approval process. On April 15, 2002, Genzyme and BioMarin announced
that the joint venture filed the first portion of a "rolling" Biologics License
Application (BLA) with the FDA for approval to market Aldurazyme in the United
States. BioMarin anticipates a response from the FDA regarding the application
to market Aldurazyme in the United States during the first half of 2003.

BioMarin is developing its second product candidate, Neutralase(TM), for
reversal of anticoagulation by heparin in patients undergoing Coronary Artery
Bypass Graft, or CABG, surgery and angioplasty. BioMarin acquired rights to
Neutralase through its recent acquisition of the pharmaceutical assets of IBEX
Technologies Inc. in the fourth quarter of 2001. Heparin is a carbohydrate drug
commonly used to prevent coagulation, or blood clotting, during certain types
of major surgery. Neutralase is a carbohydrate-modifying enzyme that cleaves
heparin, allowing coagulation of blood and aiding patient recovery following
CABG surgery and angioplasty. Based on data from previous trials, BioMarin
plans to initiate a Phase 3 trial in CABG surgery in the third quarter of 2002.

In addition to Aldurazyme and Neutralase, BioMarin is developing other
enzyme-based therapeutics for the treatment of a variety of diseases and
conditions. In 2001, BioMarin announced a Phase 1 trial of Aryplase (TM)
(formerly referred to as rhASB) for the treatment of MPS VI, another seriously
debilitating genetic disease. Based on data from this previous trial, BioMarin
initiated a Phase 2 trial of Aryplase in March 2002. BioMarin is also
developing Vibrilase (TM) (formerly referred to as Vibriolysin Topical), a
topical enzyme product for use in removing burned skin tissue in preparation
for skin grafting or other therapy. BioMarin initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial
of Vibrilase in the United Kingdom in the fourth quarter of 2001, and expects
to begin a Phase 2 clinical trial in either the United States or the United
Kingdom following the completion of this Phase 1 trial. In addition, BioMarin
is pursuing preclinical development of other enzyme product candidates for
genetic and other diseases.
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Recent Developments

On April 22, 2002, BioMarin announced that it had begun dosing patients in a
Phase 2 clinical trial of Aryplase for the treatment of MPS VI. The primary
objective of this open-label, multi-national Phase 2 clinical trial will be to
evaluate the efficacy, safety and pharmacokinetics of weekly intravenous
infusions of 1.0 mg/kg of Aryplase in 10 MPS VI patients. This dose represents
the higher level of two doses administered in the six-patient Phase 1 trial.

On April 15, 2002, Genzyme and BioMarin announced that the joint wventure
filed the first portion of a "rolling" Biologics License Application (BLA) with
the FDA for approval to market Aldurazyme in the United States. BioMarin plans
to complete the BLA filing in the third quarter of this year. The BLA will
include six months of data from the ongoing open-label Phase 3 extension study
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in addition to the six-month data from the placebo-controlled portion of the
Phase 3 trial. Patients from both the treatment and placebo arms of the Phase 3
trial had received at least six months of weekly Aldurazyme infusions in the
open—label extension study as of February 8, 2002. Genzyme and BioMarin
anticipate a response from the FDA regarding the application to market
Aldurazyme in the United States during the first half of 2003.

On April 1, 2002, BioMarin announced that together with its joint venture
partner, Genzyme, BioMarin has filed with European regulatory agencies for
approval to market Aldurazyme. BioMarin's joint venture submitted an MAA to the
EMEA on March 1, 2002. The EMEA has accepted BioMarin's MAA and validated that
it is complete and ready for scientific review. Accordingly, the EMEA's
Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP) will now evaluate the
application to determine whether to approve Aldurazyme for the treatment of MPS
I in all 15 member states of the European Union. Norway and Iceland also
participate in the CPMP but have a separate approval process.

On March 21, 2002, BioMarin acquired Synapse Technologies Inc. Synapse owns
the rights to certain proprietary technology which, based on the results of
preclinical trials, has the potential to deliver therapeutic enzymes and other
drugs across the blood-brain barrier by means of traditional intravenous
injections. Under the terms of the agreement, BioMarin purchased 100% of the
outstanding shares of Synapse for approximately $10.2 million payable in
885,242 shares of its common stock. BioMarin also may make future contingent
payments of up to approximately $6 million. These payments are payable in cash
or stock, at BioMarin's option.

On February 7, 2002, BioMarin announced that it had reached a definitive
agreement to acquire all of the outstanding capital stock of Glyko pursuant to
the Acquisition Agreement as described in this Joint Proxy Circular.

In December 2001, BioMarin decided to close the analytics product catalog
business of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Glyko, Inc. The majority of the Glyko,
Inc. employees will be incorporated into BioMarin's pharmaceutical business and
such employees will continue to provide necessary analytic and diagnostic
support to BioMarin's therapeutic products. Certain operating assets of Glyko,
Inc. may be offered for sale.

On December 12, 2001, BioMarin completed a public offering of its common
stock. In the offering, BioMarin sold 8,050,000 shares, including 1,050,000
shares to cover underwriters' over-allotments, at a price to the public of
$12.00 per share, or a total offering price of $96.6 million. The net proceeds,
after expenses and underwriting discounts, were approximately $90.4 million.
BioMarin intends to use the net proceeds from this sale of shares for:

the development and commercialization of its lead product candidate,
Aldurazyme;

additional clinical trials and manufacturing of Neutralase;
preclinical studies and clinical trials for its other product candidates;
potential licenses and other acquisitions of complementary technologies

and products;
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general corporate purposes; and
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working capital.

On November 2, 2001, BioMarin and Genzyme announced positive results from a
preliminary analysis of data from the Phase 3 clinical trial of Aldurazyme for
the treatment of MPS I. Patients were evaluated at defined intervals to assess
progress in meeting two primary endpoints. The preliminary data analysis showed
a statistically significant increase in pulmonary capacity (p=0.028) and
demonstrated a positive trend in endurance as measured by a six-minute walk
test (p=0.066). Among other endpoints measured in the trial, the main findings
of an earlier open-label study of Aldurazyme were confirmed: a reduction in
liver size and a reduction in excretion of urinary glycosaminoglycans, or GAGs,
the carbohydrate substances that accumulate in patients with MPS I. Based on
the strength of the trial's results, BioMarin, along with Genzyme, has met with
U.S. and European regulatory authorities to discuss applications to market
Aldurazyme. Based on these discussions, the MAA has been submitted to the EMEA.
BioMarin plans to file the BLA with the FDA as soon as possible.

On October 31, 2001, BioMarin acquired the pharmaceutical assets of IBEX
Technologies Inc. and its subsidiaries. The product candidates and technologies
that BioMarin gained in this transaction, primarily the Neutralase and
Phenylase programs, are complementary to BioMarin's existing product portfolio
and core competencies. Under the terms of the agreements, BioMarin acquired
these assets in exchange for consideration of $10.4 million, with $8.4 million
payable in shares of its common stock and $2.0 million payable in cash. In
addition, BioMarin agreed to make contingent cash payments of up to
approximately $9.5 million to IBEX upon FDA approval of products acquired from
IBEX.

Lead Product Development Programs
Aldurazyme

BioMarin's lead product candidate, Aldurazyme, is being developed for the
treatment of MPS I. MPS I is a genetic disease caused by the deficiency of
(alpha)-L-iduronidase. Patients with MPS I have multiple debilitating symptoms
resulting from the buildup of carbohydrate residues in all tissues in the body.
These symptoms include delayed physical growth, enlarged livers and spleens,
skeletal and joint deformities, airway obstruction, heart disease, reduced
endurance and pulmonary function, impaired hearing and vision, and in some
cases, delayed mental development. Most patients with MPS I will die from
complications associated with the disease as children or teenagers. About 3,400
individuals in developed countries have MPS I, including about 1,000 in the
United States and Canada.

There are currently no approved drugs for the treatment of MPS I. Bone
marrow transplantation has been used to treat severely affected patients,
generally under the age of two, with limited success. Bone marrow
transplantation is associated with high morbidity and mortality rates as well
as with problems inherent in the procedure itself, including graft vs. host
disease, graft rejection, and donor availability, which severely limit its
utility and application.

Aldurazyme is a specific form of recombinant human (alpha)-L-iduronidase
that replaces a genetic deficiency of (alpha)-L-iduronidase in MPS I patients,
thus reducing or eliminating the build-up of certain carbohydrates in the
lysosomes of cells. By eliminating this carbohydrate build-up, Aldurazyme is
able to significantly reduce physical symptoms experienced by these patients.
The Phase 1 trial results of this product candidate reported no neutralizing
antibodies, indicating its applicability for chronic administration. In
collaboration with Genzyme, BioMarin completed a 45-patient, double-blinded,
placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial of Aldurazyme in August 2001, which
was conducted at five sites in the U.S., Europe and Canada. All patients
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completed the trial and elected to receive Aldurazyme in an open label
extension study. On November 2, 2001, BioMarin announced positive results from
this trial. BioMarin intends to continue the development of this drug and
recently filed an MAA with the EMEA and a "rolling" BLA with the FDA.
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Aldurazyme has received fast track designation from the FDA for the
treatment of MPS I. The FDA has granted Aldurazyme orphan drug designation,
which will result in exclusive rights to market Aldurazyme to treat MPS I for
seven years from the date of FDA approval if Aldurazyme is the first product to
be approved by the FDA for the treatment of MPS I. In addition, the European
Commission has designated Aldurazyme for the treatment of MPS I as an orphan
medicinal product, giving the potential for market exclusivity in Europe for
10 years. In September 1998, BioMarin formed a 50/50 joint venture with Genzyme
for the worldwide development and commercialization of Aldurazyme. Genzyme is
responsible for regulatory submissions in international markets and marketing,
distribution, sales and obtaining reimbursement for Aldurazyme worldwide.
BioMarin is responsible for U.S. regulatory submissions and the development and
manufacturing of (alpha)-L-iduronidase.

Neutralase

BioMarin is developing Neutralase for the reversal of anticoagulation by
heparin in patients undergoing Coronary Artery Bypass Graft, or CABG, surgery
and angioplasty. Patients undergoing CABG surgery and angioplasty are treated
with heparin to prevent coagulation during surgery. Once the procedure is
completed, anticoagulant reversal agents are administered to prevent excessive
bleeding. Currently, protamine is the only product commercially available for
the reversal of heparin anticoagulation. In medical studies, protamine has been
associated with adverse side effects, such as abnormal changes in blood
pressure, depression of heart function and acute allergic reactions. There were
approximately 571,000 CABG procedures and 1,069,000 angioplasties in the United
States in 1999 (as published by the American Heart Association in their 2002
Heart and Stroke Statistical Update) that could have potentially benefited from
heparin reversal. BioMarin believes that an additional substantial market
opportunity exists in Europe and the rest of the world.

BioMarin believes Neutralase has the potential to reverse heparin
anticoagulation without many of the serious side-effects associated with
protamine. Neutralase is a carbohydrate-modifying enzyme that breaks down
heparin in a manner that inactivates heparin's anticoagulation effect and
restores the normal coagulation of blood. Neutralase has the potential for use
as a reversal agent for heparin anticoagulation in open-heart surgery such as
CABG procedures, interventional cardiology procedures such as angioplasty, and
in other procedures where heparin or heparin-like anticoagulants are used, such
as in hip and knee surgeries.

Data from Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials suggest that Neutralase can
reverse heparin anticoagulation without the adverse changes in blood pressure
associated with protamine usage. Building on the work undertaken so far,
BioMarin intends to initiate a Phase 3 trial for CABG in the third quarter of
2002, followed by a Phase 2B trial for angioplasty.

Other Product Development Programs
Aryplase

BioMarin is developing recombinant, human N-acetylgalactosamine 4-sulfatase
(Aryplase) for the treatment of MPS VI, a debilitating genetic disease similar
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to MPS I. Aryplase has received fast track designation from the FDA as well as

orphan drug designation for the treatment of MPS VI in the United States and in
the European Union. Based on clinical data to date, BioMarin initiated a Phase

2 trial of Aryplase in March 2002.

Vibrilase

BioMarin is developing Vibrilase for use in removing burned skin in
preparation for skin grafting or other therapy. In the fourth quarter of 2001,
BioMarin initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial of this product candidate in the
United Kingdom, and expects to begin a Phase 2 clinical trial in either the
United States or the United Kingdom following the completion of this Phase 1
trial.
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Phenylase

BioMarin is developing Phenylase as an oral enzyme therapy for patients with
phenylketonuria (PKU) a genetic disease in which the body cannot properly
metabolize the amino acid phenylalanine. If left untreated, elevated levels of
phenylalanine lead to brain damage and severe mental retardation. Phenylase is
currently in preclinical development.

BioMarin's Strategy

BioMarin's strategy is to develop therapeutic enzyme products to treat a
variety of diseases and conditions. The principal elements of this strategy are
to:

Develop and successfully commercialize its lead product candidates

BioMarin is seeking to develop and globally commercialize Aldurazyme for the
treatment of MPS I, Neutralase for the reversal of anticoagulation agents,
Aryplase for MPS VI, and Vibrilase for serious burns, each of which is in human
clinical testing. With regard to Aldurazyme, in concert with its joint venture
partner, Genzyme, BioMarin is developing strategies for the effective launch of
this product. BioMarin believes it will benefit from Genzyme's marketing
organization, which has extensive world-wide experience marketing drugs to
well-defined patient populations with chronic genetic diseases.

Continue to build a diversified portfolio of product candidates

In addition to the products in human clinical testing noted above, BioMarin
is conducting research on other enzyme products, including those intended to
treat PKU (Phenylase), ischemia (Extravase), and diseases in which it is
necessary to treat the brain (NeuroTrans).

Target underserved markets

BioMarin intends to continue to target market opportunities where there is
little or no competition, such as the markets for MPS I and MPS VI. BioMarin
also targets markets where it believes that its technology will enable it to
become a market leader in a relatively short time period, such as the market
for Neutralase. BioMarin's strategy is to avoid situations where market

differentiation is a function of marketing strength and not technical expertise.

Seek to license or acquire complementary products and technologies

134



Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

BioMarin intends to supplement its internal drug discovery efforts through
the acquisition of products and technologies that complement its general
product development strategy. Two examples of this are BioMarin's recent
acquisition of the pharmaceutical assets of IBEX Technologies, which added
three complementary product candidates to BioMarin's portfolio and its
acquisition of Synapse Technologies Inc., which added technology intended to
enable certain drug products to cross the blood-brain-barrier by means of
traditional intravenous injection. BioMarin intends to continue to identify,
evaluate and pursue the licensing or acquisition of other strategically
valuable products and organizations.

Leverage BioMarin's core competencies

BioMarin believes that it has significant expertise in enzyme biology and
manipulation, which it has used to establish a strong platform for the
development of enzyme-related pharmaceutical products. BioMarin intends to
leverage these competencies to develop high-value products for markets with
unmet medical needs. When strategically advantageous, BioMarin may seek
partnerships with industry leaders for the further advancement of its product
candidates.

107

Manufacturing

The drug candidates BioMarin is currently developing require the manufacture
of recombinant enzymes. For BioMarin's genetic disease programs, BioMarin
expects to manufacture the bulk enzymes. BioMarin believes that it will be able
to manufacture sufficient quantities of its genetic disease drug products for
clinical trials and commercial sales in part because relatively low doses are
required for treatment and because the targeted patient populations are small.
In general, BioMarin expects to contract with outside service providers for
certain manufacturing services, including final product £fill and finish
operations and bulk enzyme production for clinical and early commercial
production where the production requirements exceed its manufacturing capacity.

In the first quarter of 2000, BioMarin began production of Aldurazyme for
clinical requirements including the Phase 3 clinical trial and other clinical
studies. The bulk production is being done in BioMarin's Galli Drive (Novato,
California) manufacturing facility. Following the recently completed expansion,
Galli is a 51,800 square foot cGMP production facility including support areas,
housing utilities, laboratories and administrative functions. BioMarin expects
to support the commercial launch of Aldurazyme from this facility. Vialing and
packaging will be performed using either BioMarin's joint venture partner or
contract manufacturers.

In 2000, the manufacturing facilities in Novato were inspected and
subsequently licensed by the State of California Food and Drug Branch for the
production of clinical trial material. These facilities will be inspected by
the FDA and other regulatory agencies in connection with the BLA and other
marketing application. These facilities, and those of any third-party
manufacturers, will be subject to periodic inspections confirming compliance
with applicable law. BioMarin's facilities must be cGMP certified before it can
manufacture its drugs for commercial sales. Failure to comply with these
requirements could result in the shutdown of BioMarin's facilities, fines or
other penalties.

Sales and Marketing
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BioMarin has no experience marketing or selling pharmaceutical products. To
commercially market its products once the necessary regulatory approvals are
obtained, BioMarin must either develop its own sales and marketing force or
enter into arrangements with third parties.

BioMarin established a joint venture with Genzyme for the worldwide
development and commercialization of Aldurazyme for the treatment of MPS I.
Under the joint venture, Genzyme will be responsible for marketing,
distribution, sales and obtaining reimbursement of Aldurazyme worldwide.

In the future, BioMarin may develop the capability to market and sell its
drug products that are targeted at small or concentrated patient populations.
In many cases, BioMarin believes that these patient populations are typically
well-informed and well-connected to the medical community. Often family/patient
groups suffering from niche diseases are capable users of the Internet to share
experiences and gather information. BioMarin believes that direct marketing to
these families or patients would be effective. BioMarin may also market its
products through distributors or other collaborators, particularly for those
products targeted at larger patient populations or for countries where the
development of an infrastructure is not economically attractive.

Patents and Proprietary Rights
BioMarin's success depends in part on its ability to:
Obtain patents
Protect trade secrets
Operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others
Prevent others from infringing on BioMarin's proprietary rights
BioMarin may obtain licenses to patents and patent applications from others.
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BioMarin has thirteen patent applications presently pending in the United
States Patent and Trademark Office. BioMarin has filed six foreign counterpart
applications and expects to file a foreign counterpart to one of the other
pending U.S. patent applications at the proper time.

Glyko, Inc. owns twelve issued U.S. patents. In addition, Glyko, Inc. has
licensed four U.S. patents and their foreign counterparts from AstroMed Ltd.
and its successor Astroscan Ltd. on an exclusive, worldwide, perpetual and
royalty-free basis. Glyko, Inc. has also licensed six U.S. patents from
Glycomed Incorporated on an exclusive, worldwide, perpetual and royalty-free
basis. These patents are all related to Glyko, Inc.'s products and services.

Government Regulation
Food and Drug Administration Modernization Act of 1997

The Food and Drug Administration Modernization Act of 1997 was enacted, in
part, to ensure the availability of safe and effective drugs, biologics and
medical devices by expediting the FDA review process for new products. The
Modernization Act establishes a statutory program for the approval of fast
track products, including biologics. The fast track provisions essentially
codify the FDA's accelerated approval regulations for drugs and biologics. A
fast track product is defined as a new drug or biologic intended for the
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treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition that demonstrates the
potential to address unmet medical needs for this condition. Under the fast
track program, the sponsor of a new drug or biologic may request the FDA
designate the drug or biologic as a fast track product at any time during the
clinical development of the product. The Modernization Act specifies that the
FDA must determine if the product qualifies for fast track designation within
60 days of receipt of the sponsor's request.

Approval of a license application for a fast track product can be based on
an effect on a clinical endpoint or on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably
likely to predict clinical benefit. Approval of a license application for a
fast track product based on a surrogate endpoint may be subject to:

Post-approval studies to validate the surrogate endpoint or confirm the
effect on the clinical endpoint

Prior review of all promotional materials

If a preliminary review of the clinical data suggests that the product is
effective, the FDA may initiate review of sections of a license application for
a fast track product before the application is complete. This rolling review is
available if the applicant provides a schedule for submission of remaining
information and pays applicable user fees. However, the time period specified
in the Prescription Drug User Fees Act, which governs the time period goals the
FDA has committed to reviewing a license application, does not begin until the
complete application is submitted.

In September 1998, the FDA designated Aldurazyme a fast track product for
the more severe forms of MPS I. In June 2000, the FDA designated Aryplase a
fast track product for the treatment of MPS VI. BioMarin cannot predict the
ultimate impact, if any, of the fast track process on the timing or likelihood
of FDA approval of Aldurazyme, Aryplase or any of BioMarin's other potential
products.

Orphan Drug Designation

In September 1997, Aldurazyme received orphan drug designation from the FDA.
In February 1999, Aryplase received orphan drug designation from the FDA.
Orphan drug designation is granted by the FDA to drugs intended to treat a rare
disease or condition, which for this program is defined as having a prevalence
less than 200,000 individuals in the United States. Orphan drug designation
must be requested before submitting a biologics license application. After the
FDA grants orphan drug designation, the generic identity of the therapeutic
agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. A similar
system for orphan drug designation exists in the European Community. Both
Aldurazyme and Aryplase received designation as orphan medicinal products by
the European Commission in February 2001.
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Orphan drug designation does not shorten the regulatory review and approval
process for an orphan drug, nor does it give that drug any advantage in the
regulatory review and approval process. If an orphan drug later receives
approval for the indication for which it has designation, the relevant
regulatory authority may not approve any other applications to market the same
drug for the same indication, except in very limited circumstances, for seven
years in the U.S. and ten years in Europe. Although obtaining approval to
market a product with orphan drug exclusivity may be advantageous, BioMarin
cannot be certain:
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that BioMarin will be the first to obtain approval for any drug for which
it obtains orphan drug designation,

that orphan drug designation will result in any commercial advantage or
reduce competition, nor

that the limited exceptions to this exclusivity will not be invoked by
the relevant regulatory authority.

Competition

The biopharmaceutical industry is rapidly evolving and highly competitive.
BioMarin has not yet received governmental approval to commercially market any
of its pharmaceutical products. Accordingly, it has no share of markets for any
of its product programs. For each of BioMarin's major biopharmaceutical product
programs, the following is an analysis of the known competitive threats
BioMarin expects to possibly face when, and if, those products are approved for
commercial sale.

Aldurazyme for MPS I

On November 21, 2000 and May 29, 2001, respectively, Transkaryotic
Therapies, Inc. (TKTX) announced that two U.S. patents on (alpha)-L-iduronidase
had been issued and that these patents had been exclusively licensed to TKTX.
BioMarin has examined the patents, the patent files, the prior art and other
information. BioMarin believes that the patents may not survive a challenge.
However, the processes of patent law are uncertain and any patent proceeding is
subject to multiple unanticipated outcomes. BioMarin believes that it is in the
best interests of its joint venture with Genzyme to pursue the development of
Aldurazyme with commercial diligence, concurrent with BioMarin's challenge of
the patents, in order to gain marketing approvals as rapidly as possible and to
provide MPS I patients with the benefits of Aldurazyme. If either or both of
the patents are deemed (or ruled) to be valid, the joint venture will need to
reach an accommodation with the holder of the license to the patent.

These patents do not affect BioMarin's ability to market Aldurazyme in
Europe or Japan, both major pharmaceutical markets. A patent making the same
claims was rejected by the European Community and cannot be refiled.

A small private company announced that it has novel enzymatic technology to
make enzymes with proper glycosylation and phosphorylation. Since that
announcement, that company has been acquired by BioMarin's joint venture
partner, Genzyme. Pursuant to BioMarin's joint venture agreement with Genzyme,
both Genzyme and BioMarin must mutually agree on any technological developments
relating to Aldurazyme. The proper carbohydrate and phosphate structural
elements of the enzyme are essential to facilitate uptake of the enzyme by the
patient's cells to have efficient enzyme replacement therapy. BioMarin's
preclinical analysis indicates that Aldurazyme is highly efficient in being
taken up by cells during enzyme replacement therapy as a result of the proper
mannose-6-phosphate ligands (glycosylation and phosphorylation) on the enzyme.
BioMarin does not have any comparative data to assess directly the relative
potential therapeutic qualities of Aldurazyme and the other enzyme.

Neutralase for Anticoagulation Reversal
Currently protamine sulfate, in the U.S., and protamine chloride, in the
European Union, are the only products used to reverse heparin. Neutralase, if

approved, would have to compete with protamine in the market place.
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Protamine is relatively inexpensive; and so for Neutralase to achieve
significant market share, clinical data will be needed to demonstrate
advantages in safety or efficacy or both for the reversal of heparin. BioMarin
believes that Neutralase has superior characteristics but cannot predict that
clinical studies will demonstrate this superiority. Other than protamine, there
are no significant competitive drugs in clinical trials for the reversal of
heparin.

An alternative source of competition comes from substitutes for heparin, and
hence reducing the need for Neutralase. The Medicines Company has an approved
drug Angiomax (TM) (hirudin) that is a substitute for heparin in angioplasty and
potentially other indications. BioMarin cannot predict how much this competitor
will reduce the potential market size of Neutralase for angioplasty or other
indications. One additional source of competition comes from changes in medical
practice that may decrease the use of procedures that require heparin and so
Neutralase. Off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery has increased in frequency
and the amount of heparin used is less, though heparin is still used. Increased
off-pump CABG could reduce the use of heparin to some degree and therefore
decrease the market for Neutralase. Other unpredictable changes in medical
practice or other non-heparin-like anticoagulants could occur or be approved
and potentially reduce the market for Neutralase. At this time, BioMarin does
not foresee a large competitive challenge to heparin or the need for heparin
reversal.

Aryplase for MPS VI

BioMarin knows of no active competitive program for enzyme replacement
therapy for MPS VI that has entered clinical trials.

Gene therapy is a potential competitive threat to enzyme replacement
therapies for both MPS I and MPS VI. BioMarin knows of no competitive program
using gene therapy for the treatment of either MPS I or MPS VI that has entered
clinical trials.

Vibrilase for debridement of serious burns

Other enzymatic products exist which might be possibly used for the
debridement of serious second or third degree burns. Those products in their
current form have not captured any meaningful share of the debridement function
in the treatment of burn patients. BioMarin knows of no clinical program of a
new enzymatic product for the debridement of serious burns. The primary
competition for Vibrilase continues to be surgical debridement.

See "Factors that May Affect Future Results——-If BioMarin fails to compete
successfully, its revenues and operating results will be adversely affected."

Employees

As of [March 31, 2002], BioMarin had 216 full-time employees, 111 of whom
are in operations, 80 of whom are in research and development and 25 of whom
are in administration.

BioMarin considers its employee relations to be good. BioMarin's employees
are not covered by a collective bargaining agreement. BioMarin has not
experienced employment related work stoppages. BioMarin cannot provide any
assurance that it will be able to continue attracting qualified personnel in
sufficient numbers to meet its needs.

Directors of BioMarin
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The current directors of BioMarin are Fredric D. Price, Franz L. Cristiani,
Phyllis I. Gardner, M.D., Erich Sager, Vijay B. Samant and Gwynn R. Williams.
For certain information regarding these persons, see the section entitled "The
Annual Meeting of BioMarin Stockholders—--Proposal One: Election of Directors."
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Executive Officers and Other Significant Employees of BioMarin

The following table sets forth certain information concerning BioMarin's
executive officers (other than Fredric D. Price) and other significant
employees as of [March 31, 2002].

Name Age Position with BioMarin
Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D..... 49 Senior Vice President, Research and Development
Emil D. Kakkis, M.D., Ph.D..... 42 Senior Vice President, Scientific Affairs
Robert A. Baffi, Ph.D.......... 46 Vice President, Quality Assurance/Quality Control
Brian K. Brandley, Ph.D........ 45 Vice President, Pharmacology and Toxicology
Reinhard Gabathuler, Ph.D...... 48 Vice President, Brain Research
Robert A. Heft, Ph.D........... 47 Vice President, Product Development
John L. Jost, Ph.D............. 57 Vice President, Manufacturing
Jeffrey I. Landal.......eeuuu.. 59 Vice President, Administration
Matthew R. Patterson........... 30 Vice President, Regulatory and Government

Affairs

Stuart J. Swiedler, M.D., Ph.D. 46 Vice President, Clinical Affairs
Kim R. Tsuchimoto, C.P.A....... 39 Vice President, Controller

Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D., Co-Founder and Senior Vice President, Research
And Development

Dr. Starr co-founded BioMarin and currently serves as Senior Vice President,
Research and Development since January 2002. He served as a Vice President,
Research and Development from April 1998 to January 2002. From July 1991 to
April 1998, Dr. Starr served as Vice President, Research and Development for
Glyko, Inc. Prior to that, Dr. Starr was a National Research Council Associate
at the National Institutes of Health (NIH). He has published numerous
peer-reviewed articles, including research papers on Fluorophore-Assisted
Carbohydrate Electrophoresis (FACE) in the diagnosis of lysosomal storage
diseases and in the identification of patients with MPS I. His work in the
development of diagnostic tests for lysosomal storage diseases has been funded
by several grants from the NIH and other institutions. Dr. Starr holds a Ph.D.
in biochemistry and molecular biology from the State University of New York
Health Science Center and a B.S. from Syracuse University.

Emil D. Kakkis, M.D., Ph.D., Senior Vice President, Scientific Affairs

Dr. Kakkis serves as BioMarin's Senior Vice President, Scientific Affairs
since January 2002. He served as a Vice President of BioMarin from September
1998 to January 2002. In 1996, together with his colleague, Elizabeth F.
Neufeld, Ph.D., of the University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA), Dr.
Kakkis developed Aldurazyme, a recombinant form of (alpha)-L-iduronidase, the
enzyme deficient in MPS I patients. From July 1994 to August 1998, Dr. Kakkis
held the position of Assistant Professor at the Harbor-UCLA Medical Center,
Division of Genetics, Department of Pediatrics. From June 1991 to July 1994,
Dr. Kakkis completed a fellowship in genetics at the UCLA Intercampus Medical
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Genetics training program and, prior to that, conducted his pediatric residency
at the Harbor-UCLA Medical Center. Dr. Kakkis is the author of numerous
published articles and abstracts on MPS I and (alpha)-L-iduronidase. He holds
an M.D. and a Ph.D. in biological chemistry from the Medical Scientist training
program at the UCLA School of Medicine. Dr. Kakkis is board-certified in
pediatrics and medical genetics.

Robert A. Baffi, Ph.D., Vice President, Quality Assurance and Quality Control

Dr. Baffi joined BioMarin as Vice President of Quality Assurance and Quality
Control in May 2000. From February 1986 to May 2000, Dr. Baffi served in a
number of progressively more responsible positions at Genentech, Inc., a
biotechnology company, primarily in the functional area of quality control.
Prior to Genentech, Dr. Baffi worked for Cooper BioMedical as a research
scientist and at Becton Dickinson Research Center as a post-doctoral fellow.
Dr. Baffi has contributed to more than 20 major regulatory submissions for
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product approval in the United States and Europe and to more than 50 regulatory
submissions for investigational new drug testing. Dr. Baffi received a Ph.D. in
biochemistry, as well as an M.Phil. and a B.S. in biochemistry from the City
University of New York.

Brian K. Brandley, Ph.D, Vice President, Pharmacology and Toxicology

Dr. Brandley has served as a Vice President of BioMarin since October 1998.
Dr. Brandley served as the Managing Director of Glyko Inc. since April 1998.
From July 1995 to April 1998, Dr. Brandley served as Assistant Professor in the
Department of Pharmacology at Rush University. Dr. Brandley served as Senior
Scientist and Head of the Cell Biology Laboratory at Glycomed, Incorporated, a
biotechnology company, from July 1988 to July 1995. He also has five years of
post-doctoral research experience at the Medical University of South Carolina
and the Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine. Dr. Brandley is the author
of 27 publications in peer-reviewed journals and holds 14 patents. He earned a
Ph.D. in biology from the University of Sydney, an M.S. in biology from the
University of Miami, and a B.S. with honors from the University of Miami.

Reinhard Gabathuler, Ph.D., Vice President, Brain Research

Dr. Gabathuler has served as Vice President, Brain Research since March 2002
when BioMarin acquired Synapse Technologies Inc. Prior to joining BioMarin, Dr.
Gabathuler served as Vice President, Research at Synapse Technologies Inc.
since May 2001 and Director of Blood-Brain Barrier Research at Synapse
Technologies Inc. from June 1998 to May 2001. From September 1993 to June 1998,
Dr. Gabathuler served as a consultant for Synapse Technologies Inc. From June
1991 to June 1998, Dr. Gabathuler served as Senior Research Associate at
Biotechnology Laboratory at the University of British Columbia. Dr. Gabathuler
holds a Ph.D. in biochemistry from the University of Lausanne, Switzerland. Dr.
Gabathuler completed Post-Doctoral research at the University of Washington,
the Swiss Institute for Experimental Cancer Research in Lausanne and the Ludwig
Institute for Cancer Research in Stockholm, Sweden.

Robert A. Heft, Ph.D., Vice President, Product Development

Dr. Heft has served as Vice President, Product Development since October
2001 when BioMarin acquired the pharmaceutical assets of IBEX Technologies Inc.
In January 1986, Dr. Heft founded IBEX and was its President and Chief
Scientist until joining BioMarin. While at IBEX, Dr. Heft directed the
preclinical and clinical development of several enzymes for cardiovascular
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disease and metabolic disorders, was awarded several patents for work related
to these enzymes, and authored related papers. Dr. Heft is a member of the
Board of Directors of the Canadian Genetic Diseases Network. Dr. Heft received
a Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering from McGill University and a Masters
degree in nuclear engineering from Cornell University before obtaining his
Ph.D. from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in genetic
engineering/radiological sciences.

John L. Jost, Ph.D., Vice President, Manufacturing

Dr. Jost joined BioMarin as Vice President, Manufacturing in June 1999. Dr.
Jost devoted his time from November 1997 to June 1999 to personal affairs. From
February 1983 to November 1997, Dr. Jost held a variety of management and
scientific positions at Genentech, Inc., a biotechnology company. During his
tenure at Genentech, Dr. Jost also led a variety of development projects
focusing on products such as Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF), Gamma Interferon,
Human Growth Hormone (hGH), animal interferons, and human serum albumin. These
programs contributed to numerous investigational new drug applications (IND),
new drug applications (NDA), BLA, and BLA supplement submissions. From 1971 to
1983, Dr. Jost served in various scientific positions in process development at
The Upjohn Company, culminating in his role as a senior research scientist. Dr.
Jost received a Ph.D. and B.S. in chemical engineering from the University of
Minnesota.
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Jeffrey I. Landau, Vice President, Administration

Mr. Landau joined BioMarin as a consultant in October 2001 and has served as
Vice President, Administration since April 2002. From March 2000 to October
2001, Mr. Landau served as Chief Operating Officer for Transition/l1 Management
Accounting Systems, Inc., a computer software company. From December 1999 to
March 2000, Mr. Landau acted as an independent consultant. From June 1998 to
December 1999, Mr. Landau served as Chief Operating Officer for GlobeNet
Technologies, Inc., a computer software company. From March 1996 to June 1998,
Mr. Landau served as Chief Information Officer for Walt Disney Consumer
Products. Mr. Landau received an M.S. in computer science and operations
research, and a B.S. in mathematics from New York University.

Matthew R. Patterson, Vice President, Regulatory and Government Affairs

Mr. Patterson was promoted to Vice President, Regulatory and Government
Affairs from Director, Regulatory Affairs in January 2002, having joined
BioMarin in August 1998. He served as Regulatory Affairs Manager from August
1998 to July 1999, and as Director of Regulatory Affairs from July 1999 to
January 2002. Prior to joining BioMarin, Mr. Patterson worked for Genzyme
Corporation, a biotechnology company, first in Manufacturing (from December
1993 to May 1995) and then Regulatory Affairs (from May 1995 to July 1998),
where he contributed to the development and global licensing of multiple
biotechnology products. Mr. Patterson received a B.A. in biochemistry from
Bowdoin College.

Stuart J. Swiedler, M.D., Ph.D., Vice President, Scientific and Clinical
Affairs

Dr. Swiedler has served as Vice President, Clinical Affairs of BioMarin
since June 1998. From November 1997 to June 1998, Dr. Swiedler was an
independent technology consultant. From May 1995 to November 1997, Dr. Swiedler
served as Vice President, Research Programs at Glycomed, Incorporated, a
biotechnology company. Dr. Swiedler's biotechnology experience includes six
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years of post-doctoral work at the Yale University and Duke University schools
of medicine. He is board-certified in anatomic pathology and has conducted
extensive research in the molecular biology of carbohydrate enzymes. Dr.
Swiedler holds five patents and is the author of 20 peer-reviewed journal
articles. Dr. Swiedler holds a Ph.D. from the Johns Hopkins University School
of Medicine, Biochemistry, Cellular, and Molecular Biology training program, an
M.D. from the Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, and a B.S. from the State
University of New York at Albany.

Kim R. Tsuchimoto, C.P.A., Vice President, Controller

Ms. Tsuchimoto was promoted to Vice President, Controller in January 2002,
having joined BioMarin in February 1997 as BioMarin's Controller. From November
1993 to November 1996, Ms. Tsuchimoto served as Controller for Dodd Smith Dann
Inc., a fundraising and marketing consultant for non-profit organizations.
Prior to that, Ms. Tsuchimoto served as Controller from January 1990 to October
1993 and Assistant Controller from January 1988 to January 1990 for Partech
International (formerly Paribas Technology), a venture capital firm affiliated
with Banque Paribas. Ms. Tsuchimoto is a licensed California certified public
accountant and received a B.S. in business administration from San Francisco
State University.

Security Ownership Of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the
beneficial ownership of BioMarin's common stock as of March 31, 2002 as to (i)
each person, or group of affiliated persons, who is known by BioMarin to own
beneficially more than 5% of BioMarin's common stock; (ii) each of BioMarin's
directors; (iii) each of BioMarin's executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table set forth herein under the caption "Executive and Director
Compensation"; and (iv) all of BioMarin's directors and current executive
officers as a group.
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Except as otherwise noted, the persons or entities in this table have sole
voting and investing power with respect to all the shares of BioMarin's common
stock beneficially owned by them subject to community property laws, where
applicable. The information with respect to each person specified is as
supplied or confirmed by such person, based upon statements filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, or based upon the actual knowledge of
BioMarin.

Number of Shares Number of Shares
Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficially Owned(l) Subject To Options(
Glyko Biomedical LEd. ... it ineeeeeeeeneeeeeeeennnns 11,367,617 0
Box 25, Commerce Court West
199 Bay Street
Toronto, Ontario
Canada M5L 1A9
Franklin ReSOUTCES INC. it vt i vt tnetoneeeeeneeneeeeeenens 3,246,245 0
One Franklin Parkway
San Mateo, CA 94403
Fredric D. PricCe (3) v u ettt ettt et teteteteeeeeaenennn 326,066 309,399
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Brian K. Brandley, Ph.D. (3) ..ttt tteeeeeeeeannnn 88,076
Robert A. Baffi, Ph.D.(3) ..ttt 128,537
Franz L. Cristiani (3) «u v i ettt ittt ettt teteeetenennn 0
Phyllis L. Gardner, M.D. (3) « .ttt iiimtentetseeeeeeeannnn 10,000
John L. Jost, Ph.D. (3) cu ittt ittt teeteeeeneenns 174,915
Emil D. Kakkis, M.D., Ph.D.(3) ciuiiiiiiniiinninnnnnnnn 261,399
Erich Sager (3) (4) v v v i ittt ittt ettt ettt eeeeeeeaannn 11,565,267
Vijay B. Samant (3) « v v vt ii ittt ettt e et e eaeeeeeee 0
Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D.(3) ..ttt eennnnn 680,531
Stuart J. Swiedler, M.D., Ph.D.(3) cu ittt eneennnnnn 172,215
Gwynn R. Williams (3) « v viiiinime ettt eeeeeeeeeeeannns 68,750

All current executive officers and directors as a group
(8 PEISONS) (4) v vttt ittt ittt ettt ettt e eeeeeeeeeaanenn 12,912,013

*

(1)

of

Represents less than 1% of BioMarin's outstanding common stock.

The "Number of Shares Beneficially Owned" column is based on shares of
common stock outstanding at , 2002. Shares of common stock subject
to options or warrants that are exercisable within 60 days of ,
2002 (the "Number of Shares Beneficially Owned") are deemed to be
outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the options
or warrants for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of the
person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the
percentage ownership of any other person.

The "Number of Shares Subject to Options" enumerates for each 5%
stockholder, director and Named Executive Officer and for all officers and
directors in the aggregate, the shares of common stock subject to options
exercisable within 60 days of , 2002. These shares are in the
calculation of the "Number of Shares Beneficially Owned." This table does
not include the beneficial ownership of shares held by Raymond W. Anderson,
BioMarin's former Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary and Vice President, Finance and Administration who has not been
employed by BioMarin since January 2002.

The mailing address for such stockholder is c/o BioMarin Pharmaceutical
Inc., 371 Bel Marin Keys Blvd., Suite 210, Novato, California 94949.

Includes 11,367,617 shares held by Glyko of which Mr. Sager is an officer.
Mr. Sager disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the

extent of his pecuniary interest.
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For pro forma ownership of BioMarin's common stock following the completion
the transaction, see table under "The Companies After The Transaction--Pro

Forma Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners."

87,447

127,271

10,000
170,414
258,598

118,750

300,317
162,215

68,750

1,065,814
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Executive and Director Compensation
Summary Compensation Table

BioMarin is required by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission to
disclose compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid for services rendered to
it in all capacities during the last three fiscal years to (i) its Chief
Executive Officer; (ii) its four most highly compensated executive officers,
other than the Chief Executive Officer, who were serving as executive officers
at the end of fiscal year 2001; and (iii) up to two additional individuals for
whom such disclosure would have been provided under clause (i) and (ii) above
but for the fact that the individual was not serving as an executive officer of
BioMarin at the end of fiscal year 2001; provided, however, that no disclosure
need be provided for any executive officer, other than the CEO, whose total
annual salary and bonus does not exceed $100,000.

Accordingly, the following table discloses compensation paid by BioMarin
during the last three fiscal years to (i) Fredric D. Price, its Chief Executive
Officer; and (ii) Raymond W. Anderson, Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D., Emil D.
Kakkis, M.D., Ph.D. and John L. Jost, Ph.D., the four most highly-compensated
executive officers, other than the Chief Executive Officer, who were serving as
executive officers at the end of fiscal year 2001 and whose salary and bonus
exceeded $100,000. BioMarin refers to all of these officers as the "Named
Executive Officers."
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The entries under the column "Other Annual Compensation" for Mr. Price,
include the value of his restricted stock grant issued upon his employment
commencement, a tax gross-up benefit relating to the compensation earned from
the restricted stock grant and payments for temporary housing. Each of these
amounts paid to Mr. Price 1is described in more detail in the section captioned
"Employment Agreements." The entries under the column "All Other Compensation"
in the table represent the premiums paid for life insurance benefits and vested
401 (k) matching for each Named Executive Officer.

Summary Compensation Table

Long—-Term

Compensation

Annual Compensation Awards
Securities
Other annual Underlying
Name and Principal Position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($) compensation ($) Options/SARs (#)

Fredric D. Price(l) ... vivieenennnn.. 2001 408,269 278,500 - 175,000
Chairman and Chief Executive 2000 99,487 100,000 578,424 523,288
Officer 1999 - - - -
Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D(2)........ 2001 250,000 —— —— 25,000
Senior Vice President, Research 2000 190,000 75,000 —— 75,194
and Development 1999 150,000 150,000 —— 94,189
Emil D. Kakkis, M.D., Ph.D.(2)....... 2001 245,000 - - 25,000
Senior Vice President, Scientific 2000 229,327 50,000 - 50,000
Affairs 1999 225,000 - - 64,502
Stuart J. Swiedler, M.D., Ph.D. (2).. 2001 230,000 - - 20,000
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Vice President, Scientific and 2000 192,769 - -
Clinical Affairs 1999 154,000 —— -
Raymond W. Anderson(2) (3) ........c.o... 2001 250,000 —= —=
Former Chief Operating Officer, 2000 222,466 25,000 ——
Chief Financial Officer, 1999 189,625 100,000 -

Secretary and Vice President,
Finance and Administration

Mr. Price was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer effective October
31, 2000.

Options were earned for the fiscal year 2001 and granted on December 14,
2001. Long-term options vest 6/48ths at June 30, 2002 and 1/48ths per
month thereafter. No short-term options were granted during the fiscal year
2001.

As of January 2002, Mr. Anderson is no longer employed by BioMarin in any
capacity. A portion of "All Other Compensation" was paid to Mr. Anderson in
January 2002, relating to his accrued vacation at the time of termination
of his employment.
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Stock Option Grants Table

The following table sets forth certain information for each grant of options

to purchase BioMarin's common stock during fiscal 2001 to each of the Named
Executive Officers. Except as otherwise noted, all these options were granted
under the 1997 Stock Plan and have a term of 10 years subject to early
termination in the event the officer's services to the Company cease.

Underlying Granted to Per
Options Employees in Share Option Term
Name Granted 2001 (1) ($) (2) Expiration Date

Fredric D. Price......ueueueuuune.. 175,000 10% 13.24 12/14/11
Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D..... 25,000 1% 13.24 12/14/11
Emil D. Kakkis, M.D., Ph.D..... 25,000 1% 13.24 12/14/11
Stuart J. Swiedler, M.D., Ph.D. 20,000 1% 13.24 12/14/11
Raymond W. Anderson(4)......... 5,000 * 13.24 12/14/11

*

Fiscal 2001 Stock Option Grants

Number of Percent of Exercise
Securities Total Options Price

Represents less than 1% of the total options granted to BioMarin employees
in 2001.

45,233
32,661

5,000
58,469
72,658

Potential Reali
Value at Assume
Rates of Stock
Appreciation fo

Term ($) (3)

1,457,149 3,6

208,164 5
208,164 5
166,531 4
41,633 1
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Based on an aggregate of 1,801,681 shares subject to options granted by
BioMarin during fiscal year 2001 to employees, consultants and the Named

Executive Officers.

Options were granted at an exercise price equal to the greater of the
closing price of the BioMarin common stock on Nasdag on the date of the

grant or January 2,

2002.

The 5% and 10% assumed annual rates of compounded stock price appreciation
are mandated by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. BioMarin
cannot assure any Named Executive Officer or any other holder of its
securities that the actual stock price appreciation over the option term
will be at the assumed 5% and 10% levels or at any other defined level.
Unless the market price of its common stock appreciates over the option
term, no value will be realized from the option grants made to the Named
The potential realizable value is calculated by
assuming that the closing price per share on the date of grant appreciates
at the indicated rate for the entire term of the option and that the option
is exercised at the exercise price and sold on the last day of its term at
e. The potential realizable value computation is net of
the applicable exercise price, but does not take into account applicable
federal or state income tax consequences and other expenses of option
exercises or sales of appreciated stock. The values shown do not consider
non-transferability or termination of the options upon termination of such
employee's employment with BioMarin.

Executive Officers.

the appreciated pric

Pursuant to the terms of Mr.

will expire on December 31,

Anderson's separation agreement, these options
2002 unless sooner exercised.
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Fiscal Year Option Exercises and Option Value Table

The following table sets forth the number of shares covered by both
exercisable and unexercisable stock options held by each of the Named Executive
Officers at December 31,

2001.

Options Exercised During Year 2001 and Fiscal Year-End Option Value Table

Name of Executive Off

Fredric D. Price........

Christopher M. Starr, Ph.
Emil D. Kakkis, M.D., Ph.

Stuart J. Swiedler, M.D.
Raymond W. Anderson(3) ..

icer

, Ph.D.

Number of Securities Value of Unexerc

Underlying Unexercised In-the-Money Opt

Shares Value Options at Year-End at Year-End (2
Acquired Realized — =
on Exercise ($) (1) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexer
- - 252,107 321,181 $ 269,970 $348
17,597 184,945 281,567 70,834 $2,003,818 $315
- - 229,084 85,418 $1,823,133 $423

- - 139,169 66,797 $1,005,284 $335

- - 244,959 79,168 $1,914,186 $358

Based on closing price on December 3, 2001, the date of exercise of $11.50
per share less exercise price per share.
Based on closing price on December 31, 2001 of $13.44 per share less

exercise price per s
As of January 2002,

hare.
Mr.

Anderson is no longer employed by BioMarin in any
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capacity.
Employment Agreements

BioMarin is party to employment agreements with each current executive
officer on the terms enumerated on the chart below. Each of these employment
agreements 1is terminable without cause by BioMarin upon six months prior
written notice to the officer, or by the officer upon three months prior
written notice to BioMarin. BioMarin is obligated to pay the officer's salary
and benefits until this termination. Except in the case of Mr. Price, in the
event that the officer is involuntarily terminated within one year of a change
of control of BioMarin, he will receive (i) a severance payment equal to six
months of his annual salary; (ii) a bonus equal to 50% of the annual bonus that
he would otherwise be entitled to, and (iii) immediate vesting of 50% of the
unvested portion of his outstanding options to purchase BioMarin common stock.

2001 Annual Initial Grant of Right to Ag
Name of Executive Officer Salary Rate (1) Annual Bonus Purchase Equity Securities Termi
Fredric D. Price........... $450,000 Annual bonus, Option to purchase up to Octob
payable in cash 500,000 shares of
based on BioMarin's common
performance. stock at a purchase price

of $12.50 per share.

Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D. $250,000 Annual bonus, 400,000 shares of June
payable in cash BioMarin's common
or stock. stock at a purchase price

of $1.00 per share.

Emil D. Kakkis, M.D., Ph.D. $245,000 Eligible to receive a Option to purchase up to None
cash bonus based 200,000 shares of
on achievement BioMarin's common
of milestones and stock at a purchase price
an annual bonus, of $4.00 per share.
payable in cash
or stock.
119
2001 Annual Initial Grant of Right to Agreen
Name of Executive Officer Salary Rate (1) Annual Bonus Purchase Equity Securities Terminati
Stuart Swiedler, M.D., Ph.D. $230,000 Annual bonus, Option to purchase up to Non
payable in cash 150,000 shares of
or stock. BioMarin's common

stock at a purchase price
of $4.00 per share.

Robert A. Baffi, Ph.D....... $220,000 Annual bonus, Option to purchase up to Non
payable in cash 210,000 shares of
or stock. BioMarin's common
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stock at a purchase price
of $22.00 per share.

John L. Jost, Ph.D.......... $220,000 Annual bonus, Option to purchase up to Non
payable in cash 200,000 shares of
or stock. BioMarin's common

stock at a purchase price
of $13.00 per share.

Brian K. Brandley, Ph.D..... $155,000 Annual bonus, Option to purchase up to Non
payable in cash 150,000 shares of
or stock. Glyko's common stock.

Now exercisable for
65,415 shares of
BioMarin's common

stock at a purchase price
of $5.27 per share.

(1) 2001 Annual Salary Rate reflected in the above table reflects 2001 annual
salary rate as of December 31, 2001. The table entitled "Summary
Compensation Table" reflects actual salaries paid in 2001 and includes
mid-year salary adjustments.

Effective October 31, 2000, in connection with Mr. Price's employment,
BioMarin entered into an employment agreement with him which provides for an
initial payment to Mr. Price of $357,624, an annual base salary of $400,000 in
the first year, $450,000 in the second year, and $500,000 in the third year,
and a bonus of $200,000 in the first year and a performance bonus of between
25% and 100% of his respective annual base salary for each of the second and
third years. In addition, BioMarin granted Mr. Price 25,000 restricted shares
of BioMarin's common stock (which vest in three equal annual installments
commencing on January 1, 2001), BioMarin granted Mr. Price an option to
purchase 500,000 shares of its stock, at a purchase price of $12.50 per share
(which vests monthly over 36 months, commencing October 30, 2000) and BioMarin
further agreed to grant Mr. Price additional options on each anniversary of the
agreement, in an amount to be determined by the Board. BioMarin also agreed to
reimburse Mr. Price for all expenses incurred in relocating to the area with a
tax gross-up adjustment and to extend him a $1,500,000 interest-deferred loan
for the purchase of a house.

The agreement has a three-year term, which will automatically renew for an
additional three-year period unless either Mr. Price or BioMarin give the other
notice of its/his intent not to renew the agreement. If BioMarin decides not to
renew the agreement, BioMarin must pay Mr. Price an amount such that BioMarin's
net payment after deduction of all payroll taxes and all income taxes at the
highest marginal rates applicable to Mr. Price will equal the base salary and
bonus BioMarin paid him in the third year of the agreement. Additionally, the
expiration for any vested options will be one year from the termination of the
agreement and all unvested options will remain unvested and unexercisable.

Either party can terminate the agreement on sixty days' notice. However, in
the event there is a change in control which results in Mr. Price's actual or
constructive termination, he is entitled to a severance payment equal to twice
the aggregate of his annual base salary and bonus payable in the year in which

termination occurs,

120

forgiveness of all outstanding principal and interest on the interest-deferred
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loan, acceleration of the full unvested portion of his 25,000 share restricted
stock grant and all stock options and an additional payment equal to

Mr. Price's maximum total income tax liability applicable to the total
severance package. If Mr. Price is terminated other than for cause, he is
entitled to receive a severance payment equal to twice his applicable annual
base salary and bonus if he is terminated in the first year of the agreement
and equal to his applicable annual base salary and bonus if he is terminated in
a subsequent year, forgiveness of all outstanding principal and interest on the
interest deferred-loan and acceleration of the full unvested portion of his
25,000 share restricted stock grant and all stock options. Additionally, if he
is terminated other than for cause prior to the second anniversary of the
agreement, he is entitled to an additional payment equal the maximum income tax
liability associated with forgiveness of the loan and such additional payment.

BioMarin provided a three-year loan to Dr. Starr for the purchase of his
shares referenced in column four of the table above and to Mr. Denison for the
purchase of 1,300,000 shares of the Company's common stock all of which were
purchased pursuant to the Founders' Stock Purchase Agreement described below.
Each loan bears interest at a rate of 6%. For each of them, respectively, if
his employment is terminated by BioMarin for any reason, he has the right to
sell any or all of these shares of common stock to BioMarin at a price per
share equal to the lesser of the then-current per share market price of the
shares or the original per share purchase price of $1.00.

Dr. Brandley's employment agreement was originally with Glyko, Inc. but was
assigned to BioMarin in connection with BioMarin's acquisition of Glyko, Inc.

Through June 30, 2000, Dr. Starr's cash bonus was based on the difference
between a minimum market capitalization and BioMarin's quarterly market
capitalization. The cash bonus is calculated as follows:

The Board of Directors established a minimum market capitalization of $20.0
million for the first quarter of 1998. The minimum market capitalization
increases by $1.0 million per quarter until the end of the agreement in the
second quarter of 2000. BioMarin's quarterly market capitalization is
calculated at the end of each calendar quarter by multiplying the number of
BioMarin's common shares outstanding times the average closing price of
BioMarin's common stock for the last 10 trading days of the quarter. If
BioMarin's common stock is not publicly traded the quarterly market
capitalization is determined by multiplying the shares of BioMarin's common
stock outstanding by the price at which BioMarin's common stock was sold in the
latest significant investment by an independent third-party investor. For each
full $5.0 million that the quarterly market capitalization exceeds the minimum
market capitalization, Dr. Starr received a cash bonus of $1,200 in the first
calendar quarter and $1,250 in the second quarter. Dr. Starr's cash bonus is
the sum of the two quarterly bonuses for 2000.

Dr. Starr's total cash bonus was limited to 100% of his base salary in any
year. Additional amounts beyond the cash limit that may be earned in a year
were paid in stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model to
calculate the value of the stock option based on period-end parameters.

In December 1998, the Board approved a form of indemnification agreement to
be entered into between BioMarin and each of its officers and directors. This
indemnification agreement requires BioMarin, among other things, to indemnify
officers and directors against liabilities that may arise by reason of their
status or performance of their duties as officers or directors and to advance
their expenses incurred as a result of any proceeding against them as to which
they could be indemnified.

For a description of other transactions between BioMarin and its affiliates
of the Company, see "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions."
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Section 162 (m)

BioMarin has considered the potential future effects of Section 162 (m) of
the Internal Revenue Code on the compensation paid to its executive officers.
Section 162 (m) disallows a tax deduction for any publicly held corporation for
individual compensation exceeding $1.0 million in any taxable year for any of
the Named Executive Officers, unless compensation is performance-based.
BioMarin has adopted a policy that, where reasonably practicable, it will seek
to qualify the variable compensation paid to its executive officers for an
exemption from the deductibility limitations of Section 162 (m).

Director Compensation

Directors do not receive cash compensation for their services as directors
of BioMarin but are reimbursed for their reasonable expenses in attending
meetings of the Board and while performing services for BioMarin. In October
2001, under the 1998 Director Option Plan, BioMarin issued to Mr. Denison
options to purchase 15,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price set at
the fair market value (closing price of common stock on Nasdaqg) on the date of
grant, which was $11.40. In November 2001, under the 1998 Director Option Plan,
BioMarin issued to Messrs. Sager and Williams options to purchase 15,000 shares
of common stock with an exercise price set at the fair market value (closing
price of common stock on Nasdaqg) on the date of grant, which was $12.00 as
consideration for their ongoing services to BioMarin as directors. In September
2001, under the 1998 Director Option Plan, BioMarin issued to Dr. Gardner
option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price set at
the fair market value (closing price of common stock on Nasdaqg) on the date of
grant, which was $12.34, as consideration for her initial year of services to
BioMarin as a director.

1998 Director Option Plan

The 1998 Director Option Plan was adopted by the Board in December 1998. It
was approved by BioMarin's stockholders as of January 15, 1999. The plan
provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock options to non-employee directors.
A total of 500,000 shares of BioMarin common stock have been reserved for
issuance under the plan. The plan also provides for an annual increase in this

number of shares equal to the lesser of: (1) 0.5% of the BioMarin's outstanding
capital stock, (2) 200,000 shares, or (3) a lesser amount determined by the
Board.

In fiscal year 2001, options to purchase, in the aggregate, 65,000 shares
were issued to directors.

The 1998 Director Option Plan provides that each non-employee director shall
automatically be granted an option to purchase 20,000 shares of BioMarin common
stock on the date which that person first becomes a non-employee director. This
option shall have a term of 10 years. The shares subject to this initial option
shall vest quarterly over one year. Each non-employee director shall thereafter
also be automatically granted an option to purchase 15,000 shares of BioMarin
common stock on the first anniversary of the date of their respective initial
appointments to the Board and each anniversary thereafter, provided that he or
she retains the Board seat on his or her anniversary date. The shares subject
to this annual option shall vest in full one year from the date of grant and
shall have a term of 10 years. These options shall continue to vest quarterly
only while the director serves. The exercise price per share of each of these
options shall be 100% of the fair market value of a share of BioMarin common
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stock at the date of the grant of the option.

In the event of a merger or the sale of substantially all of the assets of
BioMarin, each option may be assumed or substituted by the successor
corporation. If an option is assumed or substituted, it shall continue to vest
as provided in the plan. However, if a non-employee director's status as a
director of BioMarin or the successor corporation, as applicable, is
terminated, other than upon a voluntary resignation by the non-employee
director, the option shall immediately become fully vested and exercisable. If
the successor corporation does not agree to assume or substitute the option,
each option shall become fully vested and exercisable for a period of 30 days
from the date the Board notifies the optionee of the option's full
exercisability, after which period the option shall terminate.
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Options granted under the plan must be exercised within three months of the
end of the optionee's tenure as a director, or within 12 months after
termination by death or disability, but in no event later than the expiration
of the option's ten-year term. No option granted under the plan is transferable
by the optionee other than by will or the laws of descent or distribution. Each
option is exercisable, during the lifetime of the optionee, only by the
optionee. Unless sooner terminated by the Board, the plan will terminate
automatically 10 years from the effective date of the plan.

Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides certain information with respect to all of
BioMarin's equity compensation plans in effect as of December 31, 2001.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities Weighted average N

to be issued upon exercise price of
exercise of outstanding
outstanding options, options, warrants
Plan Category warrants and rights (1) and rights C
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders.... 7,766,678 $11.18
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders - -
ol 7,766,678 $11.18

(1) Does not include any shares of BioMarin common stock issuable under its
1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. BioMarin issues shares under this plan
once every six months based on employee elections in the preceding six
months. Pursuant to the terms of this plan, the number of shares to be
issued and the price per share is not determined until immediately before
the date of issuance.

(2) Includes options and shares of common stock issuable pursuant to BioMarin's
1997 Stock Plan, as amended, 1998 Director Option Plan and 1998 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan. Pursuant to the terms of these plans, the number of
shares of common stock available for future issuance under these plans
increases on the first day of each fiscal year of BioMarin or, January 1 of
each year. On the first day of each fiscal year of BioMarin, the common
stock available for future issuance under the 1997 Stock Plan increases by
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the lesser of (i) 4% of the then outstanding capital stock of BioMarin,

(ii) 2,000,000 shares, or (iii) a lower amount set by the BioMarin board of
directors. On the first day of each fiscal year of BioMarin, the common
stock available for future issuance under each of the 1998 Director Option
Plan and the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan increases by the lesser of
(i) 200,000 shares, (ii) 0.5% of the then outstanding capital stock of
BioMarin, or (iii) a lower amount set by the BioMarin board of directors.

Report of Audit Committee

The Audit Committee reviews BioMarin's financial reporting process on behalf
of the board of directors. Management has the primary responsibility for the
financial statements and the reporting process, including the system of
internal controls.

In this context, the Committee has met and held discussions with management
and the independent auditors. Management represented to the Committee that
BioMarin's consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and the Committee has reviewed and
discussed the consolidated financials statements with management and the
independent auditors. The Committee discussed with the independent auditors
matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61
(Communication With Audit Committees).

In addition, the Committee has discussed with the independent auditors, the
auditor's independence from BioMarin and its management, including the matters
in the written disclosures required by the Independence Standards Board
Standard No. 1 (Independent Discussions With Audit Committees).
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The Committee discussed with management and the independent auditors the
overall scope and plans for the 2001 annual audit. The Committee meets with
management and the independent auditors, with and without management present,
to discuss the results of their examination, the evaluations of BioMarin's
internal controls, and the overall quality of BioMarin's financial reporting.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Committee
recommended to the board of directors, and the board has approved, that the
audited financial statements be included in BioMarin's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, for filing with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission and the Swiss SWX New Market. The Committee recommended
to the board of directors and the board has approved the selection of
BioMarin's independent auditors for the year ending December 31, 2002. However,
the Committee recommended that the Committee and the board of directors
continue to monitor developments affecting Arthur Andersen LLP.

Respectfully submitted on March 25, 2002 by the members of the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors:

Gwynn R. Williams
Erich Sager
Phyllis I. Gardner, M.D.
Report of Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee is responsible for setting general compensation

goals and operational guidelines for BioMarin personnel, for setting all
elements of the compensation of the executive officers of BioMarin, and for
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approving grants of stock options for BioMarin. At all meetings of the
Compensation Committee in 2001, the Compensation Committee was composed of the
three outside, non-management members of the board of directors.

Compensation Goals and Policies

The goal of BioMarin's compensation policies is to provide compensation
sufficient to attract, motivate and retain executives and staff of outstanding
ability and potential. Compensation policies are intended to establish an
appropriate relationship between executive compensation and the creation of
stockholder value as measured by the equity markets. BioMarin uses the
following principles to help achieve that goal:

(1) BioMarin provides competitive compensation packages incorporating all
compensation elements for executives and staff based upon BioMarin's
internal policies and compensation packages at similarly situated
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies in the San Francisco Bay Area.

(2) BioMarin rewards executives and senior staff for outstanding performance
by the individual and by BioMarin.

(3) BioMarin seeks to align the long-term interests of the stockholder and
the executives and the senior staff through the use of employee stock
options and other stock priced related compensation, such as its
Employee Stock Purchase Program.

Considerations for 2001 Compensation

Increases in base salary for 2001 were made effective January 2001 primarily
based on the progress and achievements of BioMarin during 2000 and competitive
conditions in the job marketplace for biotechnology expertise in the San
Francisco Bay Area marketplace.

The Compensation Committee took particular note of 2000 achievements
including the initiation of a Phase 3 trial of Aldurazyme and a Phase 1 trial
of Aryplase (formerly rhASB). However, the Compensation Committee also noted
the lack of corporate activity during the first half of 2000.
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Based on the Compensation Committee's judgment as to the value of these
events and other less visible internal developments, the Compensation Committee
awarded long-term compensation stock option grants to the executives and staff
of BioMarin. Except for Mr. Price, who is covered under a separate employment
agreement, the Compensation Committee also granted short-term incentive stock
options as a reward for BioMarin's program in comparison to plan in 2000.
Grants under both programs were pro-rated for the portion of the year that the
employee was in the service of BioMarin.

Salary compensation for the staff below the rank of officer was generally
increased by an average of 5%, which approximated the reported average salary
increase in the biotechnology industry in the San Francisco Bay Area and which
was also pro-rated for time in service during the year. The Compensation
Committee deemed that these compensation actions were appropriate for the
progress made by BioMarin in 2000 and maintained a competitive balance with
biotechnology companies of similar size and state of development in the region.

With respect to officer salary, the Compensation Committee determined that,

based on the factors described above, it was appropriate and elected to
increase salaries by an average of 15%. Additionally, due to the size of prior
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grants of stock options to officers, the Compensation Committee determined that
the prior option grants provided the current officers with significant
motivation and sufficiently linked their compensation to the performance of
BioMarin. The Compensation Committee expressed concerns about limiting the
availability of options for non-officer employees and possible dilution of
current stockholders. Accordingly, the Compensation Committee reduced new
option grants to current officers by an average of one-half.

Chief Executive Officer Compensation

Effective October 31, 2000, Mr. Fredric D. Price was elected by the Board of
Directors to the position of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board.
At that time, the Compensation Committee negotiated a three year employment
agreement, which included a competitive compensation package appropriate to
Mr. Price's demonstrated leadership capabilities and achievements. Mr. Price's
base salary for 2001 was set by this employment agreement. Pursuant to the
terms of his employment contract, Mr. Price was also entitled to a bonus of
$200,000 and an additional stock option grant to purchase 100,000 shares for
his first year of service.

The terms of Mr. Price's compensation for 2001 were primarily determined
prior to his service with BioMarin. However, the Compensation Committee
believes that, during 2001, Mr. Price has amply demonstrated that his skills
merit his remuneration. In particular, the Compensation Committee notes the
consummation of three financing facilities, which raised more than $156 million
in gross proceeds for BioMarin, the acquisition by BioMarin of the IBEX
pharmaceutical product programs and the advancement of two additional internal
product programs from the lab to clinical trials. In light of these
accomplishments, and in particular the follow on public offering of BioMarin's
common stock the Compensation Committee awarded Mr. Price an additional bonus
of $78,500.

The Compensation Committee believes that the above authorized compensation
actions based upon BioMarin achievements and competitive compensation levels
will serve to help retain a highly qualified and motivated staff led by
excellent senior management that is a requirement for the prosperity of
BioMarin and the creation of stockholder value.

Respectfully submitted on March 25, 2002 by the members of the Compensation
Committee of the board of directors:

Erich Sager
Phyllis I. Gardner, M.D.
Gwynn R. Williams
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return with
the cumulative total return of the Nasdag Stock Market (U.S.) and the Nasdag
Pharmaceutical Index of stocks in Standard Industry Code (SIC) 283,
encompassing primarily biotechnology, pharmaceutical and medical specialty
companies, assuming a $100 investment in common stock on July 31, 1999 and
reinvestment of dividends during the period. The period covered by the graph
includes that portion of the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999 during which
BioMarin was publicly traded.

[CHART]
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Nasdaqgq Nasdaqgq
BioMarin Stock Market (U.S.) Pharmaceutical Index

7/31/1999 100 100 100
119 104 108
134 104 103
118 113 104
103 126 117
90 154 150
1/31/2000 112 149 172
240 177 242
273 173 184
137 146 162
129 128 159
131 151 205
144 142 190
130 159 228
141 139 225
100 127 203
75 98 180

75 93 187
1/31/2001 92 104 179
65 81 170

57 69 139

83 80 156

89 80 169
102 82 172
91 76 159

94 68 159

75 57 139

88 64 153

92 73 167
103 74 160

1/31/2002

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Since January 1, 2001, there has not been nor is there currently proposed
any transaction or series of similar transactions to which BioMarin was or is
to be a party in which the amount involved exceeds $60,000 and in which any
director, executive officer, holder of more than 5% of BioMarin common stock or
any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons had or will
have a direct or indirect material interest other than (i) compensation
agreements and other arrangements, which are described elsewhere in this Joint
Proxy Circular and (ii) the transaction described below.

Transactions with Directors, Executive Officers and 5% Stockholders

During 2001, Glyko paid BioMarin $7,700 per month in management fees for
accounting and related regulatory reporting services.

Indebtedness Of Directors And Executive Officers

Other than as described below, no director or executive officer of BioMarin
or associate of any director or executive officer is, or at any time since the
beginning of the most recently completed fiscal year has been, indebted to

BioMarin.

In April 2001, pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement between
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BioMarin and Fredric D. Price, its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
BioMarin loaned Mr. Price $860,000 to purchase a local residential property
evidenced by a promissory note secured by the property. The note matures on
October 31, 2004 (subject to various conditions in the employment agreement)
and bears interest at the Federal mid-term rate, adjusted on December 31 of
each year. As of December 31, 2001, this equaled 3.97% per annum, compounded
annually.

In February 2002, BioMarin loaned $300,000 to Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D.
This loan is evidenced by a promissory note secured by 30,000 otherwise
unencumbered shares of BioMarin common stock held by

126

Dr. Starr. The note matures on October 31, 2002 and bears interest at the rate
of 2.74% per annum, the relevant Applicable Federal Rate as of February 2002.

Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreements under which BioMarin sold stock
("Founders' Shares") to two founding officers of BioMarin, BioMarin has loaned
$1,300,000 and $400,000 to Mr. Denison and Dr. Starr, respectively, to purchase
common stock of BioMarin. The loans are evidenced by interest bearing
promissory notes due on demand and are fully recourse.

The following table sets forth any indebtedness of directors or executive
officers of BioMarin entered into in connection with the purchase of the
Founders' shares.

Outstanding Security
Largest Indebtedness Number of Indebted

Amount of as of Common Number

Outstanding December 31, Shares Shares
Name of Borrower Lender Indebtedness (1) 2001 (1) Purchased Common S

Grant W. Denison, Jr.(2) «uueueeeeeeneenn BioMarin $1,631,660 $1,631,660 1,300,000 1,300,0
Christopher M. Starr, Ph.D.............. BioMarin $ 430,452 $ 430,452 400,000 342, 9

(1) Includes accrued interest at 6% per annum.
(2) Mr. Denison resigned from the BioMarin board of directors as of May 29,
2002.

Legal Proceedings

BioMarin has no material legal proceedings pending.
Auditors, Registrar and Transfer Agent

The auditors of BioMarin are KPMG LLP, independent certified public
accountants. The transfer agent and registrar for BioMarin's common stock is
Mellon Investor Services LLC, 95 Challenger Road, Ridgefield Park, New Jersey

07660.
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BIOMARIN MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

BioMarin develops enzyme therapies to treat serious, life-threatening
diseases and conditions. BioMarin leverages its expertise in enzyme biology to
develop product candidates for the treatment of genetic diseases, including MPS
I, MPS VI and PKU, as well as other critical care situations such as
cardiovascular surgery and serious burns. BioMarin's product candidates address
markets for which no products are currently available or where current products
have been associated with major deficiencies. BioMarin focuses on conditions
with well-defined patient populations, including genetic diseases, which
require chronic therapy.

BioMarin's lead product candidate, Aldurazyme, (TM) which recently completed
a Phase 3 trial, is being developed for the treatment of Mucopolysaccharidosis
I (MPS I) disease.

BioMarin is developing its second product candidate, Neutralase(TM), for
reversal of anticoagulation by heparin in patients undergoing Coronary Artery
Bypass Graft, or CABG, surgery and angioplasty. BioMarin acquired rights to
Neutralase through its acquisition of the pharmaceutical assets of IBEX
Technologies Inc. in the fourth quarter of 2001. Heparin is a carbohydrate drug
commonly used to prevent coagulation, or blood clotting, during certain types
of major surgery. Neutralase is a carbohydrate-modifying enzyme that cleaves
heparin, allowing coagulation of blood and aiding patient recovery following
CABG surgery and angioplasty. Based on data from previous trials, BioMarin
plans to initiate a Phase 3 trial in CABG surgery in the third quarter of 2002.

In addition to Aldurazyme and Neutralase, BioMarin is developing other
enzyme-based therapeutics for the treatment of a variety of diseases and
conditions. In 2001, BioMarin announced the results of a Phase 1 trial of
Aryplase (TM) for the treatment of MPS VI, another seriously debilitating
genetic disease. Based on data from the Phase 1 trial, BioMarin initiated a
Phase 2 trial of Aryplase in the first quarter of 2002. BioMarin is also
developing Vibrilase/TM/, a topical enzyme product for use in removing burned
skin tissue in preparation for skin grafting or other therapy. BioMarin
initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial of Vibrilase in the United Kingdom in the
fourth quarter of 2001, and expects to analyze the results from this trial in
the fourth quarter of 2002. In addition, BioMarin is pursuing preclinical
development of other enzyme product candidates for genetic and other diseases.

Results of Operations

In December 2001, BioMarin decided to close the carbohydrate analytical
business portion of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Glyko, Inc., which provided
all of Glyko, Inc.'s revenues. The decision to close Glyko, Inc. has resulted
in the operations of Glyko Inc. being classified as discontinued operations in
BioMarin's consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, BioMarin has
segregated the assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations in its
consolidated balance sheets. In addition, BioMarin has segregated the operating
results in its consolidated statements of operations and has segregated cash

flows from discontinued operations in its consolidated statements of cash flows.

The Quarters Ended March 31, 2002 and 2001

For the quarters ended March 31, 2002 and 2001, BioMarin's revenues were
$3.8 million and $2.7 million, respectively, which came exclusively from its
joint venture with Genzyme. The increase in joint venture revenues in the first
quarter of 2002 compared to the same period in 2001 was caused by increased
manufacturing activities in support of BioMarin's Phase 1 and Phase 3 extension
studies of $1.1 million, increased regulatory, clinical and plant and process
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validation efforts in preparation for the rolling BLA submission that commenced
in April 2002 of $0.1 million offset by a reduction in process development
activities of $0.1 million.
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Research and development expenses increased to $13.2 million in the first
quarter of 2002 from $9.7 million in the comparable period of 2001. The major
factors in the growth of research and development expenses include $2.2 million
of increased expenses for the Aldurazyme joint venture with Genzyme, especially
manufacturing, regulatory and clinical requirements, $0.9 million for
manufacturing and clinical requirements to support BioMarin's Phase 2 clinical
trial and Phase 1 extension study of Aryplase and $0.4 million for the
increased manufacturing and research staff to support its product programs,
including the addition of scientific staff in Montreal, Canada in October 2001
supporting Neutralase and Phenylase and in Vancouver, Canada in March 2002
supporting the technology purchased from Synapse. BioMarin anticipates research
and development expenditures to continue to increase in the future in order to
further develop its drug product candidates.

General and administrative expenses increased to $3.9 million in the first
quarter of 2002 from $1.5 million in the comparable period of 2001. This
increase was primarily due to costs incurred in the first quarter of 2002 for
legal and other fees associated with the Synapse acquisition of $1.0 million
and the potential acquisition of all of the outstanding capital stock of Glyko
by BioMarin of $0.8 million (in exchange for BioMarin's common stock),
increased staffing in finance, business development, information systems and
purchasing of $0.2 million and expenses related to the implementation of an
improved financial reporting and budgeting software system of $0.2 million.
Over the next year, BioMarin anticipates that general and administrative
expenditures will increase approximately 30%, exclusive of the extraordinary
costs associated with the acquisitions and the implementation of the financial
reporting system. This increase will primarily be due to increased headcount
and facilities to support the growth of BioMarin.

In-process research and development totaling $11.2 million represents the
majority of the purchase price of BioMarin's acquisition of all of the
outstanding stock of Synapse Technologies Inc. in March 2002 plus related
expenses. On March 21, 2002, BioMarin purchased Synapse including its
development activities and preclinical data on NeuroTrans, a technology that
may allow drugs to cross the blood brain barrier, for $10.2 million in BioMarin
common stock at a deemed price of $11.50 per share (885,240 shares). In
connection with the Synapse purchase, BioMarin issued options and warrants to
purchase 80,221 and 27,419 shares of its common stock, respectively. These
options and warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
and the resulting valuations of $561,000 and $85,000, respectively, were
included as additional purchase price. The purchase agreement includes up to
Cdn. $8 million (which equaled approximately U.S. $5 million as of May 1, 2002)
in contingency payments upon certain regulatory and licensing milestones if
they occur before March 21, 2012.

Interest income decreased by $88,000 to $380,000 in the first quarter of
2002 from $468,000 in the first quarter of 2001 primarily due to the decrease
in interest rates available on short-term investments, offset in part by higher
cash balances resulting from BioMarin's recent financing activities.

Interest expense for the first quarter of 2002 was $91,000 and $2,000 in the
comparable period of 2001. The increase was due to equipment loans executed for
$5.5 million in December 2001.
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BioMarin's equity in the loss of its joint venture with Genzyme was $2.3
million for the first quarter of 2002 compared to $1.1 million for the first
quarter of 2001, as the joint venture continued extension studies of the
original Phase 1 clinical trial and the Phase 3 clinical trial of Aldurazyme
and filed an MAA in Europe.

Net loss from continuing operations was $26.6 million ($0.51 per share,
basic and diluted) and $9.1 million ($0.24 per share, basic and diluted) for
the first quarter of 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Income (loss) from discontinued operations relating to the Glyko, Inc.
analytics business was $122,000 in the first quarter of 2002 and $(617,000) in
the comparable period of 2001. The increase to income in 2002 was due to an
increase in sales to customers in anticipation of a possible sale or
discontinuance of the analytics business of Glyko, Inc.
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Loss from disposal of discontinued operations represents the Glyko, Inc.
closure expense of $141,000 in the first quarter of 2002 consisting primarily
of accrued severance to personnel who did not become BioMarin's employees and
marketing and investment banking fees incurred in connection with the potential
sale of the analytics business of Glyko, Inc.

Net loss was $26.6 million ($0.51 per share, basic and diluted) and $9.7
million ($0.26 per share, basic and diluted) for the first quarters of 2002 and
2001, respectively.

Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, revenues were $11.7 million
and $9.7 million, respectively. Revenues from BioMarin's joint venture with
Genzyme were $11.3 million and $9.7 million, and other revenues were $0.4
million and zero representing grant revenues for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in joint venture revenues in 2001 was
primarily the result of increased manufacturing activities in support of
BioMarin's Phase 3 clinical trial and its Phase 1 and Phase 3 extension
studies, increased regulatory, clinical and plant and process validation
efforts in preparation for a BLA that will be filed as soon as possible.

Research and development expenses increased to $45.3 million in 2001 from
$34.5 million in 2000. The major factors in the growth of research and
development expenses include increased expenses in support of the Aldurazyme
joint venture with Genzyme, especially manufacturing, regulatory and clinical
requirements, manufacturing and clinical requirements to support BioMarin's
Phase 1 clinical trial of Aryplase, of the contract manufacturing requirements
to support BioMarin's Phase 1 clinical trial of Vibrilase and the increased
manufacturing and research staff, including the scientific staff BioMarin
assumed in Montreal, Canada in its purchase of the therapeutic assets of IBEX
Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries in October 2001, to support BioMarin's
product programs. BioMarin anticipates research and development expenditures to
increase in the future relating to the increased headcount and facilities to
support its growth.

General and administrative expenses increased to $6.7 million in 2001 from
$6.5 million in 2000. This increase was primarily due to the costs incurred in
2001 in legal and other fees associated with the potential purchase of all of
the outstanding capital stock of Glyko Biomedical Ltd. by BioMarin (in exchange
for BioMarin common stock) anticipated to close in the second quarter of 2002,
increased staffing in finance, business development, information systems and

160



Edgar Filing: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC - Form PRER14A

purchasing, partially offset savings due to the elimination of the President
position from BioMarin's executive team. BioMarin anticipates general and
administrative expenditures to increase in the future relating to the increased
headcount and facilities to support its growth.

In-process research and development represents all of the purchase price of
BioMarin's acquisition of the IBEX therapeutic assets in October 2001 plus
related expenses totaling $11.7 million. On October 31, 2001, BioMarin
purchased from IBEX Technologies Inc. and its subsidiaries the development
activities associated with the IBEX therapeutic enzyme drug products (including
Neutralase and Phenylase). The purchase agreement called for a total purchase
price of $10.4 million, consisting of $2 million in cash and $8.4 million of
common stock. In accordance with the purchase agreement, the number of common
shares was based on the average share price from September 5, 2001 to October
8, 2001, which resulted in the issuance of 814,467 shares. In connection with
the transaction, BioMarin issued options to purchase 43,861 shares of its
common stock. These options were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model and the resulting valuation of $291,000 was included as additional
purchase price. The purchase agreement includes up to approximately $9.5
million in contingency payments upon regulatory approval of Neutralase and
Phenylase, provided that approval occurs prior to October 31, 2006.

Facility closure in 2000, represents a charge of $4.4 million for the
closure of its Carson Street clinical manufacturing facility. The charge
primarily consisted of impairment reserves for leasehold improvements and
equipment located in the Carson Street facility.
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Interest income decreased by $1.1 million to $1.9 million in 2001 from $3.0
million in 2000 primarily due to the decrease in cash available for investment
through most of the 2001 (as BioMarin's significant follow-on offering occurred
in December 2001) and the decrease in interest rates available on short-term
investments.

Interest expense for 2001 and 2000 were immaterial. BioMarin expects
interest expense to increase in future years due to equipment loans, executed
for a total of $5.5 million in December 2001.

BioMarin's equity in the loss of its joint venture with Genzyme was $7.3
million for 2001 compared to $2.9 million for 2000, as the Jjoint venture
conducted a multi-site, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial of
45 patients which commenced in December 2000 and continued extension studies of
the original Phase 1 clinical trial and the Phase 3 clinical trial of
Aldurazyme.

Net loss from continuing operations was $57.4 million ($1.40 per share,
basic and diluted) and $35.6 million ($0.99 per share, basic and diluted) for
2001 and 2000, respectively.

Loss from discontinued operations relating to the Glyko, Inc. analytics
business increased by $0.6 million to $2.3 million in 2001 compared to $1.7
million in 2000 due to the increased sales and production staff in 2001 in an
attempt to grow the core analytics business.

Loss from disposal of discontinued operations represents the Glyko, Inc.
closure expense of $7.9 million in 2001 consisting primarily of an impairment
reserve against the unamortized balance of goodwill and other intangible assets
related to the initial acquisition of Glyko, Inc. The majority of the Glyko,
Inc. employees will be incorporated into the BioMarin business and such
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employees will continue to provide necessary analytic and diagnostic support to
BioMarin's therapeutic products.

Net loss was $67.6 million ($1.65 per share, basic and diluted) and $37.4
million ($1.04 per share, basic and diluted) for 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999

For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, revenues were $9.7 million
and $5.3 million, respectively representing revenues from BioMarin's joint
venture with Genzyme. The increase in joint venture revenues in 2000 was
primarily the result of increased manufacturing activities as BioMarin began
enzyme production in its new Galli Drive manufacturing facility in Novato,
California.

Research and development expenses increased to $34.5 million in 2000 from
$26.3 million in 1999. Increased expenses in support of the Aldurazyme joint
venture with Genzyme, especially manufacturing requirements, and of the
Aryplase program were the major factors in the growth of research and
development expenses.

General and administrative expenses increased to $6.5 million in 2000 from
$4.8 million in 1999. This increase was partially due to the increase in
staffing and facilities in 2000.

In the first quarter of 2000, BioMarin recorded a charge of $4.4 million for
the closure of its Carson Street clinical manufacturing facility. The facility
was no longer required for the production of Aldurazyme, the initial purpose of
the plant, after a decision by the BioMarin/Genzyme LLC Jjoint venture to use
BioMarin's Galli Drive facility for the manufacture of bulk Aldurazyme both for
the Phase 3 trial and for the commercial launch of Aldurazyme. This decision
was based in part on FDA guidance to use an improved production process, which
was installed in the Galli facility, for the clinical trial, for the BLA
submission and for the commercial production. The majority of BioMarin's
technical staff at the Carson Street facility transferred to the Galli Drive
facility in Novato, California in May 2000. The charge primarily consisted of
impairment reserves for leasehold improvements and equipment located in the
Carson Street facility.
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Interest income increased to $3.0 million in 2000 from $1.8 million in 1999
primarily due to increased cash reserves resulting from BioMarin's initial
public offering (concurrent with an investment by Genzyme) in July 1999 and
funds received from exercise of stock options and warrants.

Interest expense decreased by $0.7 million in 2000 compared to 1999 due to
the interest accrued in 1999 from April through July on BioMarin convertible
notes payable which, along with t